Barcelona AIDS 2002 Satellite Workshop And support for the Development of the International Institute on Gender Management and HIV/AIDS

Presented to:

Centres of Excellence for Women's Health Contribution Program, Women's Health Bureau, Health Canada;

Canadian Strategy on HIV/AIDS, Health Canada;

and

Canadian International Development Agency

By:

Atlantic Centre of Excellence for Women's Health

Table of Contents

Synthesis	3
Work Plan and Critical Time Line	4
Preliminary Exploration of Training Models for the International Institute on Gender Management and HIV/AIDS	12
Bibliographic Note	23
The AIDS Pandemic and Gender: The Socio-Cultural Effects on Development with an Emphasis on Commonwealth Countries A Selected Bibliography	24
The AIDS Pandemic and Gender: The Socio-Cultural Effects on Development with an Emphasis on Commonwealth Countries A Selected Annotated Bibliography	83

Synthesis

In early 2000, the Commonwealth Secretariat (Com Sec) invited Maritime Centre of Excellence for Women's Health (MCEWH)* to participate in a co-publication on Gender, Health and HIV/AIDS as part of its Gender M¹anagement Series (GMS). The Women's Health Bureau, Health Canada, generously provided initial funding for this initiative. The co-publication, *Gender Mainstreaming in HIV/AIDS: A Reference Manual for Government and Other Stakeholders*, will be available in April 2002.

MCEWH and its Com Sec partners, particularly policy makers in African and Caribbean Commonwealth countries, identified the need to develop a knowledge transfer mechanism for the GMS series. This would include, among other mechanisms, a set of practical training materials on gender mainstreaming and management for regional, national and international HIV/AIDS policy and program development.

MCEWH, with Com Sec as a collaborating partner, received funding from International Development Research Centre's (IDRC) Global Health Equity Program and three institutes within Canadian Institutes for Health Research (CIHR) to host a Feasibility/Design Workshop for a proposed International Institute on Gender and HIV/AIDS. The workshop was held January 16-18, 2002 in Halifax, Nova Scotia, Canada.

Among the 29 participants, MCEWH and Com Sec invited representation from 10 countries (including 5 African and 1 Caribbean), making the event truly international. The encouraging response received from participants who attended the Feasibility/Design Workshop in January 2002 was clear indication of feasibility and support for further development of the International Institute on Gender Management and HIV/AIDS. Next steps include the hosting of a satellite session entitled "Gender and HIV/AIDS: Bringing Women and Men Together" at the World AIDS Conference in Barcelona on July 7, 2002; a curriculum development workshop to be held in Halifax September 2002; and a pilot Institute, scheduled to take place in the summer of 2003.

MCEWH has received contributions from the Centres of Excellence for Women's Health Contribution Program, Health Canada; the Canadian Strategy on HIV/AIDS, Health Canada; and Canadian International Development Agency (CIDA) to support the hosting of the satellite session in Barcelona and other activities related to the development of the International Institute on Gender and HIV/AIDS, including the following 3 documents:

- 1) A work plan and critical time line for the development and implementation of the International Institute on Gender Management and HIV/AIDS.
- 2) A report that reviews selected international training initiatives that will assist in the development of a model upon which the Institute will be based.
- 3) An annotated bibliography of international development and academic literature related to gender and HIV/AIDS.

* As of April 1, 2002 the MCEWH changed its name to the Atlantic Centre of Excellence for Women's Health (ACEWH)

3

1. Work Plan and Critical Time Line

The proposed work plan and critical time line provides scheduling and activity details necessary for completing the project management process for the International Institute for Gender and HIV/AIDS. The planning and implementation of the International Institute are based on the following activity schedule:

January 16-18, 2002 - International Feasibility/Design Workshop

International Feasibility/Design Workshop convened Halifax, Canada, for the purpose of assessing the feasibility and viability of the proposed institute. Participants were asked to identify potential resources and areas of commitment from various partner agencies and organizations.

February 4, 2002 - Health Canada Contribution Agreement

MCEWH requests financial support from the Centres of Excellence for Women's Health Contribution Program, Women's Health Bureau, Health Canada; Canadian Strategy on HIV/AIDS, Health Canada; and the Canadian International Development Agency, to defray Satellite Workshop registration fees for a Satellite workshop at AIDS 2002 Conference, Barcelona, July 2002. The MCEWH requests support to defray conference registration, airfare, accommodation, of 3 MCEWH staff. Financial support is requested to co-fund, with the MCEWH, an annotated bibliography of the international development and international academic literature on gender and HIV/AIDS. This work also includes a survey of international training initiatives and institutes, including gender and HIV/AIDS with a view to identifying models and curricula components which would serve as a resource for the proposed International Curriculum Design Workshop, proposed for the autumn 2002.

February 15, 2002 - Identification of Project Partners

At the invitation of Dr. John Savage, former premier of Nova Scotia, MCEWH staff are invited to meet with Burris Devanney, President of the NS Gambia Association for the purpose of exploring the NSGA HIV/AIDS peer education program as a case study. An agreement in principle is reached to include the NSGA peer education model in the curriculum of the proposed institute.

Discussions were also convened with potential project partners at the British Columbia Centre of Excellence for Women's Health, Saint Mary's University, and the Coady International Institute, St. Francis Xavier University.

March 7, 2002 – Follow-up Networking and Database Development

Correspondence drafted and sent to all workshop participants, participant employers, and selected donor agencies to provide feedback on the outcome of the International Design/Feasibility workshop. The 29 workshop participants, from 10 nations, concluded that HIV/AIDS policies and programs are frequently designed at too general a level to effectively

serve differing needs within a population, i.e. the needs of males and females. Training in gender analysis, policy research, and gender mainstreaming techniques will permit the design and implementation of more effective policies and programs at regional, national and international levels.

In preparation for the Barcelona Satellite Workshop, a core project team consisting of Jacqueline Gahagan, PhD; Reeta Bhatia, PhD; Aideen Reynolds, BSc; and Carol Amaratunga, PhD, will be convened. In addition, the following January workshop participants have been invited to participate as panellists in the Barcelona Satellite: Chris Armstrong, CIDA; Felicitas Chiganze, Southern African AIDS Training Program, Zimbabwe; Madhu Bala Nath, UNIFEM, New Delhi; Frank Abamu, CGIAR of the World Bank, Cote d'Ivoire; and Art Zoccole, Canadian Aboriginal AIDS Network. Debbie Castle, People Development Inc., Ethiopia, and facilitator for the January workshop, has also been invited to participate in the Satellite workshop.

March 7-15, 2002 - Design and Implementation of Project Tools/Database

Design and implementation of a preliminary listserv and international network of colleagues on Gender and HIV/AIDS. Selected participants were invited to subscribe, email: listserv@is.dal.ca and in the message text: "SUB gender-hiv first name last name, and to leave the subject line blank and not to include signatures. In addition to all workshop participants and employers, the listserv invitation was sent to: Judica Amri-Makhetha, ILO; Cindy Berman, ILO; Hans Binswanger, World Bank; Naomi Brunemeyer, BC Persons with AIDS Society; John Challis, CIHR-IHDCYH; Stein Bie, ISNAR-CGIAR of the World Bank; Lynn Brown, World Bank; Krista Connell, Nova Scotia Health Research Foundation; Stuart Gillespie, CGIAR, Paula Donovan, UNIFEM; Margaret Hilson, Canadian Public Health Association; Ralf Jurgens, Canadian HIV/AIDS Legal Network; Stephen Lewis, UNAIDS; Nomcebo Manzini, UNIFEM; Eleanor Maticka-Tyndale, University of Windsor; Margaret Muganwe, Makrere University; Micheal O'Shaughnessy, BC Centre of Excellence in HIV/AIDS; Geeta Rau Gupta, International Centre for Research on Women; Allan Ronald, University of Manitoba; Walter Schlech, QE II Health Sciences Centre; Bhagirath Singh, CIHR; Athalia Molokomme, Southern Africa Development Community; Bob O'Neill, Canadian HIV Trials Network; Amrita Paul, Health Canada; Diana Rivington, CIDA; John Ruedy, QE II Health Sciences Centre, Yolanda Simon, Global Network of People Living with HIV/AIDS, Hilda Tadria, UN-ECA; Stephanie Urdang, UNIFEM; Vicki Wilde, Gender and Diversity Program, CGIAR of World Bank; Christina Zarowsky, IDRC, Marilyn Waring, Massey University; Donald Zarown, Canadian HIV Trials Network. (Complete addresses available upon request)

March 15, 2002 - Partnership Networking

Discussions with Mary Coyle, Director of the Coady International Institute, St. Francis Xavier University. The Coady International Institute recently completed a mission to Rwanda and Botswana at the invitation of Stephen Lewis, Director, UNAIDS. The Coady International Institute and MCEWH agree to collaborate on areas of mutual interest and to further explore a role for the Coady International Institute in both the Curriculum Design Workshop and International Institute pilot. A team planning meeting is scheduled for April 22, 2002.

March 30, 2002 - Workshop Report Distribution

Final workshop report distributed to donor agencies. A second, more detailed report has been prepared by consultant Debbie Castle, People Development Inc., and will be distributed to participants before April 10, 2002.

April 5, 2002 - Project Partnership Linkages

Agriteam Canada Inc., a private sector firm, Calgary, Alberta, invites MCEWH to participate as a team member in a bid for a 5 year CIDA HIV/AIDS surveillance program in Pakistan. The MCEWH component entails gender based analysis, ethics review, training and curriculum development. If successful in the CIDA program bid, a provision will be made to send 3 to 5 trainees from Pakistan per year to the International Institute on Gender and HIV/AIDS. In addition, MCEWH staff will undertake training needs assessment and feasibility missions to Pakistan. This is a 5 year \$5m project.

April 9-10, 2002 - Ongoing Project Partnership Linkages

A meeting of Health Canada's Centres of Excellence for Women's Health (CEWHP) is convened, Vancouver, BC. The International Institute on Gender and HIV/AIDS is proposed by the Executive Director of the Atlantic Centre of Excellence for Women's Health (now ACEWH formerly the MCEWH) as part of the strategic planning process of the CEWHP and is listed as a cross-centre initiative. The BC Centre of Excellence for Women's Health has indicated a strong interest in participating as a collaborative partner. As HIV/AIDS is recognized as a Health Canada priority, the project is advanced as part of the ACEWH's strategic plan and operational plan for 2002-03.

April 14-17, 2002 - Canadian Strategy on HIV/AIDS

Jacqueline Gahagan will attend the direction setting meetings in Montreal on the Canadian Strategy on HIV/AIDS on behalf of the Women's Health Bureau, Health Canada. This will be an opportunity to provide input into issues related to gender and HIV/AIDS in Canada and overseas.

April 15-19, 2002 - Project "Core Team" Planning

ACEWH will convene an electronic/teleconference call among the core team members: Health Canada's International Affairs Directorate and the Gender and Youth Affairs Division of the Commonwealth Secretariat, to plan and establish the agenda for the Barcelona Satellite. It is previously agreed that Reeta Bhatia, Health Canada will facilitate the Barcelona Satellite workshop.

April 30, 2002 - Preplanning Activities/Logistics Barcelona Satellite

Barcelona Satellite Workshop draft agenda completed, invitation list prepared, brochure designed.

May 15, 2002 - Barcelona Satellite Agenda and Program

Barcelona Satellite Workshop final agenda and program approved by core project planning team.

May 30, 2002 - Barcelona Satellite Announcements

Barcelona Satellite Workshop brochure printed (15,000 copies), email invitations distributed, invitation posted on ACEWH website, and announcements posted on Gender and HIV listserv.

June 9-11, 2002 - Ongoing Partnership Linkages

Carol Amaratunga will attend the Centre of Excellence for Women's Health Program (CEWHP) Director's meeting, Toronto. A request will be made to CEWHP to formalize and include the International Institute for Gender and HIV/AIDS as a cross centre initiative.

An unsolicited funding proposal for the International Institute on Gender and HIV/AIDS will be presented to the Centres and Canadian Women's Health Network (CWHN) as a cross centre initiative. A funding request will be submitted jointly and respectively to the Women's Health Bureau and the International Affairs Directorate, Health Canada; to CIDA, IDRC and to three of the original CIHR Institutes which supported the January workshop e.g. Gender and Health, Infection and Immunity; Human Development, Children and Youth Health for support.

Ongoing Activities April 15 to July 28, 2002 - Proposal Development

Consultant Karen Hayward will be asked to provide assistance with unsolicited and RFP funding proposals for both the October 2002 Curriculum Design Workshop and the August 2003 Pilot International Institute on Gender and HIV/AIDS to the World Bank, IDRC, CIDA, foundations and the Canadian Institutes of Health Research.

These funding proposals will be prepared and circulated to the core list of international agencies on the project listserv and database along with other pertinent donor agencies. In addition, special letters of funding support will be submitted to the co funding agencies of the

International Design/Feasibility Workshop in January, 2002. A special letter and funding request will be prepared for UNAIDS for the attention of Stephen Lewis.

July 1-3, 2002 - Project Planning Meetings (London, UK)

ACEWH project team convenes briefing meetings and status updates with the Gender and Youth Affairs Division, Commonwealth Secretariat - with Nancy Spence, Director, and Rawwida Baksh-Soodeen, Senior Policy Officer.

July 6, 2002 - Barcelona Satellite

Barcelona AIDS 2002 Satellite Workshop convened, 16:00 to 18:00 hours, immediately prior to the opening ceremonies of the AIDS 2002 World Conference. Invitations extended to participants to attend the International Curriculum Design Workshop, tentatively scheduled for October 16-18, 2002.

July 6 - July 14/15, 2002 - AIDS 2002, Barcelona

Core team members attend AIDS 2002 World Conference. Promotion, advertising and recruitment for October International Curriculum Design Workshop

July 16-August 16, 2002 - Barcelona Satellite Workshop Report

Final report on Barcelona Satellite Workshop, AIDS 2002, prepared and distributed to listserv and project partners. Travel arrangements confirmed for October 2002 International Curriculum Design Workshop - pending funding approvals.

September 2002 - Planning Schedule International Curriculum Design Workshop

Final logistics and planning completed for October 16-18, 2002 International Curriculum Design Workshop

October 16-18, 2002 - International Curriculum Design Workshop

Convoking of International Curriculum Design Workshop, Dalhousie University and the IWK Health Centre

Final International Institute on Gender and HIV/AIDS promotion and social marketing materials pretested with workshop participants. Materials to be distributed electronically and by mail following the workshop.

Identification of core planning team for the International Institute on Gender and HIV/AIDS. Participants to include potential partners from the BC Centre of Excellence for Women's Health, Saint Mary's University, St. Francis Xavier University (Coady International Institute), QE II Health Sciences Centre, IWK Health Centre, Dalhousie University and other partners.

November 15, 2002 - Workshop Final Report

Final report drafted and circulated along with funding proposals and samples of draft curricula, both unsolicited and RFP's to the database of Gender and HIV/AIDS donors.

Monthly project planning team meetings.

December 31, 2002 - Administrative Tasks International Institute

Final date for registration in the International Institute for Gender and HIV/AIDS - pilot session scheduled for August 2003, Halifax, Canada. Curriculum revisions completed. Monthly project planning team meetings.

January/February 2003

ACEWH will assist with travel arrangements, logistics, visa arrangements and clearances for up to 20 international participants to attend the pilot International Institute on Gender and HIV/AIDS. Monthly project planning team meetings.

April 10-13th, 2003 - Canadian Association for HIV Research Annual Conference

Canadian HIV Research Conference is convened in Halifax, with the support of ACEWH. Jacqueline Gahagan co chairs the event. Promotion of International Institute on Gender and HIV/AIDS, and regularly scheduled project planning team meetings.

May/June, 2003 - Final logistics for International Institute

Travel arrangements, logistics finalized for pilot International Institute on Gender and HIV/AIDS

Final arrangements on curriculum, case studies, invitations to guest lecturers and faculty.

August 11 - 29, 2003 - Pilot International Institute

Pilot International Institute on Gender and HIV/AIDS - to be convened Halifax, Canada

September 30, 2003 - Final Report, Pilot International Institute

Final report prepared and distributed to key partners, funding agencies, participants and their respective agencies.

Work Plan and Critical Time Line		
January 16 -18, 2002	International Feasibility/Design Workshop Convened Halifax - Purpose assessing the feasibility and viability of the proposed workshop	
February 4, 2002	Health Canada Contribution Agreement (\$ International Affairs Directorate, Health Canada)	
February 15, 2002	Identification of Project Partners Invitation of Dr. John Savage, ACEWH Staff invited to meet with Burris Devanney, President NS Gambia Association	
March 7, 2002	Follow-up Networking and Database Development Correspondence drafted and sent to all workshop Participants	
March 7-15, 2002	Design and Implementation of Project Tools/Database Design listserv and international network of colleagues on Gender and HIV/AIDS	
March 15, 2002	Partnership Networking Discussions with Mary Coyle, Director Coady International Institute	
March 30, 2002	Workshop Report Distribution Final workshop report to donor agencies	
April 5, 2002	Project Partnership Linkages Agriteam Canada Inc. Invites ACEWH to participate as a team member in a bid for a 5 year CIDA Program in Pakistan	
April 9-10, 2002	Ongoing Project Partnership Linkages Meeting of Health Canada's CEWHP is convened, Vancouver, BC	
April 14-17, 2002	Canadian Strategy on HIV/AIDS Jacqueline will attend Direction Setting Meeting on behalf of the Women's Health Bureau, Health Canada	
April 15-19, 2002	Project "Core Team" Planning ACEWH will convene an electronic/teleconference call among the core team members	
April 30, 2002	Preplanning Activities/Logistics Barcelona Satellite Barcelona Satellite workshop final agenda and program approved by core project planning team	
May 15, 2002	Barcelona Satellite Agenda and Program approved by core project planning team	

May 30, 2002	Paradana Catallita warkahan annaunaamanta	
Way 50, 2002	Barcelona Satellite workshop announcements 300 copies via e-mail and posted on ACEWH Web & listserve	
June 9 - 11, 2002	Ongoing Partnership Linkages Carol Attend CEWH Director's meeting in Toronto	
April 15 to July 28, 2002	Proposal Development Consultant Karen Hayward will be asked to provide assistance	
July 1-4, 2002	Project Planning Meeting (London, UK) ACEWH Project team convenes meeting and status updates with Gender and Youth Affairs division	
July 6, 2002	Barcelona Satellite Workshop Convened; 16:00 to 18:00	
July 6 - 14/15, 2002	AIDS 2002, Barcelona Core team members attend AIDS 2002 World Conference	
July 6 - August 16, 2002	Barcelona Satellite Workshop Report Final report on satellite, prepared & distributed to listserve and Project partners	
July 6 - August 16, 2002	Travel arrangements confirmed for October 2002 International Curriculum Design Workshop	
September 1, 2002	Planning Schedule International Curriculum Design Workshop	
October 16 - 18, 2002	International Curriculum Design Workshop Convoking of workshop, Dalhousie and IWK Materials protested on workshop participants. Materials distributed electronically and by mail following workshop.	
November 15, 2002	Workshop final report Drafted and circulated along with funding proposals	
December 31, 2002	Administrative Tasks International Institute Final date for registration	
January/February 2003	Travel arrangements, logistics, visa arrangements for up to 20 international participants	
April 10-13, 2003	Canadian HIV Research Conference Convened in Halifax & co-hosted by ACEWH	
May/June 2003	Final logistics for International Institute Travel arrangements, final arrangements on curriculum, case studies Invitations to guest lecturers and faculty	
August 11 - 29, 2003	Pilot International Institute - Halifax	
September 30, 2003	Final Report, Pilot International Institute Prepared and distributed to key partners, funding agencies, participants and their respective agencies	

2. Preliminary Exploration of Training Models for the International Institute on Gender Management and HIV/AIDS

Introduction

The proposed International Institute for Gender Management and HIV/AIDS will develop the capacity of middle managers and professionals in various sectors of society to carry out gender analysis and facilitate gender mainstreaming in addressing HIV/AIDS related needs. That is, participants will learn how to contribute to making their departments and agencies gender sensitive by ensuring that policies, programs and services promote equal access to HIV/AIDS prevention, care treatment and support for men and women and that services are responsive to age, ethnic diversity, socio-economic class, etc. The Institute will be an annual event that people will attend from commonwealth countries around the world, with an initial focus on Africa.

The MCEWH has undertaken to identify 20 regional and or international institute, training programs and academic courses that pertain to HIV/AIDS. While an analysis of each of these programs is beyond the scope of this paper, we have selected two Canadian training program models which have been internationally recognized in terms of their administrative cohesion and excellence in delivery*. Our next step will be to compile a summary of training institutes which are specifically focussed on HIV/AIDS content. The focus of this paper however is to address the administrative framework of 2 model programs.

Development of the Institute will occur within a health promotion framework and will follow a health promotion planning model that incorporates four key tasks; assessment, plan, implementation and evaluation. "Models are the means by which structure and organization are given to the programming process" (McKenzie & Smeltzer, 2001, p.12). Through review of other international institutes and lessons learned, this paper will attempt to arrive at an understanding of the crucial components and considerations to be taken in the development of a model for the International Institute on Gender Management and HIV/AIDS.

International Institute on Gender Management and HIV/AIDS

	Activities		
Assessment	Feasibility/Design Workshop January 2002		
	Satellite Session at AIDS 2002 July 2002		
	Health Canada Deliverables April 2002:		
	* Annotated Bibliography		
	* Institute Models		
	* Critical Time Path		
Planning	Formalized Partnerships with International Organizations		
	Secure funding for Curriculum Design Workshop		
	Curriculum Design Workshop September 2002		
	International Institute on Gender Management and HIV/AIDS Delivery Model		
	Funding for Pilot Institute		
Implementation	Pilot Institute Summer 2003		
Evaluation	Process		
	Outcome		
	Impact		

Several activities are being undertaken during the development phase. A major activity within the assessment phase included the Feasibility/Design Workshop, hosted in January 2002. The workshop served as a means to collect information from an international audience about perceived regional, national and international needs and priorities regarding gender and HIV/AIDS.

One of the major recommendations that resulted from the January 2002 workshop was to remain flexible and "think outside the box" in the conceptualization and development of the Institute. There are very few assumptions that can be made at this point due to its pre-conceptual phase of development. From a preliminary point of view, we have explored feasibility and confirmed a level of international interest and support for this initiative. While this paper will review examples of international institutes and highlight lessons learned, it will attempt to avoid the complexities of particular models. Rather, through discussion of other international institutes, this paper will identify a series of considerations that ought to be incorporated in the development of a model for planning, implementing and evaluating the International Institute on Gender Management and HIV/AIDS.

The paper will begin with an introduction to two local (Halifax based) international institutes, the Summer Institute on Gender and Development (SIGAD) and the International Ocean Institute (IOI) of Saint Mary's University and Dalhousie University respectively. Comments and lessons learned from primarily SIGAD and IOI to a lesser extent will be incorporated into this discussion. A brief outline of the Gender Institute of Regional AIDS Training Network (RATN) in Tanzania will be provided as an example of an initiative similar in direction and mission to the proposed International Institute on Gender Management and HIV/AIDS. The paper will conclude with a discussion of areas requiring further exploration.

Summer Institute on Gender and Development (SIGAD)

A Summer Institute on Gender and Development ran for four consecutive years (1988-1991) at Saint Mary's University in Halifax, Nova Scotia. The program was largely funded by International Development Research Centre (IDRC)'s Gender and Development Unit. The purpose of this one-month course was "to develop theoretical and methodological skills relevant to research on gender related issues in a Third World context" (Whittington, 1992, p.1). The course was part of Saint Mary's and Dalhousie University undergraduate and graduate programs in International Development Studies.

Upon conclusion of SIGAD's fourth year, the Commonwealth of Learning sponsored preparation of a document outlining the experiences and lessons learned from its first four years of implementation. Several valuable lessons learned by SIGAD organizers will be presented and discussed throughout this document

International Ocean Institute (IOI)

IOI of Dalhousie University has offered a 10-week institute for 21 years. Although the subject matter is quite removed from gender and HIV/AIDS, there is a significant amount to be learned from an international institute in its 22^{nd} year of implementation. The Executive Director of MCEWH was previously involved (through her work as Director of the International Centre for Ocean Development – ICOD) in funding IOI and has facilitated sharing of information and lessons learned. MCEWH's Research Officer had the opportunity to meet with one of the coordinators of the institute in order to gather administrative facts and details that have contributed to the success of IOI's summer Institute. Such details will be highlighted in this paper and will assist in the development of a model for the International Institute on Gender Management and HIV/AIDS.

Planning Phase

The importance of seeking advice and incorporating lessons learned is paramount in the planning phase of development. During development of SIGAD, for example, the founders consulted with other Institutes, primarily the Institute for Development Studies (IDS) at Sussex University, UK and Institute of Social Studies (ISS) in the Netherlands on a number of organizational and structural considerations. They also valued continuous communication with stakeholders in order to ensure that the development remains true to its intent and direction and is responsive to international needs.

Partners

International partnerships such as those developed during the Feasibility/Design Workshop are the key to developing an institute that is responsive to the needs of our target group, Commonwealth countries with a focus on Africa. Formalized partnerships with regional and international organizations will inform development and finalization of details described in this paper. The Feasibility/Design Workshop January 2002, the Barcelona Satellite July 2002, and the Curriculum Design Workshop September 2002, will present opportunities to establish partnerships with international organizations.

Equally important will be the establishment of partnerships with international donor organizations, as the size and scope of the institute will be largely influenced by the missions of donor agencies. Although the overall mission for the International Institute on Gender

Management and HIV/AIDS will be the result of discussions with international partners, donor agencies will have potential to influence components and overall direction of the Institute.

Philosophy/Mandate

One of the first steps in development will be the establishment of a philosophy and mandate that will govern the development of structure as well as curriculum for the Institute. During the workshop in January 2002, participants arrived at the following shared vision for the International Institute on Gender Management and HIV/AIDS.

The International Institute on Gender Management and HIV/AIDS will be one of the world's leading International Institutes of Excellence on Gender and HIV/AIDS issues for transformational global change through the creation of a gender equal society for prevention of HIV/AIDS as well as care, treatment and support of people with HIV/AIDS. The Institute will be built upon principles of human rights, global equity, social justice, and transformational learning. The following characteristics are examples of those listed by participants that will assist in evaluating overall success of the Institute: flexibility, fluidity, sustainability, cultural diversity, mutual respect, dynamicity, equality, and synergy (MCEWH, 2002).

As MCEWH continues to develop partnerships with international organizations and donor agencies, the direction and specific aims and goals of the institute will be further explored and established.

Target Audience

Although we have declared our target population to be "middle managers and policy makers" in government and non-government sectors from Commonwealth Countries with a focus on Africa, this will need to be expanded and further defined. Arrival at a specified target audience is imperative, as it will determine and guide the curriculum and development of all other aspects of the institute.

As mentioned above, when determining a target audience, SIGAD consulted with their funding unit in IDRC as well as Institute for Development Studies at Sussex University. SIGAD, being an academic course was aimed primarily at Masters level students or people with background qualifications that would allow them to perform at this level. Wishing to encourage variety and discussion, SIGAD marketed the course to people representing different regions, work experiences and research interests. SIGAD organizers preferred a blend of junior and senior researchers from universities, government, community organizations and NGO's. While the course was geared to serve researchers from developing countries, it was decided that a maximum of 10 Canadian participants could be enrolled in SIGAD per year.

In general, SIGAD gave priority to applicants from larger groups with whom they could share their experiences and materials upon their return from the institute. In attempt to broaden the regional coverage and audience base of SIGAD, the number of participants admitted to SIGAD was limited to one per organization or institution per year.

Costing and sustainability

The institute model will have to incorporate methods for costing, i.e. how much the institute will cost and sustainability, i.e. securing resources that will sustain the Institute on a yearly basis. Without determination of such things as length, scope, location and financial partners, it is difficult to estimate costs at this point in time. As a guideline, the IOI model, for example, charged US \$10,000 for a 10-week course at Dalhousie University. This fee included air fare, meals, accommodation, and tuition.

Length

Factors such as available funds and target audience, as well as establishment of a mandate, goals and objectives will influence determination of length of the International Institute on Gender Management and HIV/AIDS. Based on the fact that women would find it difficult to be away from their children, SIGAD was a one-month, rather than the usual 6-week period although the course included the standard number of class hours to satisfy credit for a 6-week course.

Location

MCEWH of Dalhousie and IWK has been offered as the administrative home and host site of the International Institute on Gender Management and HIV/AIDS.

The SIGAD program was held on Saint Mary's University Campus. The Oaks building, where classes were held, accommodation, library, cafeteria, computers and SIGAD administration and faculty offices were within a 5-minute walk, yielding an atmosphere that became quickly familiar and comfortable.

Based on recommendations from participants at the Feasibility/Design study in January 2002, the possibility of incorporating a mobile component of the Institute that could either travel or establish a more permanent base in the counties of partnering organizations in Africa, for example, has been discussed.

As often required by international donor agencies, IDRC had hoped that SIGAD would travel. In their evaluations, participants who attended SIGAD were asked for their opinions regarding whether or not SIGAD should travel. Several participants were in favour of holding regional SIGAD programs in developing countries, due to the fact that the institute would be cheaper and more accessible to more people. It was also suggested that former SIGAD participants might be involved in the organization and hosting of a SIGAD program in their home country.

Curriculum

Curriculum development will include determination of Institute content and context, as well as modes of delivery. Content will include the selection of reading materials (preparatory, during and post) as well as the coordination of local, regional and international presentations and guest speakers. Context will be determination of the type of activities and exercises (group work, individual work) that will constitute the curriculum. Modes of delivery refers to information transmission, i.e. the use of virtual or distance education, etc.

The process of coordinating curriculum content will be initiated during the Curriculum Design workshop in September 2002. There are several gender and HIV/AIDS resources, including

training toolkits that have been prepared by regional and international organizations that will serve useful in this process. For example UNIFEM (2000) released a book entitled, "Gender, HIV and Human Rights: A Training Manual", Southern African AIDS Training Program SAT (2001) published a training guide entitled "Mainstreaming Gender in the Response to AIDS in Southern Africa". As well, it will be helpful to review educational modules that have been developed by regional organizations in the developing world such as those developed for Tanzania Gender Networking Programme (TGNP)'s Gender Training Institute (Hezekiel & Rusimbi, 2001).

SIGAD developed their curriculum over several months. The organizing team gathered readings that were read and discussed by everyone on the team in order to establish a common ground of knowledge and base a from which to build a curriculum. Following this, each member contributed additional pieces of literature according to their own specific areas of expertise. Their different areas of expertise as well as differing philosophical and theoretical orientations, made reaching decisions regarding curriculum challenging at times.

In their first year, SIGAD invited as many guest speakers as funds would permit. However, the organizers felt that the continuous rotation of guests threatened the integrity of the curriculum, overwhelmed participants and did not allow participants the opportunity to network and establish relationships with the speakers. In subsequent years, SIGAD limited their number of speakers. Also in the first year, organizers packed the curriculum too full with daily reading assignments, afternoon workshops and evening lectures. In subsequent years, organizers allotted more time for small and large group discussion. SIGAD designed a curriculum that was interdisciplinary, recognizing the relationship and transference of information across paradigms. The main requirement and product of the SIGAD course was the preparation and presentation of a research proposal.

SIGAD organizers reported one of the greatest challenges to be the balancing of participant expectations within an organized structure. Specifically, the determination of a condensed 4-week syllabus, flexible enough to respond to participant input and the need to evaluate participants according to university standards and requirements. The range of experience among selected participants was an additional challenge, as some participants were more knowledgble in areas than others and the scale of research projects varied greatly.

Administration/Management and Monitoring

One of the requirements of their funding agency, IDRC, was that the SIGAD organizers identify one person who would be responsible for administering the program. The Director was responsible for ensuring that university requirements were met and budget procedures were followed.

SIGAD also identified a coordinator who was responsible for general organization of the Institute. During their first year, SIGAD's coordinator was also involved in teaching, which resulted in too heavy a workload. Subsequent years, the coordinator did not bear teaching responsibilities and reported directly to the director. The coordinator's responsibilities included producing and disseminating promotional materials, developing and maintaining an international mailing list, communicating with applicants and funding agencies, assisting with the selection

process and coordinating development of the program syllabus. The coordinator planned daily and special events, supervised staff, managed financial aspects, coordinated orientation to the program and the IDRC scholarships.

SIGAD participants were sent an information package one month prior to commencement of the course. Included in the package were the schedule, reading lists, short biographies of participants, contact information of research persons and teaching team, information about Halifax and Saint Mary's University, and preparatory reading materials. An accompanying letter informed participants that they would be met at the airport, weather conditions and suggested clothing, details of accommodation and medical insurance. Also, an information sheet, including things such as dietary requirements, to be returned to administration was included in the package.

During the first year, SIGAD arranged travel through a travel agency. However subsequently booking through Air Canada's pre-paid office in Halifax provided access to passenger lists, allowing organizers the ability to ensure that participants had made it onto their flights. Other advantages included the ability to confirm that pre-paid tickets had been picked up by participants, problems could be reported directly to the airline office. Booking flights well in advance provided flexibility and ability to make travel changes. It was made clear that changes that incurred costs would be to be paid by the participant.

Participants were responsible for obtaining visas and other travel papers, with the coordinator providing assistance to participants who were experiencing difficulty. Medical insurance was provided and arrangements were made with a local clinic. Participants were given their allowances in installments.

Staffing

MCEWH must consider the staff and resource people that will be required to successfully run an annual International Institute. In addition to the administrator and project coordinator, SIGAD had 5 teaching/resource staff. With 25 people enrolled in the program, there was a 5 student to one staff ratio. IOI hires a course Director from the United States and a Course Coordinator (graduate student) from Dalhousie University. They invite local and international speakers, who do not receive payment.

Application Procedures and Requirements

As in the above two models, it will be necessary for MCEWH to develop a formal application process. This will include applicant requirements, application procedure, participant selection criteria, etc. Development of these components will be largely dependent on the finalization of a target audience for the International Institute on Gender Management and HIV/AIDS.

Candidates for SIGAD were required to submit a curriculum vitae, a letter outlining what they expected from the course along with a summary of their research question. SIGAD emphasized the importance of stressing the academic nature of the course, particularly for international participants who might have expected a workshop as opposed to an academic course.

IOI's application process is a great deal more involved, including the need for nomination by a Government department or national/regional organization. Admission requirements for IOI are

fairly extensive, including age range, level of education and language. In addition, IOI candidates are required to submit a medical record and proof of proficiency in the English language.

Both SIGAD and IOI application deadlines were/are in January. Neither institute charged/charges an application fee. SIGAD recipients were informed at the end of January and had 21/2 weeks to accept. Following acceptance, IDRC sent a confirmation of funding letter to participants, which was used for visa purposes. IOI participant selection process takes place in February and they emphasized the importance of what they refer to as a list of "reserve candidates" who may be offered enrollment in the event that a participant is unable to attend.

Participant Sponsorship and Funding

IDRC provided scholarships to 8 international participants to attend SIGAD. Other sources of funding for participants over the four years included Canadian International Development Agency (CIDA), International Centre of Ocean Development (ICOD), Norwegian Agency for Development (NORAD), Swedish International Development Agency (SIDA), CUSO, and the Canadian High Commission in India.

As mentioned earlier, IOI has a scholarship fund that receives money from various organizations. The scholarships amounting to \$10,000 US cover lodging, food, airfare, learning materials, tuition, health insurance and a small per diem. The scholarship does not include a salary therefore, nominees are asked to continue paying participants' salaries during the course.

IOI encourages their candidates to apply for funding and scholarships independently and in fact will only consider candidates for scholarships if they have demonstrated that they have applied elsewhere for funding.

Private/Corporate sponsorship is another avenue for funding participants. For example, SIGAD received funding from Petro Canada to support two aboriginal participants per year. Most Canadian SIGAD participants paid their own way.

Evaluation

Evaluation is perhaps the most important part of any program. In order to ensure the effectiveness and ability to reach goals and objectives, it is necessary to incorporate varying methods of evaluation. The program will require careful monitoring and evaluation with clearly defined outcome measures in order to prove the value of the program and its ability to create change.

There will be several types of evaluation incorporated in order to ensure success and outcomes of the International Institute on Gender Management and HIV/AIDS. Evaluation will be multi-layered ranging from short term to long term follow up evaluation. Short-term impact evaluation, through the use of pre and post-tests, will assess individual levels of knowledge and demonstration of skills and ability. It will also be important to seek feedback from participants during and after the institute regarding effectiveness and general operation of the Institute.

Long term outcome evaluation methods will serve as a means to measure the extent to which change has occurred within participants' organizations. Finally, process evaluation will involve ongoing assessment to ensure smooth operation, administration and management of the Institute.

Gender Training Institute in Tanzania

There are regional, national, and international organizations that have developed institutes with very similar missions, goals, and objectives to MCEWH's proposed International Institute for Gender Management for HIV/AIDS. The Gender Training Institute (GTI) of Tanzania Gender Networking Programme (TGNP) is a regional example that displays such similarity.

TGNP's vision is "To advocate for and facilitate a process of social transformation with emphasis on gender through the use of participatory and animation techniques and working in close collaboration with the civil society organizations (CSO's)" (Hezekeil & Rusimbi, 2001, p. 1).

TGNP was approached by its partner organizations, Regional AIDS Training Network (RATN) and Southern African AIDS Training Programme (SAT), to develop a course for people in policy and management working in the area of HIV/AIDS. The proposal was accepted and the course, entitled "*Gender, Policy and HIV/AIDS*" ran for the first time from June 25th to July 5th, 2001. The overall objective of the course is to:

"increase awareness/skills of participants to gender, policy and HIV/AIDS aimed at enabling them to see the links between the above areas for enhanced development transformation within the context of global, regional and national development and human rights...This kind of objective is important for the process of strengthening a broad base of key actors in policy and management of HIV/AIDS initiatives with a gender approach in the sub region" (Hezekeil & Rusimbi, 2001, p. 2)

The course is geared for senior level policy makers and managers in NGO's, Community Based Organizations (CBO's) and government and is built on "principles of training for transformation" i.e. change of attitude, social change and empowerment, capacity building, creativity, and a two way process of learning from one another (p. 3).

Expected outcomes for participants include; increased conceptualization of gender and its relationship to policies around HIV/AIDS, increased understanding of gaps in existing policies and programmes, improved skills for planning gender responsive programmes and policies, and specific national plans to address gender gaps in their own countries (Hezekeil & Rusimbi, 2001).

Recommendations for further Investigation

As mentioned in the introduction, basic assumptions can be made at this point of development of the International Institute on Gender Management and HIV/AIDS. Development will be an iterative process in which the establishment of each aspect of the Institute will inform other aspects of development. Of greatest importance is formalization of partnerships, particularly with donor organizations and arrival at a mandate, specific objectives and target audience for the Institute.

This paper primarily focused on the administrative experiences and developmental lessons learned from two local International Institutes. Such an analysis will be helpful in the development of logistical details, however it would be necessary to contact international institutes, particularly those addressing gender and HIV/AIDS in policy and development, in order to identify gaps, for example with respect to particular populations who have missed or not been targeted for training in gender analysis and mainstreaming.

References

Hezekiel, B. & Rusimbi, M. (2001). Course Outline for A Regional Training on Gender, Policy and HIV/AIDS to be Offered at the Gender Training Institute. Tanzania: TGNP.

International Ocean Institute (IOI) Personal Communications. Dalhousie University. See Website. http://www.ioic.dal.ca

McKenzie, J. F. & Smeltzer, J. L. (2001). Planning, Implementing and Evaluating Health Promotion Programs. Needam Heights, MA: Allyn and Bacon.

SIGAD, St. Mary's University (1992). Sharing Knowledge: South and North: The Summer Institute on Gender and Development. Vancouver, BC: Commonwealth of Learning.

Southern African AIDS Training Program (SAT) (2001). Mainstreaming Gender in the Response to AIDS in Southern Africa. Harare, Zimbabwe: Author.

UNIFEM (2000). Gender, HIV and Human Rights: A Training Manuel. New York, NY: Author.

USDHHS (1980). Promoting health/preventing disease: Objectives for the nation. Washington, DC: U.S. Government Printing Office.

3. Bibliographic Note

The two bibliographies in this series form part of a curriculum development study for a proposed International Institute on Gender Management and HIV/AIDS. The broad purpose of the Institute is to develop the capacity of middle managers and professionals to mainstream gender approaches into all levels of HIV/AIDS research, programs and policy. The emphasis is on issues and trends relevant to Commonwealth developing countries, specifically, in this first phase, those relevant to Africa.

The impact that HIV/AIDS is having on developing countries has profound implications for all sectors of development. Consequences of the disease have evolved from affecting the health of individuals to influencing every aspect of life. As a result, work towards understanding the causes and methods for treatment and prevention is shifting from the biomedical model to a development model. HIV/AIDS must be examined in relation to political, economic, legal, human rights, cultural, social, including relationships between men and women, education, natural resource management and health policy realms. The international HIV/AIDS and development community has recognized gender equality as a major determinant in the spread of the pandemic. Gender crosses all areas and HIV/AIDS interventions need to reflect gender sensitivity.

They are intended to provide an introduction to the consequences of HIV/AIDS on development and core knowledge needed to sensitize programs and policy to gender issues. This is not an exhaustive compilation, but rather a selection of diverse material related to the topics. The bibliographies are divided into two major sections. Part I reflects a conceptual overview of information relating to gender, gender analysis and mainstreaming and practical resources. It includes general information on HIV/AIDS in an international development context. Part II consists of material that relates to specific areas affected by the pandemic. Projects, best practices and lessons learned as well as policy recommendations are included in this section. The annotated bibliography summarizes selected entries from the general bibliography.

An attempt was made to include a selection of easily-accessible primary documents from international, governmental and nongovernmental agencies, as well as secondary sources in the form of books, journal articles, and a few newspaper articles. Reports from workshops and conferences also are cited. Since the HIV/AIDS pandemic is changing rapidly, most of the samples selected were published within the last ten years. The few older references are still relevant as "classics" in the field.

The materials cited have been drawn from a large range of on-line databases and web sites, bibliographies, and references from articles and books collected. Major general databases consulted were Sociological Abstracts, POPLINE, and the National Library of Medicine databases (PubMed, NLM Gateway incorporating the former AIDSLINE).

The references reflect a spectrum of views. Please note that the Maritime Centre of Excellence for Women's Health does not necessarily endorse all of the views expressed in these bibliographies.

4. The AIDS Pandemic and Gender: The Socio-Cultural Effects on Development with An Emphasis on Commonwealth Countries

A Selected Bibliography

Table of Contents

PART I

Gender	27
Concepts and General Information	27
Gender-based analysis and mainstreaming	31
Gender profiles	32
Gender training, methods and manuals	33
HIV/AIDS	35
General information	35
History	37
Africa	38
PART II	
Cultural Contexts, Behaviours and Belief	39
Culture	39
Female genital mutilation	39
Gender communication and socialization	40
Male circumcision	41
Roles and responsibilities	42
Sexual stereotypes	43
Social/Psychological aspects	43
Stigma	44
Traditional beliefs	45
Violence against women	46
Differential Impacts on Individuals	47
Adolescents	47
Children and Orphans	49
Men	50
Prostitution	51
Trafficking	52
Widows	53
Women	53
Economic Issues	56
Business and Industry	56
Globalization and Trade	56
Health Care	57
Information Technology	57
Microcredit	58
Poverty	58

Socio-economic impact	59
Structural Adjustment Programs	60
Education	60
AIDS Education	60
Children and Adolescents	61
Gender and Development	62
Health	63
Access to care, home care	63
Breastfeeding	64
Data, research	65
Demographic impact	65
Drugs	65
Epidemiology	67
Female control	67
Health care systems	68
Male contraceptive use	69
Opportunistic diseases	69
Parent-to-child transmission	70
Prevention and control	70
Rural/urban implications and migrations	73
Testing	74
Transmission	75
Treatment	76
Law and Policy	77
Ethics	77
Human rights	77
Legal Systems and Policy	79
Natural Resource Management	80
Agriculture	80
Environment	81
Food Security and Nutrition	81
Water	82
Wildlife	83

^{*} Notes that the citation has been annotated in the separate "Annotated Bibliography"

PART I

Gender

Concepts and General Information

Akeroyd, Anne, 1996, "Some gendered and occupational aspects of HIV and AIDS in eastern and southern Africa: Changes, continuities and issues for further consideration at the end of the first decade." Occasional Papers, 60, Centre for African Studies, Edinburgh University.

*Baden, Sally and Heike Wach, 1999, "Gender, HIV/AIDS transmission and impacts: A review of issues and evidence," Briefing prepared for the Swedish International Development Cooperation Agency (SIDA), BRIDGE Report 47, Institute of Development Studies, UK. http://www.ids.ac.uk/bridge/Reports/re47c.pdf

*BRIDGE (Briefings on development and gender), 1997, "Approaches to institutionalizing gender," <u>Development and gender in brief: A quarterly update from BRIDGE, Raising gender awareness among policy-makers and practitioners,</u> Issue 5, Institute of Development Studies, UK. http://www.ids.ac.uk/bridge/dgb5.html.

*CIDA, 1999, "CIDA's policy on gender equality," Canadian International Development Agency, Ottawa www.acdicida.gc.ca/cida_ind.nsf/vall/6F0D1A14114696288525672900660DE5?OpenDocument

*CEDAW, 2001, "Turning the Tide. CEDAW and the gender dimensions of the HIV/AIDS pandemic," United Nations Development Fund for Women and CEDAW UNIFEM Convention on the Elimination of All Forms of Discrimination Against Women. http://www.undp.org/unifem/public/turningtide/

*Commonwealth Secretariat, 1999, "Advancing the Commonwealth agenda for gender equality into the new millennium (2000-2005): An update to the 1995 Commonwealth plan of action on gender and development," Commonwealth Secretariat, UK. http://www.thecommonwealth.org/gender/htm/whatwedo/why/update.doc

*David, Martine, June 1997, "Gender relations and AIDS," Center for International Cooperation and Development, www.ccisd.org/ang/a documents/a david.htm

France, Nadine (ed), 1998, "Gender and health. A technical paper," Women's Health, World Health Organization, WHO/FRH/WHD/98.16, 1998. http://www.who.int/frh-whd/GandH/GHreport/gendertech.htm

Goldstein, Nancy, Jennifer L. Manlowe, Nancy Goldstone (eds.) 1997, <u>The Gender Politics of HIV/AIDS in Women: Perspectives on the Pandemic in the United States</u>, New York University Press, New York.

*Gupta, Geeta Rao, 2000, "Gender, sexuality, and HIV/AIDS: The what, the why, and the how," Plenary Address, XIII International AIDS Conference, Durban, South Africa, July 12, 2000.

*Hemmati, Minu and Rosalie Gardiner, 2001, "Gender equity and sustainable development," Paper written as part of the Towards Earth Summit 2002 project, UNED Forum. www.earthsummit2002.org/es/issues/gender/gender.PDF

Indian and Northern Affairs Canada, 1999, "Gender equality analysis policy," Ottawa, Canada. http://www.ainc-inac.gc.ca/pr/pub/eql/eql e.pdf

Jacobson, J.L. and Ed Ayres (eds.), 1993, "Gender bias: Roadblock to sustainable development," (Worldwatch Paper, Vol. 110,) The Worldwatch Institute, Washington, D.C.

Karl, M., 1995, Women and Empowerment: Participation and Decision Making, Zed Books, London.

Keller, Bonnie, Anne-Lise Klausen and Stella Mukasa, 2000, "The challenge of working with gender, experiences from Danish-Ugandan development cooperation," Danish Ministry of Foreign Affairs (Danida).

http://www.genie.ids.ac.uk/docs/danida/challengew2.doc

Kerr, Joanna, Nov 2001, "International trends in gender equality work," AWID Occasional Paper no.1, Association for Women's Rights in Development.

Kristoffersson, Ulf, 2000, "HIV/AIDS as a human security issue: A gender perspective," Prepared for the Expert Group Meeting on "The HIV/AIDS Pandemic and its Gender Implications," 13-17 Nov 2000, Windhoek, Nambibia.

www.un.org/womenwatch/daw/csw/hivaids/kristoffersson.htm

Macdonald, M., E. Sprenger and I. Dubel, 1997, <u>Gender and Organizational Change</u>, KIT Press with Novib and Hivos, Amsterdam.

*Maritime Centre of Excellence in Women's Health and Ronald Colman, GPI Atlantic, 2000, "Women's health in Atlantic Canada: A statistical portrait," Halifax, Nova Scotia, Canada.

*Matlin, Stephen and Nancy Spence, 2000, "The gender aspects of the HIV/AIDS pandemic," A paper written for the Expert Group Meeting on "The HIV/AIDS Pandemic and its Gender Implications," 13-17 Nov 2000, Windhoek, Namibia. http://www.un.org/womenwatch/daw/csw/hivaids/matlinspence.html

Moser, Caroline O.N., 1993, <u>Gender Planning and Development: Theory, Practice and Training,</u> Routledge, London.

Nowrojee, S, Jeffrey O'Malley and Ionna Trilivas, 1996, "The International HIV/AIDS Alliance: Sexuality, gender and sexual health: Experience to date and action proposals," International HIV/AIDS Alliance, London.

Ostergaard, Lise (ed.), 1992, <u>Gender and Development: A Practical Guide</u>, Routledge, New York.

Oxaal, Zoe with Sally Baden, "Gender and empowerment: Definitions, approaches and implications for policy," BRIDGE Report 40, <u>Institute of Development Studies</u>, UK. http://www.ids.ac.uk/bridge/Reports/re40c.pdf

Parpart, Jane L., Patricia Connelly and V. Eudine Barriteau, 2000, <u>Theoretical Perspectives on</u> Gender and Development, WomenInk, New York.

Rao A, M. Anderson and C. Overholt, 1991, <u>Gender Analysis in Development Planning: A Case Book</u>, Kumarian Press, Hartford, Conn.

*Razavi, Shahrashoub and Carol Miller, 1995, "From WID to GAD: Conceptual shifts in the Women and Development discourse," United Nations Research Institute for Social Development, (UNRISD), Geneva.

http://www.unrisd.org/engindex/publ/list/opb/opb1/toc.htm

*Reeves, Hazel & Sally Baden, 2000, "Gender and development: Frequently asked questions," BRIDGE Report 57, Institute of Development Studies, UK. http://www.ids.ac.uk/bridge/reports/re57.pdf

*Reeves, Hazel and Sally Baden, 2000, "Gender and development: Concepts and definitions," BRIDGE Report 55, Institute of Development Studies, UK. http://www.ids.ac.uk/bridge/reports/re55.pdf.

Reid, E., 1992, "Gender, knowledge and responsibility," United Nations Development Programme, (UNDP), HIV and Development Programme, New York. (Issues Paper No. 10)

"Report from the Fourth World Conference on Women (Beijing, 4-15 September 1995)." United Nations. www.un.org/womenwatch/daw/beijing/fwcw.htm

Richardson, D.,1996, "Contradictions in discourse: Gender, sexuality and HIV/AIDS". In: <u>Sex, Sensibility and the Gendered Body</u>. J.Holland and L.Adkins (eds.) MacMillan Press, Basingstoke.

Roth, Nancy, and Katie Hogan (ed.), 1998, <u>Gendered Epidemic: Representations of Women in the Age of AIDS</u>, Routledge, New York.

Sherr, Lorraine, et. al. (eds.), 1996, <u>AIDS as a Gender Issue: Psychosocial Perspectives</u>, Taylor & Francis, London.

Sherr, Lorraine, Catherine Hankins, and Lydia Bennett, 1997, <u>Gender Issues and AIDS</u>, Taylor and Francis, London.

*Smith, Sheila and Desmond Cohen, 2000, "Gender, development and the HIV epidemic," Issues Paper, United Nations Development Programme, New York. http://www.undp.org/hiv/publications/gender/gendere.htm

Status of Women Canada, 1997, "Canada's international activities to promote the advancement of women: Highlights (1990-1997)," Status of Women Canada, Ottawa. http://www.swc-cfc.gc.ca/publish/cia-e.pdf

Sweetman, Caroline, 2000, Gender in the 21st Century, Oxfam, Oxford.

Sweetman, Caroline, 2001, "Men's involvement in gender and development policy and practice: Beyond rhetoric," Oxfam Working Papers, Oxfam, Oxford.

UNAIDS, 1998, "Gender and HIV/AIDS. UNAIDS technical update," Joint United Nations Programme on HIV/AIDS (UNAIDS), Geneva. www.unaids.org/publications/documents/human/gender/gendertue.pdf

*UNAIDS, 1999, "Gender and HIV/AIDS: Taking stock of research and programmes," Best Practice Collection, UNAIDS, Geneva.

 $\underline{http://www.unaids.org/publications/documents/human/gender/una99e16.pdf}$

UNAIDS Press Release 2000, "Gender is crucial issue in fight against AIDS, says head of UNAIDS," Joint United Nations Programme on HIV/AIDS (UNAIDS). http://www.unaids.org/whatsnew/press/eng/pressarc00/newyork050600.html

UNFPA, 2000, "Gender and HIV/AIDS: Leadership roles in social mobilization," Report of the UNFPA-organized breakout panel, 3-7 December 2000. African Development Forum, Addis Ababa.

*Visvanathan, Nalini, Lynn Duggan, and Laurie Nisonoff (eds.), 1997, <u>The Women, Gender and</u> Development Reader, Zed Books.

Vlassoff, Carol, 1994, "Gender inequalities in health in the Third World: Uncharted ground," <u>Social Science and Medicine</u>, Vol. 39, 1249-1259.

*Vlassoff, Carol and Claudia Garcia Moreno, (article in press, 2002), "Placing gender at the centre of health programming: Challenges and limitations," <u>Social Science and Medicine.</u>

Wach, Heike and Hazel Reeves, 2000, "Gender and development: Facts and figures," BRIDGE Report 56, Institute of Development Studies, UK. http://www.ids.ac.uk/bridge/reports/re56.pdf

Wilton, Tamsin, 1997, EnGendering AIDS: Deconstructing Sex, Text and Epidemic, Sage Publications, Thousand Oaks, CA.

Gender-based analysis and mainstreaming

Commonwealth Secretariat, 1999, "Gender mainstreaming in development planning: A reference manual for governments and other stakeholders."

http://www.thecommonwealth.org/dynamic/documents_asp/ViewACategory.asp?CategoryID=55&PCID=55

*Commonwealth Secretariat and Maritime Centre of Excellence for Women's Health, 2001, "Gender mainstreaming in health and HIV/AIDS. Strategies/Management. A reference manual for governments and other stakeholders," Gender Management System Series, Commonwealth Secretariat, UK.

Doyal, L. (eds.), 1994, AIDS: Setting a Feminist Agenda, Taylor & Francis, London.

Family Health International (FHI), 1998, <u>Through a Gender Lens</u>, Family Health International, Research Triangle Park, NC. www.fhi.org/en/wsp/wspubs/wspubs.html#anchor95315.

Gibb, Heather, 2001, "Gender mainstreaming. Good practices from the Asia Pacific region," The North-South Institute, Ottawa. http://www.nsi-ins.ca/download/GEN_GMGP.pdf

Health Canada, 2000, "Gender-based analysis policy," Health Canada, Ottawa. http://www.hc-sc.gc.ca/english/pdf/womens/gba.pdf

*Maritime Centre of Excellence for Women's Health, 1998, "Lessons from the field: Policy makers and gender-based analysis tools in Canada," A MCEWH Gender and Health Policy Discussion Series Paper, No. 3. MCEWH, Halifax, Nova Scotia, Canada.

Morris, Marika, 1997, "Gender-based analysis guide. Steps to incorporating gender considerations into policy development and analysis," Human Resource and Development Canada, http://www.hrdc-drhc.gc.ca/stratpol/gap-pas/publications/guide.pdf

Razavi, S. and C. Miller, 1995, "Gender mainstreaming. A study of efforts by the UNDP, the World Bank and the ILO to institutionalize gender issues," United Nations Research Institute for Social Development"

http://www.unrisd.org/engindex/publ/list/opb/opb4/toc.htm#TopOfPage

Status of Women Canada, 1996, "Gender-based analysis: A guide for policy making," Status of Women Canada, Ottawa, Canada. www.swc-cfc.gc.ca/publish/gbagid-e.html

Status of Women Canada, 2000, "Canadian experience in gender mainstreaming," Status of Women Canada. Ottawa, Canada. http://www.swc-cfc.gc.ca/publish/international/011220-international-e.html

World Bank, 2001, "Integrating gender into the World Bank's work. A strategy for action," World Bank, Washington, D.C. http://www.worldbank.org/gender/overview/ssp/ssppaper.htm

World Bank, 2001, <u>Engendering Development--Through Gender Equality in Rights, Resources</u>, and Voice, World Bank and Oxford University Press

Gender profiles

Abraham, Keshia Nicole, 1999, "Reflections on gender issues in Africa," SAPES, Harare.

African Centre for Women, 2001, <u>Status of Women in Africa</u>, (CD-ROM and book), ACW, United Nations Economic Commission for Africa (UNECA). <u>www.uneca.org</u>.

Akina Mama Wa Afrika (AmwA), 1997, "HIV and gender in the African community. Project report," AmwA, Kampala, Uganda.

Baden, Sally, Cathy Green, Naana Otoo-Oyortey and Tessa Peasgood, 1993, "Background paper on gender issues in Ghana," Report prepared for the West and North Africa Department, Department for Overseas Development, UK, BRIDGE Report 19. Institute of Development Studies. UK. http://www.ids.ac.uk/bridge/Reports/re19c.pdf

Baden, Sally, 1998, "Country gender profile: South Africa," Report prepared for the Swedish International Development Cooperation Agency (SIDA) Pretoria Republic of South Africa, BRIDGE Report 45, Institute of Development Studies. http://www.ids.ac.uk/bridge/Reports/re45c.pdf

*Baylies, Carolyn L. and Janet M. Bujra, 2000, <u>AIDS</u>, <u>Sexuality and Gender in Africa:</u> <u>Collective Strategies and Struggles in Tanzania and Zambia</u>, Routledge, London.

Byrne, Bridget, 1994, "Gender profile of Zambia," Commissioned by the Department of Foreign Affairs, Ireland, BRIDGE Report 29. Institute of Development Studies, UK. http://www.ids.ac.uk/bridge/Reports/re29c.pdf

Hadley, Earl, May 2000, "AIDS and Africa. A gender driven catastrophe," <u>Gender Policy Review, http://gender-policy.tripod.com/backissues/May.html#top</u>

World Bank, 2000, "The gender dimensions of HIV/AIDS: Putting gender on the map," Africa Region, World Bank, Washington, D.C.

 $\frac{http://wbweb4.worldbank.org/database/reprohealth/04\%20Reading\%202-The\%20Gender\%20Dimension\%20of\%20HIV_AIDS.pdf$

Gender training, methods and manuals

AIDSCAP Women's Initiative, 1997, "A transformation process: Gender training for top-level management of HIV/AIDS prevention," Family Health International (FHI)/AIDSCAP.

Akina Mama Wa Afrika (AmwA), <u>Training Manual on Gender Issues and HIV in the African Community</u>, AmwA, Kampala, Uganda.

Ankrah, E.M. et al., 1996, "Gender and AIDS. Training the top policy maker," Conference materials, International Conference on AIDS, Nov 1996, Vancouver, Canada.

*Brume, Elaine, Mercedes Juarez, Hilary Standing, 2001, "Gender and health equity resource guide," Gender and Health Equity Network, a partner of the Health and Social Change Programme at BRIDGE Report, Institute of Development Studies, UK. http://www.ids.ac.uk/bridge/Reports/Geneq.pdf

*Brooke, P., 1996, <u>Traditional Media for Gender Communications</u>, PACT Publications, New York.

CIDA, 1996, "Guide to gender sensitive indicators," Canadian International Development Agency (CIDA), Hull, Quebec.

Commonwealth Secretariat, "A quick guide to the Gender Management System," http://www.thecommonwealth.org/gender/htm/publications/gender manage pdfs.htm

Diamond, Nancy, and Hilary Sims Feldstein, 1998, "The WID officers' workshop: Building expertise, skills, and linkages," Women in Development.

www.widtech.org/Publications/Global_Building.PDF

Economic Commission for Africa, "Gender responsive development in Africa: Compendium of good practice: Interim report," Economic Commission for Africa, Addis Ababa.

Greenberg, Marcia E., 1999, "Learning from experience: Lessons from integrating gender into democracy and governance training," Women, Law and Development International. http://www.widtech.org/Publications/G Dem Learning.pdf

Interagency Gender Working Group, RFA Subgroup, 2000, "Guide for incorporating gender considerations in USAID's Family Planning and Reproductive Health, RFAs and RFPs," Interagency Gender Working Group (IGWG), www.prb.org/pdf/RFA guide.pdf

MacKenzie, Liz, 1993, "Gender development and power: Some issues and methods for gender trainers." Report on a workshop for gender trainers held in the Western Cape, South Africa, 29 August-1 Sept 1993, University of the Western Cape, CACE, Bellville, South Africa.

MacKenzie, Liz, 1993, On Our Feet: Taking steps to challenge women's oppression: A handbook on gender and popular education workshops, University of the Western Cape, CACE, Bellville, South Africa.

Nath Madhu Bala, <u>How to Empower Women to Negotiate Safe Sex</u>, <u>A Resource Guide for NGOs</u>, UNIFEM Global Programme on Gender & HIV/AIDS, Har-Anand Publications Pvt Ltd, New Delhi.

Pan-Commonwealth, 1996, "The Pan-Commonwealth training module on women and natural resources management," Commonwealth Secretariat, London.

Porter, F. and I. Smyth, 1998, "Gender training for development. Policy implications," Oxfam Publications, Oxford.

*Royal Tropical Institute (KIT), 1995, "Facing the challenges of HIV, AIDS, STDs: A gender-based response: Background information, educational tools, resources," KIT, Amsterdam, Southern Africa AIDS Information Dissemination Service (SAFAIDS,) Harare. http://www.kit.nl/information_services/html/gender_pack.asp

Schalkwyk, J. B. Woroniuk, and H. Thomas, 1997, "Handbook for mainstreaming. A gender perspective in the health sector," Department for Democracy and Social Development, Health Division, SIDA--Swedish International Development Co-operation Agency, Stockholm.

Smith, Shelia and Desmond Cohen, Oct 2000, "Gender development and the HIV epidemic," UNDP, www.undp.org.hiv/publications/gender/gendere.htm

Southern African AIDS Training Programme (SAT Programme), 2001, "Mainstreaming gender in the response to AIDS in southern Africa," SAT Programme, Harare, Zimbabwe.

Sy, Elhadj, 2001, "Gender, HIV/AIDS, and human security," www.un.org/womenwatch/daw/csw/Sy2001.htm

Thomas-Slayter, Barbara and Andrea Lee Esser, 1993, <u>Tools of Gender Analysis: A Guide to Field Methods for Bringing Gender into Sustainable Resource Management</u>, ECOGEN (Clark University), Worcester, MA.

Thomson, Marilyn and Angela Hadjipateras, 1997, "Gender and HIV/AIDS--Guidelines for integrating a gender focus into NGO work on HIV/AIDS," ACORD/ActionAid/Save the Children Fund.

UNAIDS, 2001, "AIDS, poverty reduction and debt relief. A toolkit for mainstreaming HIV/AIDS programmes into development instruments," Best Practice Collection, UNAIDS, Geneva. http://www.unaids.org/publications/documents/economics/agriculture/JC536-Toolkit-E.pdf

*UNIFEM, 2000, "Gender, HIV and human rights: A training manual," United Nations Development Fund for Women. www.undp.org/unifem/public/hivtraining

World Health Organization, nd, "Training manual for health managers. Transforming health systems: Gender and rights in reproductive health," http://www.who.int/reproductive-health/publications/transforming_health_systems_gender_and_rights_in_RH/transforming_health_systems.pdf

HIV/AIDS

General information

Advisory Committee on Voluntary Foreign Aid Public Meeting, 14 Sept 2000, "Combating the HIV/AIDS pandemic in developing countries," ACVFA Quarterly Meeting, USAID, Washington, D.C. http://www.usaid.gov/hum_response/pvc/acvfasumreptsept2000.pdf

<u>British Medical Journal</u>, 26 Jan 2002, Special Issue: Global Voices on the AIDS Catastrophe, Vol. 324:7331.

Canadian International Development Agency, 2000, "CIDA'S HIV/AIDS Action Plan, 2nd edition," CIDA, Ottawa. http://dsp-psd.pwgsc.gc.ca/Collection/E94-30-1-151E.pdf

*Canadian International Development Agency, 2000, "Not just another health issue: The impact of HIV/AIDS on development," CIDA, Ottawa. http://www.acdicida.gc.ca/cida_ind.nsf/b2a5f300880e7192852567450078b4cb/83179058f8cd194e852568fc00552618?OpenDocument

Commonwealth Secretariat, 2001, "A multi-sectoral approach to combating HIV/AIDS in Commonwealth countries," Report of a Commonwealth Think Tank Meeting, 19-20 June 2001. Commonwealth Secretariat, London.

Decosas, Josef, 1996, "HIV and development," Plenary presentation at the XI International Conference on AIDS, Vancouver, 1996.

European Commission, 1998, "Confronting AIDS: Evidence from the developing world," European Commission and the World Bank. http://europa.eu.int/comm/development/aids/limelette/html/limcontents.htm.

European Union, 2000, "The gender paradigm shift," <u>HIV/AIDS Action in Developing Countries</u>, Issue 6 June 2000.

Fan, Hung, Ross F. Conner, and Luis P. Villarreal, 1998, <u>AIDS: Science and Society</u>, 2nd edition, Jones and Bartlett Publishers, Sudbury, MA.

*Gender Orientation on Development (GOOD), 2000, "HIV/AIDS. Grasping the reality of its gender dimension," Annual Conference Report, 11-13 Sept 2000, Oslo, Norway, APRODEV, Gender Orientation on Development, Brussels. www.aprodev.net/files/HIV-AIDS.pdf

Health Canada, 2001, "HIV/AIDS EPI Updates." www.hc-sc.ca/hpb/lcdc/bah/epi/ahcan_e.html

Health Canada, 2001, "HIV and AIDS in Canada, Surveillance report to June 30, 2001," Health Canada, Ottawa. www.hc-sc.gc.ca/pphb-dgspsp/hast-vsmt/public e.html

Health Economics and HIV/AIDS Research Division (HEARD), <u>AIDS Briefs for Sectoral Planners and Managers</u>, Separate papers are offered for sectors including: Education, Subsistence Agriculture, Finance, Tourism, NGOs, Transport, Social, Commercial Agriculture, Sports, Construction, Civil Service, Manufacturing, Mining, Media, Informal, and Military; HEARD, University of Natal, Durban. http://www.und.ac.za/und/heard

*Hope, Kempe R., ed., 1999, <u>AIDS and Development in Africa: A Social Science Perspective</u>, Haworth Press. New York.

Loppie, Charlotte and Jacqueline Gahagan, Sum/Fall 2001, "Stacked against us: HIV/AIDS statistics and women," Canadian Woman Studies, Vol. 21:2, 6-9.

Mann, Jonathan M., Daniel J.M. Tarantola and T. Netter (eds.), 1992, <u>AIDS in the World: A Global Report</u>, Harvard University Press, Cambridge, Massachusetts.

*Mann, Jonathan M., and Daniel J.M. Tarantola, 1996, <u>AIDS in the World II: Global</u> Dimensions, Social Roots, and Responses, Oxford University Press, Oxford.

Manthorne, Jacquie, 1990, <u>Canadian Women and AIDS</u>. Beyond the Statistics, Les Editions Communiqu'Elles, Montreal, Canada.

Morrison, Gordon (ed.), 2000, <u>The Global HIV/AIDS Emergency</u>, Commonwealth Secretariat, London.

Nath, Madhu Bala, 2001, <u>From Tragedy to Hope: Men, women and the AIDS epidemic,</u> Commonwealth Secretariat, London.

Nath, Madhu Bala, nd, <u>Gender and HIV/AIDS: Issues for the Commonwealth Secretariat</u>, Commonwealth Secretariat, London.

Phair, J.P., et. al., 2001, <u>HIV/AIDS Annual Update 2001</u>, MedOptions, LLC, Milford, MA. http://hiv.medscape.com/update2001.

Patton, Cindy, 1990, Inventing AIDS, Routledge, London.

Patton, Cindy, 1994, <u>Last Served? Gendering the HIV Pandemic</u>, Taylor & Francis, London. (Social Aspects of AIDS series.)

Quinn, Thomas C., 1992, Sexually Transmitted Diseases, Raven Press, NY.

Rushing, William A., 1995, <u>AIDS Epidemic: Social Dimensions of an Infectious Disease</u>, Westview Press, Boulder, CO.

Sills, Yole G., 1994, AIDS Pandemic: Social Perspectives, Greenwood Press, Westport, CT.

*Smith, Raymond A. (Ed.), 2001, <u>Encyclopedia of AIDS: A Social, Political, Cultural, and Scientific Record of the HIV Epidemic</u>, Penguin Putnam Publishers.

Treichler, Paula A. 1999, <u>How to Have a Theory in an Epidemic: Cultural Chronicles of AIDS</u>, Duke University Press, Durham and London.

UN, 2000, "The HIV/AIDS pandemic and its gender implications, Report of the Expert Group Meeting, Namibia, 2000." http://www.un.org/womenwatch/daw

UNAIDS, 2001, "Together we can: Leadership in a world of AIDS," Joint United Nations Programme of HIV/AIDS, Geneva.

UNAIDS, 2001, "AIDS epidemic update: December 2001," UNAIDS and WHO.

UNAIDS, 2001, "Fact sheets: Global crisis...Global action" UNDPI and UNAIDS, New York.

*Watstein, Sarah Barbara with Karen Chandler, 1998, <u>AIDS Dictionary</u>, Facts on File, New York.

Women's Health Interaction, "Uncommon questions: A feminist exploration of AIDS," 1999, WHI, http://www.web.ca/~whi/eng/uncommon.html

*World Bank Policy Research Report, 1997, <u>Confronting AIDS: Priorities in a Global Epidemic</u>, Oxford University Press, New York. http://europa.eu.int/comm/development/aids/limelette/html/limcontents.htm

History

Grmek, Mirko D., 1990, <u>History of AIDS: Emergence and Origin of a Modern Pandemic</u>, Princeton University Press, Princeton, NJ.

*Hooper, Edward, 1999, <u>The River: A Journey to the Source of HIV and AIDS</u>, Little Brown & Co.

*Setel, Philip & Milton Lewis (eds.) 1999, <u>Histories of Sexually Transmitted Diseases and HIV/AIDS in Sub-Saharan Africa</u>, Greenwood Publishing Group, Inc.

Africa

<u>AIDS in Africa,</u> Fall 1999/Winter 2000, <u>Harvard AIDS Review</u>, Special Issue, Harvard University, Cambridge, Mass.

*Barnett, Tony, Piers Blaikie, 1992, <u>AIDS in Africa: Its Present and Future Impact,</u> Guilford Press, NY.

Becker, C., J. -P. Dozon, C. Obbo and M. Toure (eds.), 1999, <u>Experiencing and Understanding AIDS in Africa</u>, Dakar/Paris: Codesria/Editions Karthala/IRD.

Bond, George C., et al. (ed.) 1997, AIDS in Africa and the Caribbean, Westview Press, Boulder, CO.

Essex, Max, Souleymane Mboup, Phyllis J. Kanki, Mbowa R. Kalengayi, Paula J. Brewer, 1994, AIDS in Africa, Raven Press, New York.

*Mahlangu-Ngcobo, Mankekolo, 2001, <u>AIDS in Africa: An African and Prophetic Perspective</u>, Gateway Press.

Malan, Magriet, 2001, "The influence of HIV/AIDS on national security for South Africa: The concerns and implications from a human resources perspective," South African Defense College Association, Forum Paper, Executive National Security Programme, South Africa. www.defcolass.co.za/data/amaan.htm

*Marcus, Rachel, 1993, "Gender and HIV/AIDS in sub-Saharan Africa: The cases of Uganda and Malawi," Report prepared for Centre for Development Studies, University College Swansea, BRIDGE Report 13. Institute of Development Studies, UK. http://www.ids.ac.uk/bridge/Reports/re47c.pdf

Miller, Norman and Richard C. Rockwell, 1988, <u>AIDS in Africa: The Social and Policy Impact</u>, The Edwin Mellen Press, Lewiston.

<u>Open Secret: People Facing Up to HIV and AIDS in Uganda,</u> 2000, Strategies for Hope Books, http://www.actionaid.org/stratshope/books.html

*"Report on the 13th International AIDS Conference, Durban, 9-14 July 2000, Summary report of najor issues, conclusions and recommendations." Department of Health, Government of South Africa. http://www.polity.org.za/govdocs/reports/healthrep/2000/13conf00.htm

Villafana, Tonya, 2000, "Africa Now! A leadership summit to define African priorities for HIV and AIDS," held Nov. 12-14, 2000 in Cambridge, MA., Harvard AIDS Institute. http://aids.harvard.edu/africanow

*Webb, Douglas, 1997, HIV and AIDS in Africa, Pluto Press, London and Chicago.

World Bank, 1999, "Intensifying action against HIV/AIDS in Africa: Responding to a development crisis," World Bank.

PART II

Cultural contexts, Behaviours and Beliefs

Culture

*BRIDGE (Briefings on development and gender), 2002, "Culture," <u>Development and gender in brief: A quarterly update from BRIDGE, Raising gender awareness among policy-makers and practitioners,</u> Issue 10, Institute of Development Studies, UK. http://www.ids.ac.uk/bridge/dgb10.html

Lugalla, Joe L.P. et al., 1999, "The social and cultural contexts of HIV/AIDS transmission in the Kagera Region, Tanzania," <u>Journal of Asian and African Studies</u>, Vol.34:4, 377-402.

Niang, Cheikh Ibrahima, 1995, "Sociocultural factors favoring HIV infection and the integration of traditional women's associations in AIDS prevention in Kolda," International Center for Research on Women (ICRW), Washington, D.C.

*Setel, Philip, 1999, <u>A Plague of Paradoxes: AIDS, Culture, and Demography in Northern Tanzania,</u> The University of Chicago Press, Chicago.

Sonko, Sheriff, 1994, "Fertility and culture in Sub-Saharan Africa: A review," <u>International Social Science Journal</u>, Vol. XLVI, 3, Sept 1994, 397-409.

Female genital mutilation

Babatunde, Emmanuel, 1998, <u>Women's Rights Versus Women's Rites</u>, Africa World Press, Inc., Trenton, NJ. and Asmara, Eritrea.

*Brandy, Margaret, Dec 1999, "Female genital mutilation: Complications and risk of HIV transmission," <u>AIDS Patient Care and STDs</u>, Vol.13: 12, 709-716.

Koso-Thomas, O., 1992, <u>The Circumcision of Women: A Strategy for Eradication</u>, Zed Books, London.

Rahman, A. and N. Toubia, 2000, <u>Female Genital Mutilation: A Guide to Laws and Policies</u> Worldwide, Zed Books, New York.

Gender communication and socialization

Abbott, Franklin (ed.) 1998, <u>Boyhood, Growing Up Male: A Multicultural Anthology</u>, The University of Wisconsin Press, Madison, WI.

AIDSCAP, 1996, "A dialogue between the sexes: Men, women and AIDS prevention," AIDSCAP, Family Health Institute, www.fhi.org/en/aids/aidscap/aidspubs/women/sexdialog.html

Baylies, Carolyn and Janet Bujra, 1993, "Challenging gender inequalities in Africa," <u>Review of African Political Economy,"</u> Vol. 56:3.

Bulow, Dorthe Von, 1992, "Bigger than men? Gender relations and their changing meaning in Kipsigis Society, Kenya," <u>Africa</u>, Vol. 62:4, 523-546.

du Guerny, Jacques and Elisabeth Sjsberg, 1993, "Inter-relationship between gender relations and the HIV/AIDS epidemic: Some possible considerations for policies and programmes," <u>AIDS</u>, Vol 7:8, 1027-1034.

Epprecht, Marc, 1998, "Uncovering masculinity in Southern African History (review article,)" Review of Southern African Studies. Vol. 2:1, 118-142.

GETNET and WUS-SA, 1997, "Gender equality: Strategies for effective intervention: A seminar held 1-4 Dec 1996, Cape Town, South Africa," Gender Education and Training Network and the World University Services-South Africa.

Hrdy, Daniel B., Nov-Dec 1987, "Cultural practices contributing to the transmission of human immunodeficiency virus in Africa," <u>Reviews of Infectious Diseases (Chicago)</u>, Vol. 9:6, 1109-1119.

Kesby, Mike, 2000, "Participatory diagramming as a means to improve communication about sex in rural Zimbabwe: A pilot study," <u>Social Science and Medicine</u>, Vol. 50: 12, 1723-1741.

Larsson, Anita, Matseliso Mapetia, and Ann Schlyter, 1998, <u>Changing Gender Relations in Southern Africa: Issues of Urban Life</u>, National University of Lesotho, Institute of Southern African Studies, Rome.

Ogbomo, Onaiwu W., 1997, When Men and Women Mattered: A History of Gender Relations among the Owan of Nigeria, University of Rochester Press, Rochester, New York.

Population Council, 2001, "Power in sexual relationships. An opening dialogue among reproductive health professionals," Population Council, New York. www.popcouncil.org/pdfs/power.pdf

Ray, Sundana, Nyasha Gumbo, and Michael Mbizvo, 1996, "Local voices: What some Harare men say about preparation for sex," <u>Reproductive Health Matters</u>, Vol. 7, 34-45.

*Schoofs, M., 1999, "AIDS. The agony of Africa. Part five: Death and the second sex," <u>Village</u> Voice, December 1-7, 1999, New York. <u>www.thebody.com/schoofs/africa5.html</u>

Van der Straten, A., R. King, O. Grinstead, A. Serufilira, and S. Allen, 1995, "Couple communication, sexual coercion and HIV risk reduction in Kigali, Rwanda," <u>AIDS</u>, Vol. 9:8, 935-44.

*Varga, C.A., 1997, "Sexual decision-making and negotiation in the midst of AIDS: Youth in KwaZulu-Natal, South Africa," <u>Health Transition Review</u>, Vol. 7, Suppl 3, 45-67.

Male circumcision

Bailey, R.C., S. Neema, and R. Othieno, 1999, "Sexual behaviors and other HIV risk factors in circumcised and uncircumcised men in Uganda," <u>Journal of Acquired Immune Deficiency Syndromes</u>, Vol. 22:3, 1 Nov 1999, 294-301.

*CIRP, Circumcision Information and Resource Pages, nd, "Circumcision and HIV infection," CIRP. www.cirp.org/library/disease/HIV/

Gray, R. et. al., 2000, "Male circumcision and HIV acquisition and transmission: Cohort studies in Rakai, Uganda," <u>AIDS</u>, Vol. 14:15, 2371-2381.

Harryman, G., 1999, "What is lost to circumcision," Circumcision Information and Resource Pages (February 1999). www.cirp.org

Smith, J. 1998, "Male circumcision and the rights of the child," Netherlands Institute of Human Rights. www.cirp.org/library/legal/smith

Van Howe, R.S., Jan 1999, "Circumcision and HIV infection: Review of the literature and metaanalysis," International Journal of STD & AIDS, Vol.10, 8-16.

Zoossmann-Diskim, A., May 2000, "No protective effect of circumcision on human immunodeficiency virus incidence," <u>Journal of Infectious Diseases</u>, Vol. 181, 1865-1866.

Roles and responsibilities

Barnes, Terri and Everjoyce Win, 1992, <u>To Live a Better Life. An Oral History of Women in the City of Harare</u>, 1930-70, Baobab, Harare.

Creighton, Colin and C.K. Omari, 1995, <u>Gender, Family and Household in Tanzania</u>, Avebury, Aldershot.

Friedman, A. & J. Todd, 1994, "Kenyan women tell a story--Interpersonal power of women in 3 subcultures in Kenya," <u>Sex roles</u>, Vol. 31:9-10, 533-546.

Gorayshi, Parvin, and Claire Belanger (eds.), 1996, Women, Work, and Gender Relations in Developing Countries: A Global Perspective (Contributions in Sociology, No. 118), Greenwood Press, Westport, CT. and London.

Harrison, Elizabeth, 2000, "Men, women and work in rural Zambia," <u>The European Journal of Development Research</u>, Vol.12: 2

Lloyd, C.B. and A.J. Gagebrandon, 1993, "Women's role in maintaining households--Family welfare and sexual inequality in Ghana," Population Studies, Vol. 47:1, 115-131.

Mickelwait, Donald R. et al., 1976, <u>Women in Rural Development: A Survey of the roles of Women in Ghana, Lesotho, Kenya, Nigeria, Bolivia, Paraguay and Peru, Westview Press, Boulder, CO.</u>

*Oheneba-Sakyi, Yaw, 1999, <u>Female Autonomy, Family Decision Making, and Demographic</u> Behavior in Africa, Edwin Mellen Press, Lewiston, New York.

Omondi, Odhiambo, 1997, "Men's participation in family planning decisions in Kenya," <u>Population Studies</u>, Vol. 51:1, 29-40.

Oppong, Christine, 1987, "Seven roles of women: Impact of education, migration and employment on Ghanaian mothers," International Labour Organization, Geneva.

Quisumbing, A.R. and J.A. Malluccio, 2000, "Intrahousehold allocation and gender relations: New empirical evidence from four developing countries," <u>Food Consumption and Nutrition Division (FCND) and International Food and Policy Research Institute (IFPRI).</u>
http://www.ifpri.cgiar.org/themes/mp17/pubs.htm

Silberschidt, Margrethe, 1991, "Rethinking men and gender relations: An investigation of men, their changing roles within the household and the implications for gender relations in Kisii District, Kenya," Centre for Development Research, Copenhagen.

Toure, Lalla, 1996, "Male involvement in family planning: A review of the literature and selected program initiatives in Africa," Washington, D.C.: Academy for Educational Development, Inc. USAID, Bureau for Africa, Office of Sustainable Development.

Van Hook, Mary P., 1994, "The impact of economic and social changes on the roles of women in Botswana and Zimbabwe," Affilia Journal of Women and Social Work, Vol. 9:3, 288-308.

Wane, Njoki N. and Edna Kavuma, Sum/Fall 2001, "Grandmothers called out of retirement: The challenges for African women facing AIDS today," <u>Canadian Woman Studies</u>, Vol. 21:2, 10-19.

Whitehead, Ann, 2000, "Continuities and discontinuities in political constructions of the working man in rural Sub-Saharan Africa: The 'lazy man' in African agriculture," <u>The European Journal of Development Research</u>, Vol. 12:2.

Sexual stereotypes

Cubbins, L.A., 1991, "Women, men and the division of power: A study of gender stratification in Kenya," Social Forces, Vol. 69:4, 1063-1083.

*Henry, Kathleen, May 1996, "Straight talk for youth: Ugandan girls and boys learning to escape gender stereotypes," AIDScaptions, Vol. II: 3. ftp://lists.inet.co.th/pub/sea-aids/gend/gend8.txt

Morrell, Robert, (ed.) 2001, <u>Changing Masculinities in a Changing Society: Men and Gender in</u> Southern Africa, Zed Books, London.

Morrell, Robert, (ed.) 1998, <u>Journal of Southern African Studies: Special Issue on Masculinities in Southern Africa.</u> Carfax Publishing Ltd, Oxfordshire, UK. Vol. 24: 4 Dec. 1998.

Setel, Philip, 1993, "Getting AIDS is like breaking your shaft in the shamba. Energy, disease and changing concepts of manhood in Kilimanjaro," Working Paper 168, African Studies Center, Boston University.

Setel, Phillip, 1996, "AIDS as a paradox of manhood and development in Kilimanjaro, Tanzania," Social Science and Medicine, Vol. 43: 8, 1169-1178.

Singh Das, Man, Vijay Kumar Gupta, 1995, Woman and African Society, MD Publications, New Delhi.

Social/Psychological aspects

Adamchak, Donald J., 1991, "Elderly support and intergenerational transfer in Zimbabwe: An analysis by gender, marital status and place of residence," <u>The Gerontologist</u>, Vol. 31:4, 505-513.

Caldwell, John, et al., 1993, "African families and AIDS: Context, reactions and potential interventions," Health Transition Review, Vol. 3 Supplementary issue, 1-16.

Catalan, Jose, Lorraine Sherr, and Barbara Hedge (eds.) 1997, <u>Impact of AIDS: Psychological and Social Aspects of HIV Infection</u>, Harwood Academic Publishers/Overseas Publishers Association, Newark, NJ.

Cleland, John and Benoit Ferry (eds.), 1995, <u>Sexual Behaviour and AIDS in the Developing</u> World, Taylor & Francis, London.

Desmond, C., K. Michael and J. Gow, 2000, "The hidden battle: HIV/AIDS in the household and community," <u>South African Journal of International Affairs</u>, Vol. 7: 2, 39-58.

Gujit, I. and M. Shah (eds.), 1998, <u>The Myth of Community: Gender issues in participatory development</u>, Intermediate Technology Publications, London.

*Kabane-Langford, Ntsiki and David Scondras, June 2001, "HIV/AIDS in Africa: A social time bomb," Peacework, http://www.afsc.org/pwork/0106/010606.htm

Kaleeba, N., 1991, We Miss You All: AIDS in the Family, Women and AIDS Support Network, Harare.

Oyefeso, A.O. and A. Zacheaus, 1990, "Self esteem as determined by gender differences among Yoruba adolescents in Ibadan, Nigeria--A research note," <u>Journal of Child Psychology and Psychiatry and Allied Disciplines,"</u> Vol. 31:3, 461-463.

MacMaster, John, 1995, "Reactions to repeated STD infections: Psychosocial aspects and gender issues in Zimbabwe," Social Science and Medicine, Vol. 40: 9, 1299-1304.

Seeley, J. et al, 1993, "The extended family and support for people with AIDS in a rural population in South West Uganda-A safely net with holes," <u>AIDS Care</u>, Vol. 5:1, 117-122.

Topouzis, Daphne, 1994, "Uganda-The socio-economic impact of HIV/AIDS on rural families with an emphasis on youth," Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations (FAO), Rome. www.fao.org/docrep/t2942e/t2942e00.htm

Stigma

Alonzo, Angelo and Nancy Reynolds, 1995, "Stigma, HIV and AIDS: An exploration and elaboration of a stigma trajectory," <u>Social Science and Medicine</u>, Vol. 41:3, 303-315.

*Brown, Lisanne, Lea Trujillo and Kate Macintyre, 2001, "Interventions to reduce HIV/AIDS stigma: What have we learned?" Horizons Program, Tulane University and The Population Council, Inc. http://www.popcouncil.org/pdfs/horizons/litrvwstigdisc.pdf

Bunting, Sheila, 1996, "Sources of stigma associated with women and HIV," <u>Advanced Nursing Science</u>, Vol. 19:2, 64-73.

Gilmore, Norbert and Margaret Somerville, 1994, "Stigmatization, scapegoating and discrimination in sexually transmitted diseases: Overcoming 'them' and 'us,'" <u>Social Science and Medicine</u>, Vol. 39:9, 1339-1366.

Goldin, Carol, 1994, "Stigmatization and AIDS: Critical issues in public health," <u>Social Science and Medicine</u>, Vol. 39:9, 1359-1366.

Malcolm, Anne, Peter Aggleton, Mario Bronfman, Jane Galvao, Purnima Mand and Jane Verrall, 1998,"HIV-related stigmatization and discrimination: Its forms and contexts," <u>Critical Public</u> Health, Vol. 8:4, 347-370.

Monico, Sophia Mukasa, Erasmus Otolok Tanga, and Augustus Nuwagaba, 2001, "Uganda: HIV and AIDS-related discrimination, stigmatization and denial," UNAIDS Best Practice Collection, UNAIDS, Geneva.

www.unaids.org/publications/documents/human/law/HR Uganda.pdf

"Prejudice, discrimination and HIV. A report," 2001, Terrence Higgins Trust http://www.tht.org.uk/wad2001_intro.htm

Traditional beliefs

Airhihenbuwa, C.O., 1995, <u>Health and Culture: Beyond the Western Paradigm</u>, Sage Publications, Thousand Oaks, California.

Baleta, A., 1998, "Concern voiced over "dry sex" practices in South Africa," <u>Lancet</u>, 352:9136, p. 1297, (17 Oct. 1998)

Boyle, Brendan, 26 Nov 2001, "South African men protest baby rapes. Some believe it cures AIDS," <u>National Post</u>, Canada.

Green, Edward C., 1994, <u>AIDS and STDs in Africa: Bridging the Gap between Traditional Healing and Modern Medicine</u>, Westview Press, Boulder, CO.

No, Rebeka and Gideon Mulaki, 1992, <u>Kenyan Women Heroes and the Mystical Power</u>, Risk Publications, Nairobi.

UNAIDS, 1998, "AIDS education through Imams: A spiritually motivated community effort in Uganda," Best Practice Collection, UNAIDS, Geneva. http://www.unaids.org/publications/documents/sectors/religion/imamscse.pdf

*UNAIDS, 2000, "Collaboration with traditional healers in HIV/AIDS prevention and care in sub-Saharan Africa. A literature review," Best Practice Collection, UNAIDS, Geneva. http://www.unaids.org/publications/documents/care/general/JC299-TradHeal-E.pdf

Vos, T., 1994, "Attitudes to sex and sexual behaviour in rural Matabeleland, Zimbabwe," <u>AIDS Care</u>, Vol. 6:2, 193-203.

Wane, Njoki, 2000, "Indigenous knowledge: Lesson from the elders--A Kenyan case study," In: G. Dei, B. Hall and D. Rosenberg, (eds.), <u>Indigenous Knowledge in Global Context: Multiple Readings of our World</u>, University of Toronto Press, Toronto.

Violence against women

Armstrong, A., 1998, <u>Culture and Choice: Lessons from survivors of gender violence in Zimbabwe</u>, WomenInk, New York.

Carillo, R., 1992, <u>Battered Dreams: Violence against Women as an Obstacle for Development</u>, UNIFEM, and Sales Publication No. WE 011, New York.

Farley, Melissa, Isin Baral, Merab Kiremire and Ufuk Sezgin, 1998, "Prostitution in five countries: Violence and post-traumatic stress disorder," <u>Feminism & Psychology</u>, Vol. 8:4, 405-426. <u>www.prostitutionresearch.com/fempsy1.html</u>

*Gordon, P and K. Crehan, 1998, "Dying of sadness: Gender, sexual violence and the HIV epidemic," United Nations Development Program, (UNDP), New York. http://www.undp.org/seped/publications/dyingofsadness.pdf.

Newell, K.S., E. Ross, C. McVicker and J. Cromwell, 2000, "Discrimination against the girl child: Female infanticide, female genital cutting and honor killing," <u>Youth Advocate Program</u> International. http://www.yapi.org/publications/bookletseries.htm

Omorodion, F.I. et al., 1998, "The social context of reported rape in Benin City, Nigeria," <u>African Journal of Reproductive Health</u>, Vol. 2:2, 37-43.

Spindel, C. et al., "With an end in sight: Strategies from the UNIFEM Trust Fund to Eliminate Violence Against Women," United Nations Development Fund for Women, New York. www.undp.org/unifem/public/tfbook

WHO, 2000, "Violence Against Women," Fact Sheet No. 239. World Health Organization, Geneva.

Wood, Katharine and Rachel Jewkes, 1997, "Violence, rape, and sexual coercion: Everyday love in a South African township," <u>Gender and Development</u>, Vol. 5:2, 41-46.

Differential Impacts on Individuals

Adolescents

African Medical Research Foundation, 1994, "Female adolescent health and sexuality in Kenyan secondary schools: A research report," AMRF, Nairobi, Kenya.

Boyer, C. and S. Keggles, 1991, "AIDS risk and prevention among adolescents," <u>Social Science</u> and Medicine, Vol. 33:1, 11-23.

Carr, D., 2001, "Youth in sub-Saharan Africa: A chartbook on sexual experiences and reproductive health," Population Reference Bureau, Washington, D.C.

Dowsett, G. W. et al. 1998, "Changing gender relations among young people: The global challenge for HIV/AIDS prevention," <u>Critical Public Health: HIV/AIDS Symposium Issue</u>, Vol. 8:4, 291-309.

Hulton, L., R. Cullen and S. Khalokho, Mar. 2000, "Perceptions of the risks of sexual activity and their consequences among Ugandan adolescents," <u>Studies in Family Planning</u>, Vol. 31:1, 35-46.

Kumar, Nikki, June Larkin and Claudia Mitchell, Sum/Fall 2001, "Gender, youth and HIV risk," Canadian Woman Studies, Vol. 21:2, 35-40.

Leshabari, M. and S. Kaaya, 1997, "Bridging the information gap: Sexual maturity and reproductive health problems among youth in Tanzania," <u>Health Transition Review</u>, Vol. 7 (Suppl. 3), 29-44.

Luke, N., "Sept 26, 2001, "Cross-generational and transactional sexual relations in sub-Saharan Africa: A review of the evidence on prevalence and implications for negotiation of safe sexual practices for adolescent girls," International Center for Research on Women, Philadelphia, PA.

Nduati, Ruth and Wambui Kiai, 2000, "Communicating with adolescents about AIDS. Experience from eastern and southern Africa," International Development Research Centre (IDRC), Ottawa.

http://www.idrc.ca/acb/showdetl.cfm?&DID=6&Product_ID=496&CATID=15

Rivers, K. and P. Aggleton, 1999, "Adolescent sexuality, gender and the HIV epidemic." United Nations Development Programme (UNDP), New York. http://www.undp.org/hiv/publications/gender/adolesce.htm

Rwebangira, M. and R. Liljestrom (eds.), 1998, <u>Haraka Haraka...Look Before You Leap. Youth at the crossroad of custom and modernity</u>, The Nordic African Institute, Uppsala.

Schatz, Paulette and Kuzvinetsa Dsvimbo, June 2001, "The adolescent sexual world and AIDS prevention: A democratic approach to programme design in Zimbabwe," Canadian Society International Health, Health Promotion International, Vol. 16:2, 127-136.

Schuler, Corinna, 6 Nov 2001, "Swazi king bans sex to fight spread of AIDS," <u>National Post</u>, Canada.

Tumbo-Masabo, Z., and R. Liljestrom (eds.), 1994, <u>Chelewa, Chelewa: The dilemma of teenage</u> girls, Nordiska Afrikainstitutet, Uppsala.

UN, "Report of the Expert Group Meeting on Adolescent Girls and their Rights. Addis Ababa" United Nations, Division for the Advancement of Women, DESA, 1997. http://www.un.org/documents/ecosoc/cn6/1998/gchild/egmgirl.htm

Venier, J., M. Ross and A. Akande, Feb. 1998, "HIV/AIDS-related social anxieties in adolescents in three African countries," <u>Social Science and Medicine</u>, Vol. 46:3, 313-320.

Weiss, E., D. Whelan and G. Rao Gupta, 1996, "Vulnerability and opportunity: Adolescents and HIV/AIDS in the developing world," International Center for Research on Women (ICRW), Washington, D.C.

Williams, G., Amanda Milligan, Tom Odemwingie, 1997, "Common cause: Young people, sexuality, HIV and AIDS in three African countries," ActionAid, Oxford, UK. (Strategies for Hope Series No. 12)

Williams, Glenn, Lucy Ng'ang'a, John Ngugi, 1997, <u>Youth-to-youth: HIV prevention and young people in Kenya</u>, ActionAid, Oxford, UK, (Strategies for Hope Series No. 13.)

Wilson, D., J. McMaster, M. Armstrong, N. Magunje, and T. Chimhina, Aug, 1994, "Intergenerational communication within the family: Implications for developing STD/HIV prevention strategies for adolescents in Zimbabwe," United States Agency for International Development, (Women and AIDS Research Program Research Report No. 13), Washington, D.C.

Wilson, Shamillah, 2001, "What are the implications of the new sex ban for young women in Swaziland?" Interview with Phepsile Maseko, Coordinator of the National Youth Gender Caucus of Swaziland, Association for Women's Rights in Development (AWID). http://www.awid.org/article.pl?sid=01/11/09/2114252&mode=thread

WHO, 1997, "Coming of Age. From facts to action for adolescent sexual and reproductive health," World Health Organization, Geneva.

Zabin, L and K. Kiragu, June 1998, "The health consequences of adolescent sexual and fertility behavior in sub-Saharan Africa." Studies in Family Planning, Vol. 29:2, 210-232.

Children and Orphans

Ayieko, M.A., 1997, "From single parents to child-headed households: The case of children orphaned by AIDS in Kisumu and Siaya Districts," United Nations Development Program (UNDP), Geneva.

Colling, Jane, 1999, "Children living in a world with AIDS: Guidelines for children's participation in HIV/AIDS programs," National Pediatric & Family HIV Resource Center, University of Medicine & Dentistry of NJ and Joint United Nations Programme on HIV/AIDS (UNAIDS), www.pedhivaids.org/education/children living.html#menu

Drew, R. ET. al., 1998, "Strategies for providing care and support to children orphaned by AIDS," <u>AIDS Care</u>, Vol. 10, Suppl. 1, S9-S15.

Du Boisrouvray, A., R., et al., 2000, "Orphan alert: International perspectives on children left behind by HIV/AIDS," Association François-Xavier Bagnoud, Boston, MA. http://orphans.fxb/media/FXBDurban.pdf

Foster, G., nd, "Children rearing children: A study of child-headed households," In: <u>The Socio-Demographic Impact of AIDS in Africa</u>, Based on the conference organized by the Committee on AIDS of the International Union for the Scientific Study of Population (IUSSP), Liege, Belgium and the University of Natal, Durban, South Africa.

Geballe, S., Janice Gruendel and Warren Andiman, (eds.), 1995, <u>Forgotten Children of the AIDS Epidemic</u>, Yale University Press, New Haven and London.

Gilborn, L., R. Nyonyintono, R. Kabumbuli and G. Jagwe-Wadda, 2001, "Making a difference for children affected by AIDS: Baseline findings from operations research in Uganda," Population Council, New York.

*Guest, Emma, 2001, Children of AIDS. Africa's Orphan Crisis, The University of Natal Press, South Africa.

Halkett, R., 1999, <u>HIV/AIDS</u> and the Care of Children, South African National Council for Child and Family Welfare, Johannesburg.

ICAD, 2001, "Fact Sheet: HIV/AIDS and policies affecting children," Interagency Coalition on AIDS and Development. www.hri.ca/children/aids/factsheet_detail.htm.

Lyons, Miriam, 1998, "The impact of HIV and AIDS on children, families and communities: Risks and realities of childhood during the HIV epidemic," Issues Paper No. 30, United Nations Development Programme. http://www.undp.org/hiv/publications/issues/english/issue30e.html

Menting, A., Spring/Summer 2000, "The village and the children," <u>Harvard AIDS Review</u>, 15-18

Smart, R., 1999, "Children's rights: Children living with HIV/AIDS in South Africa. A rapid appraisal," Save the Children, U.K. www.scfuk.org.uk

Tapper, Andrea, 2000, "Mothers and children confronting HIV: Challenges, choices, lessons learnt," European Commission, Directorate-General for Development, Brussels, Belgium, http://europa.eu.int/comm/development/aids

UNAIDS, 1999, "Children orphaned by AIDS: Front-line responses from eastern and southern Africa," UNAIDS, Geneva. www.unaids.org/publications/documents/children/

WHO/UNICEF, 1994, "Action for children affected with AIDS: Programme profiles and lessons learnt," UNICEF, New York.

Williamson, J., 2001, "Finding a way forward: Principles and strategies to reduce the impacts of AIDS on children and families," In: C. Levine and G. Foster, (eds.), <u>The Orphan Generation: The Global Legacy of the AIDS Epidemic, Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, UK.</u>

Men

Aggleton, Peter (ed.), 1996, <u>Bisexualities and AIDS: International Perspectives</u>, Taylor & Francis, Bristol, PA.

Carovano, K., 1995, "HIV and the challenges facing men." United Nations Development Programme, HIV and Development Programme. (Issues Paper. No. 15.), New York. www.undp.org/hiv/publications/issues/english/issue15e.htm

Development and Project Planning Centre, 2001, "Do men matter? New horizons in gender and development," http://www.id21.org.

Family Health International, 2000, "Helping men make a difference in HIV prevention," <u>Impact on HIV</u>, Vol. 2:2.

Foreman, M., 1998, AIDS and Men: Taking risks or taking responsibility? Zed Books, London.

Gupta, Geeta Rao, 26 Jan 2002, "Editorial: How men's power over women fuels the HIV epidemic," <u>BMJ (British Medical Journal,</u>) Vol. 324, 183-184.

Levy, Caren, Nadia Taher, and Claudy Vouhe, 2000, "Addressing men and masculinities in GAD," <u>IDS (Institute of Development Studies) Bulletin</u>, Vol. 31:2, Special issue on Men, Masculinities and Development: Politics, Policies and Practice.

Mbizvo, M.T., and M.T. Bassett, 1996, "Reproductive health and AIDS prevention in sub-Saharan Africa: The case for increased male participation," <u>Health Policy and Planning</u>, Vol. 11:1, 84-92.

Mbugua, G.G., et. al., 1995, "Epidemiology of HIV infection among long distance truck drivers in Kenya," <u>East African Medical Journal</u>, Vol. 72:8, 515-518.

Meekers, D. and A. Calves, "Main girlfriends, girlfriends, marriage, and money: The social contest of HIV risk behavior in sub-Saharan Africa," Working Paper No. 5, Population Services International, Washington, D.C.

Morrell, Robert, 1998, "Masculinities in southern Africa," <u>Journal of Southern African Studies</u>, Vol. 24:4.

Panos Books, 2000, Men and HIV, Four publications focusing on four southern African countries: Malawi, Swaziland, Zambia, and Zimbabwe, Panos Books, London.

Rweyemamu, C., 1999, "Sexual behaviour in Tanzania," In: M. Foreman (ed.), <u>AIDS and Men. Taking risks or taking responsibility?</u> Panos/Zed, London.

Rivers, K. and P. Aggleton, 1999, "Men and the HIV epidemic," HIV and Development Programme, United Nations Development Programme, (UNDP), http://www.undp.org/hiv/publications/gender/mene.htm

Scalway, Thomas, 2001, "Young men and HIV. Culture, poverty and sexual risk," The Panos Institute and UNAIDS, London and Geneva www.panos.org.uk/aids/Panos_Aids_Pages.qxd.pdf

Talle, A., 1995, "Risk behaviour among young Massai men," In: K. Klepp, P. Biswalo and A. Talle, (eds.), <u>Young People at Risk: Fighting AIDS in Northern Tanzania</u>, Scandinavian University Press, Oslo, Norway, 69-85.

*UNAIDS, 2000, "Men and AIDS--a gendered approach. AIDS: Men make a difference. 2000 World AIDS Campaign," Joint United Nations Programme on HIV/AIDS (UNAIDS), Geneva. http://gbgmumc.org/programs/wad00/wacmene.stm

UNFPA, 1997, "A new role for men: Partners for women's empowerment," United Nations Population Fund, New York.

Prostitution

Campbell, C., Feb 2000, "Selling sex in the time of AIDS: The psycho-social context of condom use by sex workers on a southern African mine," <u>Social Science and Medicine</u>, Vol. 50:4, 479-494.

Carovano, K., 1991, "More than mothers and whores: Redefining the AIDS prevention needs of women," International Journal of Health Services, Vol. 21:1, 131-142.

Duncan, M. et al., 1994, "A socioeconomic, clinical, and serological study in an African city of prostitutes and women still married to their first husband," <u>Social Science and Medicine</u>, Vol. 39:3, 323-333.

Farley, M. et al, 1998, "Prostitution in five countries: Violence and post-traumatic stress disorder," Feminism & Psychology, Vol. 8:4, 405-426.

*Renaud, Michelle L., 1997, <u>Women at the Crossroads: A Prostitute Community's Response to AIDS in Urban Senegal, Routledge, New York.</u>

Varga, C.A., Mar 1997, "The condom conundrum: Barriers to condom use among commercial sex workers in Durban, South Africa," <u>African Journal of Reproductive Health (Nigeria)</u>, Vol. 1:1, 74-88.

Varga, C.A., 1998, "Sex workers managing the risk of HIV: Coping strategies against HIV/AIDS," Women's Health News, No. 26, 21-22.

Walden, V.M. et al., 1999, "Measuring the impact of a behavior change intervention for commercial sex workers and their potential clients in Malawi," <u>Health Education Research</u>, Vol. 14:4, 545-554.

Wilson, D. et al., 1990, "A pilot study for an HIV prevention programme among commercial sex workers in Bulawayo, Zimbabwe," <u>Social Science and Medicine</u>, Vol. 31:5, 609-618.

Trafficking

Altink, Sietske, 1995, <u>Stolen Lives: Trading Women into Sex and Slavery</u>, Scarlet Press, London.

*Global Alliance Against Traffic in Women (GAATW), 2001, <u>Human Rights and Trafficking in Persons: A Handbook</u>, GAATW. http://www.inet.co.th/org/gaatw/

Hughes, Donna M. and Claire M. Roche (eds.), 1999, "Making the harm visible: Global sexual exploitation of women and girls--Speaking out and providing services," Coalition Against Trafficking in Women (CATW).

Human Rights Watch, 1995, "Women's rights project. Trafficking of women and girls into forced prostitution and coerced marriage," Human Rights Watch, New York.

<u>Refuge</u>, Canada's Periodical on refugees, Nov. 1998, Special Issue: <u>New Cargo: The Global Business of Trafficking in Women.</u>

USAID, 2001, "Trafficking in persons: USAID's response," USAID, Office of Women in Development. http://www.genderreach.com/pubs/trafficking/us01.htm

Widows

Empowering Widows in Development, 2001, <u>Widows' Law File (WLF)</u>, EWD, UK <u>www.oneworld.org/empoweringwidows/lawfile/index.html</u>.

Food and Agriculture Organization (FAO), "A widow in Rwanda: HIV/AIDS in one rural community," Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations. www.fao.org

*Owen, Margaret, 1996, A World of Widows, Zed Books, London.

Owen, Margaret, ND, "The status of widows in 10 countries. Seclusion and exclusion," Empowering Widows in Development, UK www.oneworld.org/empoweringwidows/10countries/index.html.

Roys, Chris, 1995, "Widows' and orphans' property disputes: The impact of AIDS in Rakai District, Uganda," <u>Development in Practice</u>, Vol. 5:4, 346-351.

Women

Baden, Sally, 1992, "Women, HIV/AIDS and development: Towards gender appropriate strategies in South East Asia and the South Pacific," Report Prepared for Women, Health and Population Division, Australian International Development Assistance Bureau, BRIDGE Report 5, Institute of Development Studies, UK. http://www.ids.ac.uk/bridge/Reports/re5c.pdf

Baylies, C. and J. Bujra, 1995, "Discourses of power and empowerment in the fight against HIV/AIDS in Africa," In: P. Aggleton, P. Davies and G. Hart (eds.) <u>AIDS, Safety, Sexuality and Risk</u>, Taylor and Francis, London.

Berer, Marge & Sunanda Ray, 1993, <u>Women and HIV/AIDS: An International Resource Book,</u> Pandora Press/Harper Collins, New York.

Booth, Karen M. 1998, "National mother, global whore, and transnational 'femocrats': The politics of AIDS and the construction of women at the World Health Organization," <u>Feminist Studies</u>, Vol. 24:1, 115-139.

Durrant, V., 1994, "Impact of AIDS on women in Uganda," Michigan State University, Office of Women in Development, Working Papers on Women in International Development, No. 249, East Lansing, Michigan.

Gorna, Robin, 1996, <u>Vamps, Virgins and Victims: How Can Women Fight AIDS?</u> Cassell, London.

Green Cathy, with Sally Baden, 1994, "Women and development in Malawi," Report prepared for the Commission of the European Communities Directorate General for Development, BRIDGE Report 23, Institute of Development Studies, UK. http://www.ids.ac.uk/bridge/Reports/re23c.pdf

Gupta, G. R., 2000, "Approaches for empowering women in the HIV/AIDS pandemic: A gender perspective," Paper at: Expert Group Meeting on "The HIV/AIDS Pandemic and its Gender Implications," Windhoek, UN Division for the Advancement of Women.

Jefremovas, V., 1991, "Loose women, virtuous women and timid virgins--Gender and the control of resources in Rwanda," <u>Canadian Journal of African Studies</u>, Vol. 25:3, 378-395.

Kirmani, Mubina Hassanali, 1992, "Women and AIDS in sub-Saharan Africa," World Bank, African Region Technical Department, Washington, D. C.

Kurth, Ann, (ed.), 1993, <u>Until the Cure: Caring for Women with HIV</u>, Yale University Press, New Haven, CT.

*Long, Lynellyn D. and E. Maxine Ankrah (eds.), 1997, <u>Women's Experiences with HIV/AIDS:</u> <u>An International Perspective</u>, Columbia University Press, New York.

Mikell, Gwendolyn, 1997, <u>African Feminism: The politics of survival in sub-Saharan Africa</u>, University of Pennsylvania Press, Philadelphia, PA.

Mirsky, Judith and Marty Radlett, (eds.), 2000, <u>No Paradise Yet. The World's Women Face the New Century</u>, Panos Books, London.

Moleon, Marie-Monique, 1999, "Women and AIDS in South Africa: A challenge to the new national AIDS programme," <u>Africa Insight</u>, Vol. 29: 3/4, 39-43.

Mwale, G. and P. Burnard, 1992, Women and AIDS in Rural Africa, Aldershot, Avebury.

Okome, Mojubaolu Olufunke, 2001, "African women and power: Reflections on the perils of unwarranted cosmopolitanism," <u>Jenda: A Journal of Culture and African Women Studies</u>, Vol. 1:1,

Oyewumi, Oyeronke, 1997, <u>The Invention of Women: Making an African Sense of Western</u> Gender Discourses, University of Minnesota Press, Minneapolis, MN.

Panos Institute, 1990, <u>Triple Jeopardy: Women and AIDS</u>, The Panos Institute, London.

Paterson, Gillian, 1996, Women in the Time of AIDS: Women, Health and the Challenge of HIV, Orbs Books, Maryknoll, NY.

Rudd, Andrea, and Darien Taylor (eds.), 1992, <u>Positive Women: Voices of Women Living with AIDS</u>, Second Story Press, East Haven, CT.

SARDC (Southern African Research and Documentation Centre), 2000, "Gender policies in southern Africa and beyond: A selected bibliography," SARDC, Harare, Zimbabwe.

Schneider, Beth E. and Nancy E. Stoller (eds.), 1994, <u>Women Resisting AIDS: Feminist Strategies of Empowerment (Health, Society, and Policy,)</u> Temple University Press, Philadelphia.

Schoepf, B.G., E. Walu, W.N. Rukarangira, N. Payanzo and C. Schoepf, 1991, "Gender, power and risk of AIDS in Zaire," In: M. Turshen (ed.), <u>Women and Health in Africa</u>, Africa World Press, Trenton, NJ.

Seidel, G., 1993, "The competing discourses of HIV/AIDS in sub-Saharan Africa: Discourses of rights and empowerment versus discourses of control and exclusion," <u>Social Science and Medicine</u>, Vol. 36:3, 175-194.

Ship, Susan J. and Laura Norton, Sum/Fall 2001, "HIV/AIDS and Aboriginal women in Canada," <u>Canadian Woman Studies</u>, Vol. 21:2, 25-31.

UNAIDS, 2000, "Enhancing the greater involvement of people living with or affected by HIV/AIDS (GIPA) in sub-Saharan Africa," UNAIDS Best Practice Collection, <u>UNAIDS</u>, Geneva. http://www.unaids.org/acc_access/gipa/

UNIFEM, Women, Gender and HIV/AIDS in East and Southeast Asia Kit, United Nations Development Fund for Women,

*Wallman, Sandra, (ed.), 1996, <u>Kampala Women Getting By: Wellbeing in the Time of AIDS</u>, Ohio University Press, Athens, OH.

Women and AIDS, Spring, 1999, <u>Harvard AIDS Review</u>, Special Issue, Harvard University, Cambridge, MA.

WHO, 1994, "Women and AIDS: Agenda for action," 1994, World Health Organization, Geneva, United Nations Development Programme, United Nations Division for the Advancement of Women. 1994. http://whqlibdoc.who.int/hq/1994/WHO GPA DIR 94.4.pdf

WHO, 1994, "Report of a consultation on Women and HIV/AIDS, Geneva, 6-8 December 1993," World Health Organization, Global Programme on AIDS. http://whqlibdoc.who.int/hq/1994/WHO_GPA_DIR_94.1.pdf

WHO, June 2000, "Information Fact Sheet: Women and HIV/AIDS," World Health Organization. http://www.who.int/inf-fs/en/fact242.html.

Economic Issues

Business and Industry

International Aids Trust, 2001, "The HIV/AIDS crisis: How are African businesses responding?" U.S. Agency for International Development (USAID), Washington, D.C. www.usaid.gov/pop_health/aids/Publications/docs/hivaidsbusinessrespond.pdf

International Labour Organization, 2000, "HIV/AIDS: A threat to decent work, productivity and development," ILO, Geneva.

International Labour Organization, 2001, <u>An ILO Code of Practice on HIV/AIDS and the World of Work</u>, ILO, Geneva.

London, L., 1998, "AIDS control and the workplace: The role of occupational health services in South Africa," <u>International Journal of Health Services</u>, Vol. 28:3, 575-591.

McDonald, M., E. Spreger and I. Dubel, 1999, <u>Gender and Organizational Change: Bridging the Gap between Policy and Practice</u>, Royal Tropical Institute (KIT), Amsterdam.

Globalization and Trade

*Altman, Dennis, 2001, Global Sex, University of Chicago Press, Chicago, Ill.

Arndt, C. and J.D. Lewis, 2000, "The macro implications of HIV/AIDS in South Africa: A preliminary assessment," Presented to IAEN Conference, July 2000, World Bank.

Bancroft, Angus, Mar 2001, "Globalization and HIV/AIDS: Inequality and the boundaries of a symbolic epidemic," <u>Health, Risk & Society</u>, Vol. 3:1, 88-98.

Chabal, P. and J.P. Daloz, 1999, <u>Africa Works: Disorder as Political Instrument</u>, The International African Institute, London.

Fall, Yassine, 1999, <u>Africa: Gender, Globalization and Resistance</u>, AAWORD book series, African Association of Women for Research and Development, Nairobi.

Fontana, M., S. Joekes, and R. Masika, 1998, "Global trade expansion and liberalization: Gender issues and impacts," BRIDGE Report 42. Institute of Development Studies, UK.www.ids.ac.uk/bridge/re42.pdf

Hong, Evelyne, 2000, "Globalization and the impact on health. A Third World view," Paper prepared for The People's Health Assembly, December 4-8, 2000, Savar, Bangladesh. http://www.phamovement.org/issue-evelyne.pdf

Keller-Herzog, A., 1996, "Globalization and gender--Development perspectives and interventions," Canadian International Development Agency, (CIDA). http://www.acdi-cida.gc.ca/cida_ind.nsf/8949395286e4d3a58525641300568be1/a14f0eb58e1b97138525694f005 aa5d5?OpenDocument

Zeitz, P., S. Rosen and J. Simon, 2000, "Implementing debt relief to accelerate the HIV/AIDS response in sub-Saharan Africa," In: <u>HIV/AIDS in the Commonwealth 2000/1</u>, Commonwealth Secretariat, Kensington Publications, London.

Health Care

Alagiri, Priya, Chris Collins, Todd Summers, Steve Morin, and Thomas Coates, 2001, "Global spending on HIV/AIDS. Tracking public and private investments in AIDS prevention, care, and research," The Henry J. Kaiser Family Foundation, (fact sheet) www.kff.org/content/2001/20010627a/globalspendingfactsheet.pdf

*Castro-Leal, F., J. Dayton, L. Demery and K. Mehra, 2000, "Public spending on health care in Africa: Do the poor benefit?" <u>Bulletin of the World Health Organization</u>, Vol. 78:1, 66-74. http://www.who.int/bulletin/pdf/2000/issue1/bu0201.pdf

Hansen, K. et al., 1998, "The cost of home-based care for HIV/AIDS patients in Zimbabwe," AIDS Care, Vol. 10:6, 751-759.

Panos Institute, 1992, <u>The Hidden Cost of AIDS</u>, <u>The Challenge of HIV to Development</u>, Panos Books, London.

World Health Organization Global Programme on AIDS, 1994, "The cost of HIV/AIDS. Prevention strategies in developing countries," WHO, Geneva, Switzerland.

Information Technology

Boafo, S.T. and Carlos A. Arnaldo, 2000, <u>Media and HIV/AIDS in East and Southern Africa: A resource book</u>, United Nations Educational, Scientific and Cultural Organization (UNESCO).

Everts, Saskia, 1998, <u>Gender and Technology: Empowering Women, Engendering Development,</u> Zed Books, London.

Frankson, Joan Ross, 2000, "Gender Mainstreaming in Information and Communications, A Reference Manual for Governments and Other Stakeholders," Gender Management Series, Commonwealth Secretariat, London.

Rathgeber, Eva M. and Edith Ofwona Adera (eds.), 2000, "Gender and the information revolution in Africa," International Development Research Centre (IDRC), Ottawa, 266 p. http://www.idrc.ca/acb/showdetl.cfm?&DID=6&Product_ID=547&CATID=15

Microcredit

Marleau, Diane, 19 March 1998, "Microcredit helps millions of women escape poverty," <u>The Mail-Star</u>, B3, Halifax, Nova Scotia.

Sisli, E., 2000, "Empowering the victims via microcredit," 13th International AIDS Conference, Durban.

UNICEF, 1997, "Give us credit: How access to loans and basic social services can enrich and empower people," United Nations Children's Fund (UNICEF), New York.

Poverty

Cohen, D., 1998, "Poverty and HIV/AIDS in sub-Saharan Africa," Issues Paper #27, UNDP, HIV and Development Programme. http://www.undp.org.hiv

*Farmer, Paul, Margaret Connors and Janie Simmons (eds), 1997, <u>Women, Poverty, and AIDS:</u> <u>Sex, Drugs, and Structural Violence,</u> Common Courage Press.

Loewenson, Rene and Alan Whiteside, 2001, "HIV/AIDS. Implications for poverty reduction," United Nations Development Program (UNDP). www.undp.org/dpa/frontpagearchive/2001/june/22june01/hiv-aids.pdf

O'Reilly C. and A. Gordon, 1995, <u>Survival Strategies of Poor Women in Urban Africa: The Case of Zambia</u>, Natural Resources Institute.

Oxaal, Zoe, 1998, "Health and poverty: A gender analysis" Briefing prepared for the Swedish International Development Agency (SIDA), BRIDGE Report 46. Institute of Development Studies, UK. http://www.ids.ac.uk/bridge/Reports/re46c.pdf

Rwabukwali, Charles Barwogeza, 1996, <u>Gender, Poverty, and AIDS in Kabarole, Western Uganda:</u> The sociocultural context of risk and prevention behaviors, UMI, Ann Arbor, MI.

Shames, Stephen, 2000, "Uganda's brave fight against poverty and AIDS," <u>Choices: The Human Development Magazine</u>, UNDP, New York. http://www.undp.org/dpa/choices/2000/september/p9-11.htm

UNAIDS, 2001, "AIDS, poverty reduction and debt relief. A toolkit for mainstreaming HIV/AIDS programmes into development instruments," Best Practice Collection, UNAIDS, Geneva. www.unaids.org/publications/documents/economics/agriculture/JC536-toolkit-E.pdf

Whitehead, Ann and Matthew Lockwood, 1999, "Gendering poverty: A review of six World Bank African poverty assessments," <u>Development and Change</u>, Vol. 30:3, Special issue: Gendered Poverty and Well-being.

Socio-economic impact

AIDSCAP, 1996, "AIDS in Kenya: Socioeconomic impact and policy implications," Family Health International (FHI) and AIDSCAP, Washington.

Ainsworth, M. and M. Over, 1994, "The economic impact of AIDS in Africa," In: M. Essex, et al., AIDS in Africa, Raven Press, New York.

Alaban, Anita and Lorna Guinness, 2000, "Socio-economic impact of HIV/AIDS in Africa," ADF, Joint United Nations Programme on HIV/AIDS (UNAIDS), (PowerPoint presentation)

Barnett, T. and P. Blaikie, 1993, "Simple methods for monitoring the socio-economic impact of AIDS: Lessons from sub-Saharan Africa," In: S. Cross and A.Whiteside (eds.), <u>Facing Up to AIDS</u>: The Socio-Economic Impact in Southern Africa, McMillan, London.

Barnett, T. and A. Whiteside, 2000, "Guidelines for studies of the social and economic impact of HIV/AIDS," Best Practice Collection, UNAIDS, Geneva. http://www.unaids.org/publications/documents/economics/costeffec/JC326-Guideliens.pdf

Cohen, D., 1998, "Socio-economic causes and consequences of the HIV epidemic in southern Africa: A case study of Namibia," Issues Paper #31, UNDP, HIV and Development Programme. http://www.undp.org.hiv.

Cross, Sholto and Alan Whiteside (ed.), 1993, <u>Facing Up to AIDS: The Socio-Economic Impact</u> in Southern Africa, St. Martin's Press, New York.

Parker, Warren, Ulrike Kistner, Stephen Gelb, Kevin Kelly and Michael O'Donovan, 2000, "The economic impact of HIV/AIDS. South Africa and its implication for governance. A Literature Review," Compiled by The Centre for AIDS Development, Research and Evaluation (CADRE) on behalf of USAID through the Joint Center for Political and Economic Studies, USAID. www.jointcenter.org/international/1_lit-review.htm

Schoepf, B.G., 1997, "AIDS, gender and sexuality during Africa's economic crisis," In: G. Mikell (ed) <u>African Feminism</u>, University of Pennsylvania Press, Philadelphia.

Stover, John and Lori Bollinger, 1999, "The economic impact of AIDS," The Futures Group International in collaboration with Research Triangle Institute (RTI), and The Centre for Development and Population Activities (CEDPA). http://www.iaen.org/impact/stovboll.pdf

Uchendu, Patrick Kenechukwu, 1995, <u>Education and Changing Economic Role of Nigerian</u> Women, Fourth Dimension Publishing Co., Nigeria.

*UNAIDS, 2000, "The economic impact of AIDS in Africa. A review of the literature," UNAIDS Background Paper for ADF 2000, http://www.unaids.org/whatsnew/adf/files/eco_impact.pdf

World Bank, 1997, <u>Confronting AIDS: Public Priorities in a Global Epidemic</u>, NY: Oxford University Press.

Structural Adjustment Programs

Baden, S., 1993, "The impact of recession and adjustment on women's work in selected developing countries," BRIDGE Report 15, Institute of Development Studies, U.K www.ids.ac.uk/bridge/Reports/re15c.pdf

Emeagwali, Gloria Thomas (ed.), 1995, Women Pay the Price: Structural Adjustment in Africa and the Caribbean, Africa World Press.

Jones, Christine and Allechi M'bet. 1996. "Does structural adjustment cause AIDS: One more look at the link between adjustment, growth, and poverty," In: M. Ainsworth, L. Fransen, and M. Over (eds.), <u>Confronting AIDS: Evidence from the Developing World, European Commission.</u> http://europa.eu.int/comm/development/aids/limelette/html/lim03.htm

Kiondo, A., 1993, "Structural adjustment and non-governmental organizations in Tanzania: A case study," In: P. Gibbon (ed.), <u>Social Change and Economic Reform in Africa</u>, Uppsala: Nordiska Afrikainstitutet.

Lugalla, J., 1995, "Structural adjustment policies and health policy in Tanzania. Their impact on women's and children's health," Review of African Political Economy, Vol. 63, 43-53.

Sanders, D. and A. Sambo, 1991, "AIDS in Africa: The implications of economic recession and structural adjustment," Health Policy and Planning," Vol. 6:2, 157-165.

Education

AIDS Education

ACT Africa and World Bank, 2000, "Exploring the implications of the HIV/AIDS epidemic for educational planning in selected African countries: The demographic question," ACT Africa (AIDS Campaign Team for Africa) and the World Bank.

%20AIDS%20and%20Education%20Assessment%20-%20with%20source%20lines.doc

Barnett, E., K. de Koning and V. Francis, 1995, "Health and HIV/AIDS education in primary and secondary schools in Africa and Asia," Education Research Paper No. 14, Department for International Development, UK. London.

*Hyde, K.A.L., 1999, "HIV/AIDS and FAWE: Challenges and opportunities," Forum for African Women Educationalists (FAWE), Nairobi.

Kerrigan, D., "Education and HIV/AIDS: Concepts, uses and challenges," HORIZONS/Population Council. www.rho.org/peer_ed_status.pdf

Kinsman, J. et al., Oct 1999, "Implementation of a comprehensive AIDS education program in schools in Masaka District, Uganda," <u>AIDS Care</u>, Vol. 11:5, 591-601.

Klepp, K. S. Ndeki, F. Thuen, M. Leshabari and A. Seha, 1994, "AIDS education for primary school children in Tanzania. An evaluation study," AIDS, Vol. 8, 1157-1162.

Meyer-Weitz, Anna, et al., 1998, "The socio-cultural contexts of sexually transmitted diseases in South Africa: Implications for health education programmes," <u>AIDS Care</u>, Vol. 10:2, Suppl. 1, S39-S55.

Mitchell, Claudia and Ann Smith, Sum/Fall 2001, "Changing the picture: Youth, gender and HIV/AIDS prevention campaigns in South Africa," <u>Canadian Woman Studies</u>, Vol. 21:2, 56-61.

Morrell, Robert, Elaine Unterhalter, Relebohile Moletsane and Debbie Epstein, Sum/Fall 2001, "Missing the message: HIV/AIDS interventions and learners in South African schools," Canadian Woman Studies, Vol. 21:2, 90-95.

Sepulveda, Jaime, (ed.) 1992, <u>AIDS Prevention through Education: A World View, Oxford University Press, NY.</u>

Umeh, Davidson C. (ed.) 1997, <u>Confronting the AIDS Epidemic: Cross-Cultural Perspectives on HIV/AIDS Education</u>, Africa World Press, Inc., Trenton, NJ.

Children and Adolescents

*Bendera, S., 1999, "Promoting education for girls in Tanzania," In: C. Heward and S. Bunwaree (eds.), Gender, Education and Development: Beyond Access to Empowerment, Zed Books, London.

Davison, J., 1993, "School attainment and gender: Attitudes of Kenyan and Malawian parents towards educating girls," International Journal of Educational Development, Vol. 13:4, 331-338.

Human Rights Watch, 2001, "Scared At school: Sexual violence against girls in South African schools," Human Rights Watch, NY. http://www.hrw.org/reports/2001/safrica/

Lawrence, Brenda and Stanley Tshuma, "Gender bias in reading materials in Zimbabwean primary schools," <u>New Era in Education</u>, Vol. 73:3, 89-97.

Leach, F. and P. Machakanja with J. Mandoga, 2000, "Preliminary investigation of the abuse of girls in Zimbabwe junior secondary schools," <u>DFID Education Research Series</u>, Serial No 39, DFID, London.

Swainson, N., S. Bendera, R. Gordon and E. Kadzamira, 1998, "Promoting girls' education in Africa: The design and implementation of policy interventions," Department for International Development, U.K., London.

Tietjen, Karen, 1997, "Educating girls in sub-Saharan Africa. USAID's approach and lessons for donors," Technical Paper No. 54, Health and Human Resources Analysis for Africa Project, USAID, www.info.usaid.gov/regions/afr/abic/tp54.pdf

Wamahiu, S.P., 1996, "The pedagogy of difference: An African perspective," In: P.F. Murphy and C.V. Gipps (eds.), <u>Equality in the Classroom: Towards Effective Pedagogy for Girls and</u> Boys, Falmer Press/UNESCO, London, 46-58.

Gender and Development

Bollag, Burton, March 2, 2001, "African universities begin to face the enormity of their losses to AIDS: As professors and students die, generations of talent are being lost," <u>The Chronicle of Higher Education</u>, Vol. 47:125, A45-47.

Dorsey, Betty Jo, 1996, "Gender inequalities in education in the southern Africa region: An analysis of intervention strategies," UNESCO. Sub-regional office for Southern Africa, Harare.

Gaidzanawa, Rudo B., 1995, "Gender analysis in the field of education: A Zimbabwe example," In: Ayesha M. Imam, Amina Mama, and Fatou Sow, (eds.) <u>Engendering African Social Sciences</u>, Council for the Development of Economic and Social Research in Africa, Dakar, 271-295.

Hulton, Louise with Dominic Furlong, 2001, "Gender equality in education: A select annotated bibliography," Prepared for the Education Division, Department for International Development, Institute of Development Studies, UK. http://www.ids.ac.uk/bridge/Reports/bb10edw2.doc

Kane, E., L. Bruce and M. O'Reilly de Brun, 1998, "Designing the future together: PRA and education policy in the Gambia," In: J. Holland with J. Blackburn (eds.), Whose Voice? Participatory Research and Policy Change, Intermediate Technology Publications, London, 31-43.

Leo-Rhynie, E., 1999, "Gender Mainstreaming in Education: A reference manual for governments and other stakeholders," Gender Management System Series, Commonwealth Secretariat, London.

Longwe, S.H. 1998, "Education for women's empowerment or schooling for women's subordination?" Gender and Development, Vol. 6:2, 19-26.

Mwiria, Kilemi, 1993, "Kenyan women adult literacy learners: Why their motivation is difficult to sustain," <u>International Review of Education</u>, 39:3, 183-92.

Swainson, Nicola, 1995, "Redressing gender inequalities in education: A review of constraints and priorities in Malawi, Zambia and Zimbabwe," British Development Division in Central Africa (BDDCA), Overseas Development Administration (ODA). http://www.genie.ids.ac.uk/docs/DFID/dif03e/Begin.htm

*Swainson, Nicola, 2000, "Knowledge and power: The design and implementation of gender policies in education in Malawi, Tanzania and Zimbabwe," <u>International Journal of Educational</u> Development, Vol. 20, 49-64.

Health

Access to care, home care

Blinkhoff, P., E. Bukanga, X. Syamalevwe and G. Williams, 1999, <u>Under the Mupundu Tree</u>, <u>Volunteers in Home Care for People with HIV/AIDS and TB in Zambia's Copperbelt</u>, Strategies for Hope Series, No. 14, ActionAid, London.

*BRIDGE (Briefings on development and gender), 1998, "Health and well-being," <u>Development and gender in brief: A quarterly update from BRIDGE, Raising gender awareness among policy-makers and practitioners,</u> Issue 7, Institute of Development Studies, UK. http://www.ids.ac.uk/bridge/dgb7.html

Bujra, J. and C. Baylies, 1999, "Solidarity and stress: Gender and local mobilization in Tanzania and Zambia," In: P. Aggleton, G. Hart and P. Davies (eds.), <u>Families and Communities</u> <u>Responding to AIDS</u>, UCL Press, London.

Hansen, K. et al., 1998, "The cost of home-based care for HIV/AIDS patients in Zimbabwe," AIDS Care, Vol. 10:6, 751-759.

Henry, Kathleen, May 1996, "Women and AIDS care: Coping with "triple jeopardy," <u>AIDScaptions</u>, Vol. II: 3. ftp://lists.inet.co.th/pub/sea-aids/gend/gend6.txt

Kutzin, Joseph, 1993, "Obstacles to women's access: Issues and options for more effective interventions to improve women's health. An independent opinion." World Bank, New York. www.worldbank.org/html/extdr/hnp/hddflash/hcwp/hrwp008.html

Larson, T. and L. Bechtel, March 1995, "Managing the child infected with HIV," <u>Primary Care</u>, Vol. 22:1, 23-50.

Lepage, P. et al., 1998, "Care of human immunodeficiency virus-infected children in developing countries," <u>The Pediatric Infectious Disease Journal</u>, Vol. 17: 7, 581-586.

MacInnis, R., Mar-Apr 1997, "What's care got to do with it? Responding to the AIDS pandemic," <u>AIDSLINK</u>, Vol. 44, 1-3.

MacNeil, J.M. and S. Anderson, 1998, "Beyond the dichotomy: Linking HIV prevention with care," <u>AIDS</u>, Vol. 12, Suppl. 2, S19-S26.

Ntozi, J.P.M. and S. Nakayiwa, !999, "AIDS in Uganda: How has the household coped with the epidemic?" In: J.C. Caldwell, I.O. Orubuloye and J.P.M. Ntozi (eds.), <u>The Continuing African HIV/AIDS Epidemic</u>, Health Transition Centre, National Centre for Epidemiology and Population Health, Australian National University, Canberra.

Obbo, Christine, 1998, "Who cares for the carers? AIDS and women in Uganda," In: Holger Bernt Hansen and Michael Twaddle (eds.), <u>Developing Uganda</u>, Ohio University Press, Athens, Ohio, 207-214.

Ojanuga, D.N. and C. Gilbert, 1992, "Women's access to health care in developing countries," <u>Social Science and Medicine</u>, Vol. 33:4, 613-617.

Thoman, Joe, 1998, "Access to AIDS treatment in developing countries: A global issue of equity and human rights," World Bank. http://www.worldbank.org/aids-econ/arv/thomas/

Tindi, S., J.K. Nyaundi, and J.M. Ojiambo, 2000, "A review of household and community responses to the HIV/AIDS epidemic in the rural areas of sub-Saharan Africa," UNAIDS, Geneva.

UNAIDS, 1999, "Comfort and hope: Six case studies on mobilizing family and community care for and by people with HIV/AIDS," UNAIDS, Best Practice Collection. www.unaids.org/publications/documents/responses/community/una99e10.pdf

Breastfeeding

Hira, S., G. Mangrola, C. Mwale, C. Chintu, et al., 1990, "Apparent vertical transmission of human immunodeficiency virus type 1 by breastfeeding in Zambia," <u>Journal of Paediatrics</u>, Vol. 117:3, 421-424.

Israel, E. and D. Huber, 1999, "HIV transmission through breastfeeding," <u>Technical Guidance Series</u>, No. 1, Pathfinder International. www.pathfind.org/html/Publications/PDF/master final3.PDF

Preble, Elizabeth A. and Ellen G. Piwoz, 1998, "HIV and infant feeding: A chronology of research and policy advances and their implications for programs," The LINKAGES Project and The Support for Analysis and Research in Africa (SARA) Project, Academy for Educational Development, Washington, D.C.

http://sara.aed.org/publications/cross cutting/hiv infant/html/infant.htm

*White, Edith, 1999, <u>Breastfeeding and HIV/AIDS: The Research, the Politics, the Women's Responses</u>, McFarland & Co.

Data, research

COHRED-WGPS (Council on Health Research for Development Working Group on Priority Setting,) 2000, "Priority setting for health research: Lessons from developing countries," <u>Health Policy and Planning</u>, Vol. 15, 130-136.

IGWG, 1999, "Research gaps related to gender issues and population, health, and nutrition programs: An analysis," Research and Indicators Subcommittee of the Interagency Gender Working Group.

http://www.prb.org/Content/NavigationMenu/Measure Communication/Gender3/Research Gaps_Related_to_Gender_Issues_and_Population,_Health,_and_Nutrition_Programs_An_Analysis.htm

Schoepf, B.G., 1993, "AIDS action-research with women in Kinshasa, Zaire," <u>Social Science and Medicine</u>, Vol. 37:11, 1401-1413.

Seeley, J.A., J.F. Kengeya-Kayondo and D.W. Mulder, 1992, "Community-based HIV/AIDS research--Whither community participation? Unsolved problems in a research programme in rural Uganda," <u>Social Science and Medicine</u>, Vol. 34:10, 1089-1095.

Demographic impact

Bourne, D., 2000, "Demographic implications for development in southern Africa as a result of the AIDS epidemic. A graphical review," <u>Urban Health and Development Bulletin</u>, 3:2.

Kamuzora, C.L, 2000, "The demographic impact of HIV/AIDA in Africa," Joint Population Conference: The Demographic Impact of HIV/AIDS in South Africa and its Provinces, 2-6 Oct., Port Elizabeth, HEARD (Health Economic and HIV/AIDS Division), University of Natal, Durban, South Africa. http://www.und.ac.za/und/heard/

Timaeus, I.M., 1998, "Impact of the HIV epidemic on mortality in the sub-Saharan Africa: Evidence from national surveys and censuses," AIDS, Vol. 12, Suppl. 1, S15-27.

UNAIDS, 2000, "Report on the global HIV/AIDS epidemic, June 2000." UNAIDS, Geneva. http://www.unaids.org/epidemic_update/report/

UNAIDS, Dec 2001, "AIDS epidemic update," UNAIDS, Geneva. http://www.unaids.org/epidemic update/report dec01/index.html

Drugs

Avert, 2002, "HIV & AIDS. Drugs in Africa," Avert, an International AIDS Education and Medical Research Charity, www.avert/org/aidsdrugsafrica.htm

BBC News, 25 June, 2001, "US drops Brazil AIDS drugs case," http://news.bbc.co.uk/hi/english/business/newsid_1407000/1407472.stm

*CCISD, 2001, "The opportunities and challenges of introducing anti-retroviral therapy (ART) in resource-poor settings." A consensus statement by organizations delivering AIDS projects for the Canadian International Development Agency (CIDA,) Centre for International Cooperation in Health and Development (CCISD).

http://www.cpha.ca/english/intprog/ART/ART_Consensus.pdf

CNN, 29 Jan 2002, "Generic AIDS drugs imported into South Africa, despite ban," http://www.cnn.com/2002/HEALTH/conditions/01/29/safrica.aids.patents/index.html

Culnane, M. et al., 13 Jan 1999, "Lack of long-term effects of in utero exposure to zidovudine among uninfected children born to HIV-infected women," <u>Journal of the American Medical</u> Association, Vol. 281:2, 151-157.

Detels, R. et al., 4 Nov 1998, "Effectiveness of potent antiretroviral therapy on time to AIDS and death in men with known HIV infection duration," <u>Journal of the American Medical Association (JAMA)</u>, Vol. 280: 17, 1497-1503.

Ezzell, Carol and Karin Retief, Nov 2000, "AIDS drugs for Africa," <u>Scientific American</u>, Vol. 283: 15, 98-104.

Floyd, K. et al, 1998, "Cost and financing aspects of providing anti-retroviral therapy: A background paper," World Bank. www.worldbank.org/aids-econ/arv/floyd/index.htm

Gahagan, Jacqueline and Charlotte Loppie, Sum/Fall 2001, "Counting pills or counting on pills? What HIV+ women have to say about antiretroviral therapy," <u>Canadian Woman Studies</u>, Vol. 21:2, 118-123.

Geloo, Zarina, 2001, "Zambia: Growing resistance to life-prolonging AIDS drugs," The Third World Network. http://www.twnside.org.sg/title/prolong-cn.htm

Guay, L. et al., Sept, 1999, "Intrapartum and neonatal single-dose nevirapine compared with zidovudine for prevention of mother-to-child transmission of HIV-1 in Kampala, Uganda: HIVNET 012 randomised trial," <u>Lancet</u>, Vol. 354, 795-802.

Health Gap, Global Access Project, 2001, "Myths and realities in the global struggle for AIDS treatment access," Health Gap, Global Access Project. http://www.globaltreatmentaccess.org/MYTHS.pdf

International AIDS Vaccine Initiative (IAVI), 2000, "Scientific blueprint 2000: Accelerating global efforts in AIDS vaccine development, IAVI, http://www.iavi.org/science/index.asp

Marseille, E. et al., 4 September 1999, "Cost effectiveness of single-dose nevirapine regimen for mothers and babies to decrease vertical HIV-1 transmission in sub-Saharan Africa," <u>Lancet</u>, Vol. 354: 9181, 803-809.

Ogden, Richard C. and Charles W. Flexner (eds.), 2001, <u>Protease Inhibitors in AIDS Therapy</u>, Marcel Dekker, New York.

Epidemiology

Daley, C. et al., 1999, "International epidemiology of HIV/AIDS." In: M.A. Sand, P. Volberding and P.Y. Cohen (eds.), The <u>AIDS Knowledge Base: A Textbook on HIV Disease from the University of California, San Francisco and San Francisco General Hospital, Lippincott, Williams and Wilkins, Philadelphia, PA. 23-41.</u>

Grant, A.D., G. Djomand and K.M. De Cock, 1997, "Natural history and spectrum of disease in adults with HIV/AIDS in Africa," <u>AIDS</u>, Vol. 11, Suppl. B, S43-54.

NACP (National AIDS Control Programme, Tanzania,) 1999, "HIV/AIDS/STD Surveillance report No 13," Dar es Salaam.

Tembo, G., 2000, "An overview of the epidemiology of HIV in Africa," In: <u>HIV/AIDS in the Commonwealth 2000/1</u>, Commonwealth Secretariat, London.

UNAIDS/WHO, 2001, "Global HIV/AIDS surveillance. Epidemiological fact sheets by country," UNAIDS. http://www.unaids.org.

Volberding, Paul A. and Mark A. Jacobson, 2001, <u>AIDS Clinical Review 2000/2001</u>, Marcel Dekker, New York.

Female control

Elias, C.J. et al., 1996, "Women-controlled HIV prevention methods," In: J. Mann and D. Tarantola (eds.), <u>AIDS in the World II: Global Dimensions, Social Roots, and Responses, The Global AIDS Policy Coalition,</u> Oxford University Press, New York.

Family Health International, 2000, "Female barrier methods," <u>Network</u> 20:2. <u>www.fhi.org/en/fp/fppubs/network/v20-2/index.html</u>

Gottemoeller, M., 1999, "Microbicides: New hope for HIV protection," Paper presented at the XII International Conference on AIDS and STDs in Africa, Lusaka 12-16 September.

Hart, G., R. Pool, G. Green, S. Harrison, S. Nyanzi and J. Whitworth, 1999, "Women's attitudes to condoms and female-controlled means of protection against HIV and STDs in South-Western Uganda," <u>AIDS Care</u>, Vol. 11:6, 687-698.

Kaler, A., 1999, "'It's some kind of empowerment:' The ambiguity of the female condom as a marker of female empowerment," Paper presented at the Fertility in Southern Africa Workshop, London, 22-24 September.

Kapiga, S.H., G.K. Lwihula and J.F. Shao, et al, "May-June 1995, "Predictors of AIDS. Knowledge, condom use and high-risk sexual behavior among women in Dar es Salaam, Tanzania," International Journal of STD and AIDS, Vol. 6:3, 175-183.

Kerrigan, Deanna, et al., 2000, "The female condom: Dynamics of use in urban Zimbabwe," <u>Horizons</u>, The Population Council. http://www.popcouncil.org/horizons/fcz.html

*Lerner, Sharon, 2001, "Product to protect women from HIV is elusive," in <u>The New York Times</u>, 3 July 2001.

Van Damme, L and Z. Rosenberg, 1999, "Microbicides and barrier methods in HIV transmission," <u>AIDS</u>, Vol. 13. Suppl. A., S85-S92.

Van de Wijgert, J. and C. Coggins, Jan. 2002, "Microbicides to prevent heterosexual transmission of HIV: Ten years down the road," AIDScience, Vol. 2:1.

UNAIDS, 2000, "Female condom. A guide for planning and programming," The Joint United Nations Programme on HIV/AIDS (UNAIDS) and World Health Organization (WHO), 2000. http://www.unaids.org/publications/documents/care/fcondoms/jc301-femcondguide-e.pdf

WHO, June 2000, "Information fact sheet: Women and microbicides," World Health Organization. www.who.int/inf-fs/en/fact246.html

Health care systems

Chela, C., I. Campbell and Z. Siankanga, 1989, "Clinical care as part of integrated AIDS management in a Zambian rural community," <u>AIDS Care</u>, Vol. 1:3, 319-325.

DANIDA, "Health care projects. Women in Development (WID) Checklists," 1996, Danish International Development Agency. www.um.dk/udenrigspolitik/udviklingspolitik/evaluering/1996-6-3/1996-6-3.annex3.html

Hutchinson, Paul, 1999, "Health care in Uganda: Selected issues," World Bank Discussion Paper No. 404, World Bank, Washington, D.C.

ISDS (Initiative for Sub-District Support), 1998, "The development of the district health system in South Africa: Lessons learnt from the experiences of ISDS," Health Systems Trust, Durban, South Africa. Technical Report 5. http://www.healthlink.org.za/hst/isds

Kaleeba, N. et al., 1997, "Participatory evaluation of counseling, medical and social services of The AIDS Support Organization (TASO) in Uganda," <u>AIDS Care</u>, Vol. 9:1, 13-26.

Loewenson, R., 2000, "Public participation in health: Making people matter," Training and Research Support Centre (TARSC), Zimbabwe, and Institute of Development Studies (IDS), UK.

Sanei, L., 2000, "Palliative care for HIV/AIDS in less developed countries," The Synergy Project, Discussion Paper No 3, HIV/AIDS Division of USAID, Washington, D.C.

*Turshen, Meredith, 1999, <u>Privatizing Health Services in Africa</u>, Rutgers University Press, New Brunswick, NJ.

Van Pragg, T., 1998, "Care programmes for people living with HIV/AIDS," In: <u>Operational Approaches to the Evaluation of Major Program Components</u>, Noriego-Minichiello, World Health Organization.

Male contraceptive use

*MacPhail, C. and C. Campbenn, June 2001, "'I think condoms are good but, aai, I hate those things': Condom use among adolescents and young people in a southern African township," <u>Social Science and Medicine</u>, Vol. 52:11, 1613-1627.

Mati, J.K.G. et al, 1995, "Contraceptive use and the risk of HIV infection in Nairobi, Kenya," <u>International Journal of Gynecology and Obstretics</u>, Vol. 48, 61-67.

Mnyika, K., K.I. Klepp, G. Kvale, A. Schreiner and A.M. Seha, 1995, "Condom awareness and use in the Arusha and Kilimanjaro regions, Tanzania: A population-based study," <u>AIDS</u> Education and Prevention, Vol. 7:5, 403-414.

Mnyika, K.S., G. Kvale and K.I. Klepp, 1995, "Perceived function and barriers to condom use in Arusha and Kilimanjaro regions of Tanzania," <u>AIDS Care</u>, Vol. 7:5, 295-305.

Preston-Whyte, E., 1999, "Reproductive health and the condom dilemma: Identifying situational barriers to HIV protection in South Africa," In: Caldwell, J. et al., <u>Resistances to Behavioural Change to Reduce HIV/AIDS Infection in Predominantly Heterosexual Epidemics in Third World Countries</u>, Australian National University, Canberra, Australia, 139-155.

Opportunistic diseases

Chaisson, R. et al., 1998, "Impact of opportunistic disease on survival in patients with HIV infection," <u>AIDS</u>, Vol. 12:1, 29-33.

Chokunonga, E., L.M. Levy and M.T. Basset et al., Dec. 24, 1999, "AIDS and cancer in Africa: The evolving epidemic in Zimbabwe," AIDS, Vol. 13:18, 2583-8.

PATH (Program for Appropriate Technology in Health), 1999, "Tuberculosis: A global health emergency," Outlook, 17:3 (Nov 1999). www.path.org/outlook/html/17_3.htm

UNAIDS, 1998, "HIV-related opportunistic diseases," UNAIDS Technical update, UNAIDS, Geneva.

www.unaids.org/publications/documents/impact/opportunistic/opportue.pdf

Parent-to-child transmission

Coovadia, H.M. and A. Coutsoudis, Aug 2000, "HIV in pregnancy: Strategies for management," <u>Seminars in Neonatology</u>, Vol. 5:3, 181-8.

Dabis, F. et al., 2001, "Prevention of mother-to-child transmission of HIV in developing countries: Recommendations for practice," <u>Health Policy and Planning</u>, Vol. 15:1, 34-42.

Gibb, D.M. and B.H. Tess, 1999, "Interventions to reduce mother-to-child transmission of HIV infection: New developments and current controversies," AIDS, Vol. 13 (Suppl. A), S93-S102.

Health Canada, 2000, "Perinatal transmission of HIV". <u>HIV/AIDS Epi Updates</u>, Bureau of HIV/AIDS, STD and TB, LCDC, HPB. Health Canada, Ottawa.

Luo, C., Nov 1999, "Strategies for prevention of mother-to-child transmission of HIV," Reproductive Health Matters, Vol. 8:16, 144-155.

*Preble, Elizabeth A. and Ellen G. Piwoz, 2001, "Prevention of mother-to-child transmission of HIV in Africa. Practical guidance for programs," Support for Analysis and Research in Africa (SARA) Project, Academy for Educational Development, Washington, D.C. www.aed.org/publications/healthpublications/mtctjuly17.pdf

Newell, M.L., June, 1999, "How can we prevent mother-to-child transmission of HIV infection?" <u>IPPF Medical Bulletin</u>, Vol. 33:3, 1-3. http://mirror.ippf.org/medical/bulletin/pdf/e9906.pdf

Rutenberg, Naomi, Mary Lyn Field-Nguer and Laura Nyblade, 2001, "Community involvement in the prevention of mother-to-child transmission of HIV: Insights and recommendations," Population Council and International Center for Research on Women. http://www.popcouncil.org/pdfs/mtct.pdf

Soderlund, N. et al., 19 June 1999, "Prevention of vertical transmission of HIV: Analysis of cost effectiveness of options available in South Africa," <u>British Medical Journal</u>, Vol. 318, 1650-1656. www.bmj.com/cgi/content/full/318/7199/1650

Prevention and control

AIDSCAP, 1997, "Making prevention work: Global lessons learned from the AIDS Control and Prevention (AIDSCAP) Project 1991-1997," Family Health International (FHI), Arlington, VA. www.fhi.org/en/aids/aidscap/aidspubs/special/lessons/index/html

Ainsworth, M. and T. Waranya, 2000, "Breaking the silence: Setting priorities for AIDS control in less-developed countries," <u>The Lancet</u>, Vol. 356, 55-60.

Attawell, Kathy and Heiner Grosskurth, 1999, "From knowledge to practice: STC control and HIV prevention," European Commission, Directorate-General for Development, Brussels, Belgium. http://europa.eu.int/comm/dg08/eu hiv aids/index.htm.

Caldwell, J., 1999, "Reasons for limited sexual behavioral change in the sub-Saharan Africa AIDS epidemic, and possible future intervention strategies," In: Caldwell, J. et al. (eds.) Resistances to Behavioural Change to Reduce HIV/AIDS Infection in Predominantly Heterosexual Epidemics in Third World Countries, Australian National University, Canberra, 241-250.

Campbell, C. and B. Williams, 1999, "Beyond the biomedical and behavioural: Towards an integrated approach to HIV prevention in the southern African mining industry," <u>Social Science and Medicine</u>, Vol. 48:11, 1625-1639.

Epstein, Helen and Lincoln Chen, "Can AIDS be stopped?" <u>The New York Times Review of Books</u>, March 14, 2002. <u>www.nybooks.com/articles/15188</u>.

Gregson, S., T. Zhuwau, R. Anderson and S. Changiwana, 1998, "Is there evidence for behaviour change in response to AIDS in rural Zimbabwe?" <u>Social Science and Medicine</u>, Vol. 46:3, 321-333.

*Gupta, Geeta Rao, May, 1996, "Opinion: Gender and HIV/AIDS: Transforming prevention programs, <u>AIDScaptions</u>, Vol. II: No. 3. <u>www.fhi.org/en/aids/aidscap/aidspub/serial/captions/v2-3/cp232.html</u>

Gupta, Geeta Rao, Nov 2000, "The best of times and the worst of times: Implications of scientific advances in HIV prevention for women in the developing world," <u>Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences</u>, Vol. 918, 16-21.

Family Health International Aids Control Prevention Project (FHI-AIDSCAP), 1996, "How to create an effective peer education project: Guidelines for AIDS prevention projects," FHI, Arlington, Virginia.

Heise, L. and C. Elias, 1995, "Transforming AIDS prevention to meet women's needs: A focus on developing countries," <u>Social Science and Medicine</u>, Vol. 40:7, 931-943.

Kilian, A., et al., Feb. 1999, "Reductions in risk behaviour provide the most consistent explanation for declining HIV-1 prevalence in Uganda," <u>AIDS</u>, Vol. 13:3, 391-398.

Kim, Y., A. Kols, R. Nyakauru, C. Marangwanda, and P. Chibatamo, March 2001, "Promoting sexual responsibility among young people in Zimbabwe," <u>International Family Planning Perspectives</u>, Vol. 27:1, 11-19.

Krabbendam, A. et al., 1998, "The impact of counseling on HIV-infected women in Zimbabwe," <u>AIDS Care</u>, Vol. 10 (Supplement 1), S25-S37.

Madunagu, B., 1998, "Curbing the spread of HIV/AIDS in Africa: A focus on women," In: A. Gomez and D. Meacham (eds.), <u>Women, Vulnerability and HIV/AIDS: A Human Rights</u> Perspective, Women's Health Collective.

Merson, M., J. Dayton, and K. O'Reilly, 2000, "Effectiveness of HIV prevention interventions in developing countries," <u>AIDS</u>, Vol. 14 (Suppl. 2). S68-S84.

Morin, Stephen, Margaret Chesney, Thomas Coates in collaboration with the Participants in The Fogarty Workshop on International HIV/AIDS Prevention Research Opportunities, 2000, "Discovering global success: Future directions for HIV prevention in the developing world," University of California San Francisco AIDS Research Institute, Policy Monograph #1. http://www.caps.ucsf.edu/publications/intlmono.html

Murphey, Siobhan M., Gary Brook, and Martin A. Birchall, 2000, <u>HIV Infection and AIDS</u>, 2nd <u>edition</u>, Churchill Livingstone/Harcourt Health Sciences, Philadelphia, PA.

O'Leary, Ann and Loretta Sweet Jemmott, (eds.) 1995, Women at Risk: Issues in the Primary Prevention of AIDS, Plenum Press, NY.

O'Leary, Ann, 1999, "Preventing HIV infection in heterosexual women: What do we know? What must we learn?" <u>Applied and Preventive Psychology</u>, Vol. 8:4, 257-263.

The 1st National African Communities HIV Primary Prevention Conference, March 2000. http://www.napc.org.uk/report%20from%20first%20conf/AricanConferenceReport.pdf

UNAIDS, 2000, "Objectives and ideas for action: 2000 World AIDS Campaign," UNAIDS, Geneva, http://www.unaids.org/wac/2001/Files/WAC Objectives.pdf

UNESCO/UNAIDS, 2000, "A cultural approach to HIV/AIDS prevention and care. Summary of country assessments and project design handbook," UNESCO and UNAIDS, Geneva. http://www.unesco.org/culture/aids/html_eng/manual7.shtml

Wabwire-Mangen, F., C. Li, T. Lutalo and F Nalugoda, Feb. 13, 1999, "Control of sexually transmitted diseases for AIDS prevention in Uganda: A randomized community trial," <u>Lancet</u>, Vol. 353:9152, 525-535.

Weiss, Ellen and Geeta Rao Gupta, 1998, "Bridging the gap: Addressing gender and sexuality in HIV prevention." Findings from the Women and AIDS Research Programs," International Center for Research on Women (ICRW), Washington, D.C.

Wolffers, I., 2000, "Biomedical and development paradigms in AIDS prevention," <u>Bulletin of</u> the World Health Organization, Vol. 78:2, 267-273.

World Bank, 2000, "Intensifying action against HIV/AIDS in Africa: Responding to a development crisis," World Bank, Washington, D.C.

WHO, Special Programme for Research and Training in Tropical Diseases, (TDR), 1997, <u>The Healthy Women Counseling Guide: A model for reaching women: A demonstration package</u>, World Health Organization, Geneva.

Rural/urban implications and migrations

Brockerhoff, Martin and Ann E. Biddlecom, 1999, "Migration, sexual behavior and the risk of HIV in Kenya," <u>International Migration Review</u>, Vol. 33: 4 (128), Winter, 833-856.

FAO, "HIV/AIDS: A rural issue," Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations. http://www.fao.org/Focus/E/aids/aids1-e.htm

Francis, E., 1995, "Migration and changing divisions of labour--Gender relations and economic change in Koguta, Western Kenya," <u>Africa,</u> Vol. 65:2, 197-216.

Haour-Knipe, Mary and Richard Rector, (eds.), 1996, <u>Crossing Borders: Migration, Ethnicity and AIDS</u>, Taylor & Francis, Bristol, PA.

Herdt, Gilbert, 1997, "Sexual cultures and population movement: Implications for AIDS/STDs," In: Gilbert Herdt (ed.), <u>Sexual Cultures and Migration in the Era of AIDS: Anthropological and Demographic Perspectives</u>, Oxford University Press, Oxford, 3-22.

Jochelson, K., M. Mothibeli and J.P. Leger, 1991, "Human immunodeficiency virus and migrant labour in South Africa," International Journal of Health Services, Vol. 21:1, 157-173.

Lurie, M., A. Harrison, D. Wilkinson and S. Abdool Karim, 1997, "Circular migration and sexual networking in rural KwaZulu-Natal: Implications for the spread of HIV and other sexually transmitted diseases," <u>Health Transition Review, Supplement</u>, Vol. 3, 17-27.

McGinn, Therese, Susan Purdin, Sandra Krause, and Rachael Jones, 2001, "Forced migration and transmission of HIV and other sexually transmitted infections: Policy and programmatic responses," HIV InSite Knowledge Base Chapter. http://hivinsite.ucsf.edu/InSite.jsp?page=kb-08-01-08

Mwale, Genevieve and Philip Burnard, 1992, <u>Women and AIDS in Rural Africa: Rural Women's View of AIDS in Zambia</u>, Avebury, Aldershot.

Orubuloye, I.O. and Pat Caldwell, June 1993, "The role of high-risk occupations in the spread of AIDS: Truck drivers and itinerant market women in Nigeria," <u>International Family Planning Perspectives</u>, Vol. 19:2, 817-848.

Pick, W. and D. Cooper, Mar 1997, "Urbanization and women's health in South Africa," <u>African Journal of Reproductive Health</u>, (Nigeria), Vol. 1:1, 45-55.

Testing

Bennett, R., 1997, "Mandatory testing of pregnant women and newborns: A necessary evil?" AIDS/STD Health Promotion Exchange, Vol. 4, 7-8.

Campbell, C. et al., 1997, "The role of HIV counseling and testing in the developing world," <u>AIDS Education and Prevention</u>, Vol. 9, Suppl. B, 92-104.

Department for International Development (DFID) Southern Africa, 2000, "Community-based approaches to voluntary counseling and testing," Report of the meeting held on 12 July 2000, Durban, South Africa. http://216.87.182.29/en/documentation/report_vct_final-9-10-00.pdf

Horizons Project, 2001, "HIV voluntary counseling and testing among youth ages 14 to 21: Results from an exploratory study in Nairobi, Kenya, and Kampala and Masaka, Uganda," Populations Council, Washington, D.C. http://www.popcouncil.org/pdfs/horizons/vctyouthbaseline.pdf

Killewo, J.Z.J. et al., 1998, "Acceptability of voluntary HIV testing with counseling in a rural village in Kagera, Tanzania," <u>AIDS Care</u>, Vol. 10:4, 431-439.

Kipp, Walter, Geoffrey Kabagambe and Joseph Konde-Lule, 2001, "Low impact of a community-wide HIV testing and counseling program on sexual behavior in rural Uganda," AIDS Education and Prevention, Vol. 13:3, 279-289.

McKenna, S. et al., 1997, "Rapid HIV testing and counseling for voluntary testing centres in Africa," AIDS, Vol. 11 (Supplement 1), S103-S110.

Schochetman, Gerald and J. Richard George, (eds.), 1994, <u>AIDS Testing: A Comprehensive Guide to Technical, Medical, Social, Legal, and Management Issues, 2nd edition, Springer-Verlag, NY.</u>

Sweat, M. et al., 8 July 2000, "Cost-effectiveness of voluntary HIV-1 counseling and testing in reducing sexual transmission of HIV-1 in Kenya and Tanzania," <u>Lancet</u>, Vol. 356:9224, 113-121.

Voluntary HIV-1 Counseling and Testing Group, July 8, 2000, "Efficacy of voluntary HIV-1 counseling and testing in individuals and couples in Kenya, Tanzania and Trinidad: A randomized trial," Lancet, Vol. 356:9224, 103-112.

Worthington, H., 1997, "Where voluntary testing has produced results," <u>AIDS Analysis Africa</u>, Vol. 7:6, 3.

Transmission

Bujra, J., 2000, "Risk and trust: Unsafe sex, gender and AIDS in Tanzania," In: P. Caplan (ed.), Risk Revisited, Pluto Press, London.

Campbell, T. and M. Kelly, 1995, "Women and AIDS in Zambia: A review of the psychosocial factors implicated in the transmission of HIV," <u>AIDS Care</u>, Vol. 7:3,365-373.

Carpenter, L, J. Nakiyingi, A. Ruberantwari, S. Malamba, A. Kamali and J.Whitworth, 1999, "Rates of HIV-1 transmission within marriage in rural Uganda in relation to the HIV sero-status of the partners," <u>AIDS</u>, Vol. 13, 1083-1089.

Fransen, Lieve, 1997, "Safety of blood and blood products: An additional burden for the health sector facing HIV/AIDS," In: <u>Confronting AIDS: Evidence from the Developing World</u>, World Bank Policy Research Report, Oxford University Press, Oxford.

Hoelscher, M., G. Riedner, Y Hemed, H. Wagner, R. Korte and F. von Sonnenburg, 1994, "Estimating the number of HIV transmissions through reused syringes and needles in the Mbeya Region, Tanzania," <u>AIDS</u>, Vol. 8, 1609-1615.

Holland, J., C. Ramazanoglu, S. Sharpe and R. Thompson, 1992, "Pressure, resistance, empowerment: Young women and the negotiation of safer sex," In: P. Aggleton, P. Davies and G. Hart (eds.), AIDS, Rights, Risks and Reason, Tufnell Press, London.

Leone, Daniel A. (ed.,) 1997, Spread of AIDS, Greenhaven Press, San Diego, CA.

Lugalla, Joe L.P., et al., 1999, "The social and cultural contexts of HIV/AIDS transmission in the Kagera Region, Tanzania," Journal of Asian and African Studies, Vol. 34:4, 377-402.

McFarland, W., J.G. Kahn, D.A. Katzenstein, D. Mvere and R. Shamu, 1995, "Deferral of blood donors with risk factors for HIV infection saves lives and money in Zimbabwe," <u>Journal of Acquired Immune Deficiency Syndrome and Human Retrovirology</u>, Vol. 9:2, 183-192.

McFarland, W., D. Mvere and D. Katzenstein, 1997, "Risk factors for prevalent and incident HIV infection in a cohort of volunteer blood donors in Harare, Zimbabwe: Implications for blood safety," <u>AIDS</u>, Vol. 11:4, Suppl 1, S97-102.

McFarland, W., D. Mvere, W. Shandera and A. Reingold, 1997, "Epidemiology and prevention of transfusion-associated human immunodeficiency virus transmission in sub-Saharan Africa," <u>Vox Sanguinis</u>, Vol. 72:2, 85-92.

Quigley, M. et al. 1997, "Sexual behaviour patterns and other risk factors for HIV infection in rural Tanzania: A case control study," <u>AIDS</u>, Vol. 11, 237-248.

Riehman, Kara S., 1997, "Injecting drug use and AIDS in developing countries," In: <u>Confronting AIDS: Evidence from the Developing World</u>, World Bank Policy Research Report, Oxford University Press, Oxford.

Statements by the WHO collaborating centres on AIDS, "Heterosexual transmission of HIV and certain common social situations," World Health Organization, Global Programme on AIDS. 1989. http://whqlibdoc.who.int/hq/1989/WHO GPA INF 89.5.pdf

Ulin, P., 1992, "African women and AIDS: Negotiating behavioural change," <u>Social Science and Medicine</u>, Vol. 34:1, 63-73.

Treatment

ARHP, 1998, "Treatment strategies for HIV-infected women," <u>Clinical Proceedings</u>, October 1998, 3-22.

Bartlett, John G., 1999, <u>Medical Management of HIV Infection</u>, Johns Hopkins University/Port City Press, Baltimore, MD.

Cotton, Deborah J., (ed.), 1997, <u>The Medical Management of AIDS in Women</u>, John Wiley & Sons, New York.

DiSpezio, Michael A., 1998, <u>Science, Spread, and Therapy of HIV Disease: Everything You Need to Know, But Had No Idea Who to Ask, ATL Press, Inc., Science Publishers, Shrewsbury, MA.</u>

Grosskurth, H. et al, Aug 1995, "Impact of improved treatment of sexually transmitted diseases on HIV infection in rural Tanzania: Randomised controlled trial," <u>Lancet</u>, Vol. 26:346(8974), 530-536.

Huba, G.J. et al. (eds.), 2001, <u>Evaluating HIV/AIDS Treatment Programs: Innovative Methods and Findings</u>, Haworth Press, Binghamton, N.Y.

Kelly, Patricia, Susan Holman, and Rosalie Rothberg, (ed.) 1995, <u>Primary Care of Women and Children with HIV Infection: A Multidisciplinary Approach</u>, Jones and Bartlett, Boston.

Project Inform, 1999, "Gender difference in viral load? <u>Wise Words</u>, Issue 3: HIV/AIDS Treatment Information and Advocacy for Women. <u>www.projinf.org/pub/Ww1/ww_0399.html</u>.

Scheinman, D. and F. Mberesero, 1999, "The Tanga AIDS Working Group: A partnership between traditional healers and biomedical personnel," Paper presented at the First International Conference on Traditional Medicine and HIV/AIDS, Dakar, Senegal, 11-12 March 1999.

UNAIDS, 1999, "Developing HIV/AIDS treatment guidelines," Best Practice Collection, UNAIDS, Geneva.

http://www.unaids.org/publications/documents/health/reform/developingkme.pdf

Willms, D., A. Chingono, M. Wellington, and N. Johnson, 1996, "Designing an HIV/AIDS intervention for traditional healers in Zimbabwe," Monograph No. 4 INCLEN Monograph Series on Critical International Health Issues, <u>International Clinical Epidemiology Network</u>, Philadelphia, PA.

Law and Policy

Ethics

Department of Health, 2000, "HIV/AIDS policy guideline: Ethical considerations for HIV/AIDS clinical and epidemiological research," Department of Health, South Africa.

Lurie, Peter, et al., Jan 24, 1994, "Ethical, behavioral, and social aspects of HIV vaccine trials in developing countries," <u>JAMA, The Journal of the American Medical Association</u>, Vol. 271:4, 295-301.

UNDP, 1997, "HIV, ethics, law, and human rights," UNDP.

Wolf, Leslie E. and Bernard Lo, 2001, "Ethical dimensions of HIV/AIDS," HIV InSite Knowledge Base Chapter. http://hivinsite.ucsf.edu/InSite.jsp?page=kb-08-01-05

Human rights

Albertyn, Cathi, 2000, "Prevention, treatment and care in the context of human rights," Paper presented to the UN Expert Group Meeting on Gender and HIV/AIDS, Windhoek, Namibia, 13-17 November. http://www.un.org/womenwatch/daw/csw/hivaids/albertyn.html

Canadian HIV/AIDS Legal Network, 2001, "Human rights, global responsibility and access to treatments in the developing world," Canadian HIV/AIDS Legal Network. http://www.aidslaw.ca/Mainsontent/events/proceedings-agm2001.htm

Cook, R., 1999, "Gender, health, and human rights," In: J. Mann et al. (eds.), <u>Health and Human Rights: A Reader</u>, Routledge, London, 253-264.

CRLP, 2001, "UNGASS on HIV/AIDS: Women's empowerment embraced. Reproductive rights slighted," The Center for Reproductive Law and Policy, New York.

http://www.crlp.org.

Commonwealth Secretariat, 2000, "Gender equality and the judiciary: Using international standards to promote the human rights of women and the girl child." http://www.thecommonwealth.org/dynamic/documents-asp/ViewACategory.asp?CategoryID=5 5&PCID=55

Gostin, Lawrence O. and Zita Lazzarini, 1997, <u>Human Rights and Public Health in the AIDS Pandemic</u>, Oxford University Press, London.

Hamblin, J. and E. Redi, 1993, "Women, the HIV epidemic and human rights: A tragic imperative," United National Development Programme, (UNDP) (Issues Paper No. 8), NY., Paper prepared for the International Workshop on "AIDS: A Question of Rights and Humanity," International Court of Justice, The Hague.

Human Rights Watch, 2001, "In the shadow of death: HIV/AIDS and children's rights in Kenya," Human Rights Watch. www.hrw.org/reports/2001/kenya/

Human Rights Watch, 2001, "Women's human rights," World Reports (2001, 2002), Human Rights Watch. www.hrw.org.

Human Rights Watch, "Africa overview," <u>Human Rights Watch World Report 2002, www.hrw/wr2k2/print.cgi?africa.html</u>.

Human Rights Watch, 2002, "HIV/AIDS and human rights," <u>Human Rights Watch World Report 2002</u>, <u>www.hrw.org/wr2k2/hivaids.html</u>.

UN, 1996, "HIV/AIDS and human rights. International guidelines," Second International consultation on HIV/AIDS and Human Rights, Geneva 23-25 September 1996, organized jointly by the Office of the UN High Commissioner for Human Rights and the Joint UN Programme on HIV/AIDS. http://www.unaids.org/publications/documents/human/law/hright2e.pdf

UNAIDS, "HIV/AIDS Human rights. The HIV/AIDS advocacy kit," UNAIDS, http://www.unaids.org/publications/documents/human/index.htm

UNIFEM, "Gender and HIV/AIDS--Women and human rights," UNIFEM. www.unifem.undp.org/hiv_aids_facts.html
WHO, 2000, "Human rights, women and HIV/AIDS," Fact sheet no. 247, World Health Organization, Geneva. http://www.who.int/inf-fs/en/fact247.html

WiLDAF, 2000, <u>Legal rights organizing for women in Africa: A trainer's manual</u>, Women in Law and Development in Africa, Harare.

Women, Law and Development International, 1997, <u>Women's Human Rights: Step by Step: A practical guide to using international law and mechanisms to defend women's human rights,</u> WomenInk, New York.

Legal Systems and Policy

Achmat, Z., 2000, "Legal strategies to improve access to treatment: An overview of successes and failures," 13th International AIDS Conference, Durban.

Chinkin, Christine, 2001, "Gender mainstreaming in the legal and constitutional sector," Commonwealth Secretariat, London.

Du Guerney, J. and E. Sjoberg, 1993, "Inter-relationship between gender relations and the HIV/AIDS epidemic: Some possible considerations for policies and programmes," <u>AIDS</u>, Vol. 7, 1027-1034.

Feldman, Douglas A., (ed.), 1994, Global AIDS Policy, Bergin & Garvey, Westport, CT.

Gordenker, Leon, Roger A. Coate, Christer Jonsson, and Peter Soderholm, 1995, <u>International Cooperation in Response to AIDS</u>, Pinter/Cassell, NY.

Harvard School of Law and the UNFPA, <u>Annual review of population law</u>, Harvard University, Boston. <u>www.law.harvard.edu/programs/annual review/</u>

"International consultation for policy-makers on women and AIDS in preparation for the Beijing conference, Geneva, 6-8 February 1995" World Health Organization, Gobal Programme on AIDS.

http://whqlibdoc.who.int/hq/1995/GPA DIR 95.2.pdf

Kirikubinza Tibatemwa, Lilian, 1995, "Property rights, institutional credit and the gender question in Uganda," East African Journal of Peace and Human Rights, Vol. 2:1, 68.

O'Farrell, N., 2000, "The Commonwealth and HIV: The need for a country-specific approach," In: <u>The Commonwealth Secretariat, HIV/AIDS in the Commonwealth 2000/01.</u> Kensington Publications, London.

Royal Danish Ministry of Foreign Affairs, 1999, "Women and the law in southern Africa," Royal Danish Ministry of Foreign Affairs (Danida), Copenhagen, Denmark.

Schuler, M.A. (ed.), 1986, <u>Empowerment and the Law: Strategies of Third World Women</u>, Overseas Educational Fund International, Washington, D.C.

Standing, Hilary, 1999, "Frameworks for understanding gender inequalities and health sector reforms: An analysis and review of policy issues," <u>Harvard Center for Population and Development Studies Working Paper Series</u>, No. 99.6. http://www.hsph.harvard.edu/grhf/HUpapers/gender/standing.html

Standing, Hilary, 2000, "Gender--A Missing Dimension in Human Resource Policy and Planning for Health Reforms," <u>Human Resources for Health Development Journal</u>, Vol. 4:1, 27-42.

Stover, J. and A. Johnston, 1999, "The art of policy formulation: Experiences from Africa in developing national HIV/AIDS policies," The Futures Group International, POLICY Project (Occasional Papers No 3), Washington, D.C.

Stiglitz, Joseph, 1999, "Incentives and institutions in the provision of health care in developing countries: Toward an efficient and equitable health care strategy," IHEA Meetings, Rotterdam, June 7, 1999.

http://www.worldbank.org/knowledge/chiefecon/articles/rotter.pdf

West, G.P., 1996, "The integration of HIV/AIDS into national development planning," Durban, South Africa, University of Natal, Economic Research Unit, Occasional Paper No 2 of the ERU Series on HIV/AIDS.

Natural Resource Management

Agriculture

Abroud, Abdillahi, Andrew J. Sofranko, and Serigne Ndiaye, 1996, "The effects of gender on adoption of conservation practices by heads of farm households in Kenya," <u>Society and Natural Resources</u>, Vol. 9, 447-463.

Bryceson, Deborah F., 1995, <u>Women Wielding the Hoe: Lessons from rural Africa for feminist theory and development practice</u>, Berg, Oxford.

De Guerny, J., 1999, "AIDS and agriculture in Africa: Can agricultural policy make a difference?" Food and Agricultural Organization (FAO), Geneva. http://www.fao.org/WAICENT/FAOINFO/SUSTDEV/WPdirect/pdf/aids.pdf

Hirschmann, D., 1995, "Managing equity and gender in an agricultural program in Malawi," Public Administration and Development, Vol. 15:1, 21-40.

Goheen, Miriam, 1996, Men Own the Fields, Women Own the Crops: Gender and power in the Cameroon grassfields, University of Wisconsin Press, Madison, WI.

Keller, B. and D.C. Mbewe, 1991, "Policy and planning for the empowerment of Zambian women farmers," <u>Canadian Journal of Development Studies</u>, Vol. 12:1, 75-88.

Koopman, J., 1998, "Gender and participation in agricultural development planning: Key issues from ten case studies," Sustainable Development Department (SD), Food and Agricultural Organization (FAO), Rome, Italy.

http://www.fao.org/DOCREP/x0254e/x0254e00.htm

Moore, Henrietta L. and Megan Vaughan, 1994, <u>Cutting Down the Trees: Gender, Nutrition, and Agricultural Change in the Northern Province of Zambia, 1890-1990,</u> Heinemann, Portsmouth, NJ.

Neema, Stella, 1998, "Afflicted and affected: Consequences of HIV/AIDS on a farming community in Uganda," Regional Conference for Eastern and Southern Africa, Harare, ISS, Kampala.

Poulsen, Karin and Pernille Soerensen, 1988, <u>Tanzania</u>: "Coffee is for men and bananas are for women": An analysis of women's involvement in rural cooperative societies and women's <u>alternative ways of organizing</u>, University of Copenhagen. Institute of Ethnology and Anthropology, Copenhagen.

Spring, Anita, 1995, <u>Agricultural Development and Gender Issues in Malawi</u>, University Press of America, Blue Ridge Summit, PA.

Topouzis, Daphne and Jacques de Guerny, 1999, "Sustainable agricultural/rural development and vulnerability to the AIDS epidemic," UNAIDS Best Practice Collection, FAO and UNAIDS Joint Publication, Geneva.

http://www.unaids.org/publications/documents/sectors/agriculture/Jc-fao-e.pdf

Verma, Ritu, 2001, <u>Gender, Land, and Livelihoods in East Africa</u>, International Development Research Centre (IDRC), Ottawa.

http://www.idrc.ca/acb/showdetl.cfm?&DID=6&Product ID=593&CATID=15#toc

Environment

Grieser, Mona and Barbara Rawlins, 1996, "Issues in urban and rural environments," GreenCOM Gender Reports, <u>USAID</u>, <u>www.usaid.gov/environment/greencom/pubs12.html</u>.

Sontheimer, Sally, (ed.) 1991, <u>Women and the Environment: A Reader. Crisis and Development in the Third World.</u> Monthly Review Press, New York.

Thomas-Slayter, Barbara and Dianne Rocheleau, 1995, <u>Gender, Environment, and Development in Kenya: A Grassroots Perspective</u>, Lynne Rienner Publishers, Boulder and London.

USAID, 1997, "Women and the environment: The role of gender in effective natural resource management," United States Agency for International Development (USAID), Office of Women in Development. http://www.usaid.gov/wid/pubs/n12.htm

Food Security and Nutrition

ACC/SCN, 2001, "Nutrition and HIV/AIDS," Nutrition Policy Paper No. 20, ACC/SCN, Geneva. http://acc.unsystem.org/scn/Publications/NPP/npp20.PDF

Egal, F. and A. Vlastar, "HIV/AIDS and nutrition: Helping families and communities to cope," FAO and UNAIDS Joint Publication. http://www.fao.org/docrep/X4390t/x4390t04.htm

FAO Committee on World Food Security, 2001, "The impact of HIV/AIDS on food security," Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations, www.ids.ac.uk/eldis/foosec.htm

FAO, 2001, "FAO Gender and Development Plan of Action (2002-2007)," Report from the Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations Conference, Rome, 2-13 November 2001. www.fao.org/docrep/meeting/003/Y1521e.htm

Johnson-Welch, Charlotte, 2000, "Gender and household food security: A lost opportunity," International Food and Nutrition Conference, University of Wisconsin. www.wisc.edu/1tc/live/basg100010a.pdf

Klasen, Stephan, 1996, "Nutrition, health and mortality in sub-Saharan Africa: Is there a gender bias?" <u>Journal of Development Studies</u>, Vol. 32:6, 913-932.

Piwoz, Ellen G. and Elizabeth A. Preble, 2000, "HIV/AIDS and nutrition: A review of the literature and recommendations for nutritional care and support in sub-Saharan Africa," Support for Analysis and Research in Africa (SARA) Project, Bureau for Africa, Office of Sustainable Development, Academy for Educational Development, Washington, D.C. http://www.aed.org/publications/healthpublications/HIVandNutrition.pdf

Taylor, Christopher E. (ed.), 1997, <u>Nutritional Abnormalities in Infectious Diseases: Effects on Tuberculosis and AIDS</u>, Haworth Medical Press, Binghamton, NY.

Watson, Ronald R., (ed.) 2001, Nutrition and AIDS, 2nd edition, CRC Press, Boca Raton, FL.

Water

Adams, W.M., Elizabeth E. Watson and Samuel K. Mutiso, 1997, "Water, rules and gender: Water rights in an indigenous irrigation system, Marakwet, Kenya," <u>Development and Change</u>, Vol. 28, 707-730.

Ball, Anna-Marie, 2001, "Changing women's lives in Zambia," Paper prepared for the 27th WEDC Conference, Lusaka, Zambia, 20-24 August 2001, People and Systems for Water, Sanitation, and Health, Water, Engineering and Development Centre, Zambia.

Commonwealth Secretariat, 1996, <u>A Manual for the Africa Region. Women and Natural Resource Management</u>, Commonwealth Secretariat, London. http://www.thecommonwealth.org/dynamic/documents_asp/ViewACategory.asp?CategoryID=5 5&PCID=55

Globalization Challenge Initiative, 2001, "Tools for advocacy. World Bank water policies undermine public health," Globalization Challenge Initiative--A Project of the Tides Center, Takoma Park, MD.

www.challengeglobalization.org/html/tools/rowden brief.shtml

Kneed, S.B., 1996, "Some factors influencing effective utilization of drinking water facilities: Women, income, and health in rural North Ghana," <u>Environmental Management</u>, Vol. 20:1, 1-10.

Van Wijk, C. and J. Francis, 1997, "Global trends in gender and demand responsive water supply, sanitation and hygiene," Drawn from UNESCO Regional Workshop on Women's Participation in Water Management, Pretoria, South Africa, Nov. 1998, International Water and Sanitation Centre (IRC), www.irc.nl/themes/gender/trends.html.

Wildlife

Nabane, Nontokozo and Gordon Matzke, 1997, "A gender-sensitive analysis of a community-based wildlife utilization initiative in Zimbabwe's Zambezi valley," <u>Society and Natural Resources</u>, Vol. 10, 519-535.

The AIDS Pandemic and Gender: The Socio-Cultural Effects on Development with an Emphasis on Commonwealth Countries

A Selected Annotated Bibliography

Table of Contents

PART I

Gender	87
Concepts and General Information	87
Gender-based analysis and mainstreaming	96
Gender profiles	97
Gender training, methods and manuals	98
HIV/AIDS	99
General information	99
History	103
Africa	103
PART II	
Cultural Contexts, Behaviours and Belief	106
Culture	106
Female genital mutilation	107
Gender communication and socialization	107
Male circumcision	108
Roles and responsibilities	108
Sexual stereotypes	109
Social/Psychological aspects	109
Stigma The little of the state	110
Traditional beliefs	110
Violence against women	111
Differential Impacts on Individuals	111
Adolescents	111
Children and Orphans	112
Men	112
Prostitution	113
Trafficking	113
Widows	114
Women	114
Economic Issues	115
Globalization and Trade	115
Health Care	116
Poverty	117
Socio-economic impact	117

Education	118
AIDS Education	118
Children and Adolescents	118
Gender and Development	119
Health	119
Access to care, home care	119
Breastfeeding	120
Drugs	120
Female control	120
Health care systems	121
Male contraceptive use	122
Parent-to-child transmission	122
Prevention and control	122

PART I

Gender

Concepts and General Information

Baden, Sally and Heike Wach, 1999, "Gender, HIV/AIDS transmission and impacts: A review of issues and evidence," Briefing prepared for the Swedish International Development Cooperation Agency (SIDA), BRIDGE Report 47, Institute of Development Studies, UK. http://www.ids.ac.uk/bridge/Reports/re47c.pdf

This report uses statistical data to examine patterns and trends in the global HIV/AIDS epidemic from a gender perspective. It points out the limitations of the data collection, which includes data not separating sex and data having inadvertent gender bias. For example, women who die of AIDS may be recorded as dying of tuberculosis or pneumonia either because these diseases have less stigma attached or the connection with AIDS isn't realized. In terms of statistics, this reduces the number of women affected, and by extension, the importance of looking at how AIDS is affecting them and society as a whole.

The report examines how HIV/AIDS affects men and women differently. It begins with statistically showing the global sex distribution of HIV/AIDS. Worldwide, 41% of people with AIDS were women. In Sub-Saharan Africa, this number was 50% and growing. Social, cultural and economic norms leading to vulnerability are looked at from a gender perspective. In Uganda, one of three countries used as examples, agriculture creates 2/3 of the GDP. Women are responsible for 80% of agricultural production. Their illness or increased burden of care creates loss of labour as well as loss of cash and subsistence crops. Four out of five children are taken out of school to work. Health services are stressed. Women whose husbands have migrated to the city to work and returned are at great risk of HIV infection.

Factors which increase women and girl's vulnerability to HIV include biological differences, economic and social dependence on men, and lack of power and control over sexual behaviour and AIDS prevention. Wives are often blamed and stigmatized for their husband's illness. Much more needs to be known about the influence of gender on social, economic, and cultural factors and how these impact on AIDS. Data collection which is more gender sensitive is important to understanding and prevention efforts. Finally, the report recommends specific ways to improve data collection and analysis taking gender into consideration.

BRIDGE (Briefings on development and gender), 1997, "Approaches to institutionalizing gender," <u>Development and gender in brief: A quarterly update from BRIDGE, Raising gender awareness among policy-makers and practitioners,</u> Issue 5, Institute of Development Studies, UK. http://www.ids.ac.uk/bridge/dgb5.html.

BRIDGE bulletins are short, useful summaries of issues relevant to policy makers and practitioners with the view of raising awareness of gender in all areas. They provide succinct updates on specific themes such as: gender and participation, trade policy, health and well-being. This issue reviews the concept and necessity of mainstreaming gender into institutional structures and policies. It looks at obstacles and lessons learned from past practices. It also

discusses the concept of empowerment of women and suggests that organizational and institutional awareness and change is necessary if this is to be implemented.

CIDA, 1999, "CIDA's policy on gender equality," Canadian International Development Agency, Ottawa

 $\underline{www.acdicida.gc.ca/cida\ ind.nsf/vall/6F0D1A14114696288525672900660DE5?OpenDocument}$

CIDA's policy on gender equality starts from the premise that gender equality is crucial to improving the well-being of all and to ensuring sustainable development. This policy paper reviews goals and objectives and states eight guiding principles to achieve these goals. These are: that gender equality must be considered an integral part of all CIDA programs; that every policy and program affects men and women differently; that gender equality does not mean that men and women become the same; that women's empowerment is central to achieving equality; that promoting women's participation in social, economic and political processes is essential; that partnership between men and women is necessary; that specific measures designed to eliminate inequality are required; and that CIDA's policies, programs, and projects should contribute to gender equality.

In order to support implementing this policy, the paper provides strategies, activities, and good practices. Particularly useful is a chart which lines up broad themes (poverty reduction; basic human needs; infrastructure services; human rights, democratization and good governance; private sector development; environment; and women in development) to links with gender equality, and then with examples of results.

CEDAW, 2001, "Turning the Tide. CEDAW and the gender dimensions of the HIV/AIDS pandemic," United Nations Development Fund for Women and CEDAW UNIFEM Convention on the Elimination of All Forms of Discrimination Against Women. http://www.undp.org/unifem/public/turningtide/

CEDAW, Convention on the Elimination of All Forms of Discrimination Against Women, is an international policy which consists of a preamble and 30 articles that define what constitutes discrimination against women and creates an agenda for action to end this discrimination. It was adopted in 1979 by the United Nations General Assembly and, as of May 2001, has 168 States parties. These States have agreed to take whatever measures are necessary, including changing their laws, to see that the rights outlined in CEDAW are implemented. Discrimination against women is defined by CEDAW as "...any distinction, exclusion or restriction made on the basis of sex which has the effect or purpose of impairing or nullifying the recognition, enjoyment or exercise by women, irrespective of their marital status, on a basis of equality of men and women, of human rights and fundamental freedoms in the political, economic, social, cultural, civil or any other field."

"Turning the Tide" is a response to the Declaration adopted at the UN General Assembly Special Session on HIV/AIDS (UNGASS) in June 2001 to address the problem of AIDS. The booklet supports the recognition that inequality has resulted in the devastation HIV/AIDS is wrecking on societies. It offers tools to "support efforts to integrate a rights-based approach into

programmes, policies and strategies to respond to the gender dimensions of the pandemic." The booklet is divided into chapters, each of which has three sections. The first identifies aspects of the HIV/AIDS epidemic for which CEDAW has relevance. The second describes steps the State parties need to take to meet their CEDAW obligations. The third quotes articles in the Convention, which relate to the particular issue.

Aspects of the epidemic addressed are: sexual stereotypes and the knowledge gap; physical exposure; gender-based violence and sexual exploitation; gender inequality and safer sex; access to health services; pregnancy and prenatal transmission; care and care-giving; and women's leadership and participation.

Commonwealth Secretariat, 1999, "Advancing the Commonwealth agenda for gender equality into the new millennium (2000-2005): An update to the 1995 Commonwealth plan of action on gender and development," Commonwealth Secretariat, UK. http://www.thecommonwealth.org/gender/htm/whatwedo/why/update.doc

This policy report is an update to the 1995 Commonwealth Plan of Action on Gender and Development. It adopts a gender mainstreaming approach to accomplishing equality between the sexes but points out that where appropriate it will also undertake projects specific to women. Two critical policy areas are addressed as priorities. The first is human rights, peace and political participation. Violence against women is recognized as "an abuse of human rights and as a social problem with significant economic consequences." And women's full and equal political participation is seen as essential to changing inequality. Strategies to achieve these goals include the adoption of human rights legislation, providing training for the criminal justice system, providing support services especially to victims of violence, and strengthening mechanisms for eliminating trafficking of women and children. The Commonwealth Secretariat is committed to helping governments achieve these goals. Among its many activities, it plans to develop a knowledge base by producing policy briefs for policy makers, analyzing date in areas of education and employment, supporting the organization of training workshops; and providing advice on the integration of gender into politics and the peace process.

The second policy area is macroeconomics and social development. Men and women are affected differently by both of these areas and decision makers must take these differences into account. Women's poverty levels are increasing from unequal situations in the labour market, lower levels of education and dependence on social welfare systems. The Commonwealth governments, in part, will monitor the different impact that economic reforms have on women and men, develop strategies to address gender imbalances in key areas, and include gender mainstreaming throughout all sectors at all levels. They will ensure the ongoing collection of sex-disaggregated data for use in economic and social assessments and integrate gender analysis into development of social services and national planning. Strategies of the Commonwealth Secretariat will include working with other agencies to identify gender impacts of economic reform and develop processes to mainstream gender. These might include gender analysis, policy research, gender planning and gender training.

David, Martine, June 1997, "Gender relations and AIDS," Center for International Cooperation and Development. www.ccisd.org/ang/a_documents/a_david.htm

This article is a broad overview of factors that contribute to the risk of HIV infection. It covers a lot of ground in concisely explaining socio-economic factors of gender relations, migration and prostitution, and physiological vulnerability including female genital mutilation. It reviews social discrimination and education, marriage, couple communication and sexual abuse, economic pressures and implications for AIDS prevention. It ends with a brief mention of how women are affected by AIDS as care providers and as infected persons.

Gupta, Geeta Rao, 2000, "Gender, sexuality, and HIV/AIDS: The what, the why, and the how," Plenary Address, XIII International AIDS Conference, Durban, South Africa, July 12, 2000.

Gender and sexuality are major factors in the sexual transmission of HIV as well as in its treatment and care. Addressing the "what", Dr. Gupta explains that gender is not the same as sex. Gender "refers to the widely shared expectations and norms within a society about appropriate male and female behaviour, characteristics, and roles. It is a social and cultural construct that differentiates women from men and defines the ways in which women and men interact with each other." Across cultures there is a distinct difference between men and women's roles and what is socially acceptable. Sexuality is related to gender but is distinct. It includes sexual behaviour that, in turn, also has its distinct social rules. The imbalance of power, which is basic to both gender and sexuality, increases men's, as well as women's, risk of HIV infection.

The "why" looks at women and men's vulnerability to HIV/AIDS giving specific examples of power imbalances. The "how" asks the question "How is one to overcome these seemingly insurmountable barriers of gender and sexual inequality?" Gupta suggests that the first step is to "recognize, understand, and publicly discuss the ways in which the power imbalance in gender and sexuality fuels the epidemic." She notes some programs reinforce damaging stereotypes. This includes portraying males as "predatory, violent, irresponsible," and women as "powerless victims or as repositories of infection." One example of the former is media campaigns to increase condom use depicting the "macho" man.

Gupta then gives examples of gender-sensitive approaches that take into consideration gender differences. Promoting the use of the female condom helps to give women control of their risk. Examples of transformative approaches that seek to address larger contextual issues are given. These include programs that target men to redefine gender norms, ways to influence the attitudes of young boys, and couple counseling. Finally she looks at programs that seek to empower women, which frees both men and women from destructive norms. Ultimately, however, "policies that aim to decrease the gender gap in education, improve women's access to economic resources, increase women's political participation, and protect women from violence are key to empowering women." Gupta concludes by saying, "We know that the customs and practices associated with male and female roles and sexuality in many societies today are compromising the rights and freedoms of individuals and promoting a cycle of illness and death. This must stop. There can be no more powerful reason for change; gender roles that disempower women and give men a false sense of power are killing our young and our women and men in their most productive years. This must change. That is the message that must be communicated."

Hemmati, Minu and Rosalie Gardiner, 2001, "Gender equity and sustainable development," Paper written as part of the Towards Earth Summit 2002 project, UNED Forum. www.earthsummit2002.org/es/issues/gender/gender.PDF.

This is an excellent snapshot of the current global situation of women and gender equity and what must be accomplished to achieve sustainable development. It starts from the premise that "sustainable development requires the full and equal participation of women at all levels." Taking priority gender-sensitive issues, identified by the UN Summit process, as a framework, it addresses: women's human rights and control over their lives; poverty eradication; women's access to, control and management of resources and services; the impacts of globalization; finance for development; and health, including reproductive and environmental health. It points out that these are only a small number of issues that need to be taken into account by policy-makers and stakeholders who are working on solutions and states that a gender mainstreaming approach is required throughout all areas. Written as a briefing paper, it is full of facts and figures and should be useful to someone wanting a quick, thorough overview of gender equity issues in development.

Maritime Centre of Excellence in Women's Health and Ronald Colman, GPI Atlantic, 2000, "Women's health in Atlantic Canada: A statistical portrait," Halifax, Nova Scotia, Canada.

This report is based on a new model of well-being called the "Genuine Progress Index" (GPI), which looks at overall social and economic indicators to measure the well-being of a society. This contrasts with the Gross Domestic Product (GDP) indicator that measures the health of a society by economic growth rate alone. The GDP measurement makes no distinction between economic activity that creates benefit from that which creates harm. In that model, crime, disease, disasters, etc. can make the GDP grow since money is being spent on prisons, drugs, doctors, hospitals, environmental 'clean-up,' etc.

The report is important as an illustration of how a GPI approach to population health addresses social and economic determinants of health from a gender perspective. This approach is more effective and efficient than one that focuses mostly on disease treatment. In addition to being more costly, the "health as absence of disease" model fails to consider factors which profoundly affect the health of populations. In relating primarily to the biomedical symptoms of disease, it fails to confront underlying causes.

The World Health Organization has defined health as "a state of complete physical, mental, spiritual and social well-being, and not merely the absence of disease." Determinants of health, as identified by Health Canada, which must be considered, include education, income, employment status, gender, personal lifestyle, and social supports. The report points out that "understanding these determinants, not only moves us closer to the broader WHO perspective on health, but enables policy makers to target strategic investment in population health that can produce significant savings in later health care cost."

The report lists three main arguments for a gender-based analysis of health. The first is <u>descriptive</u>. Women's health needs are distinct. The second reason is <u>normative</u>; "to ensure equal treatment for women, and the elimination of traditional biases that have impeded women's well-being and progress." And the third is <u>practical</u> and <u>policy-oriented</u>. "Instead of blunt across-the-

board solutions that often miss their mark, waste money, and even cause harm to particular groups, a gender perspective can, quite simply, allow policy-makers to identify and target health care dollars more effectively and accurately to achieve the best return on investment. The more precisely health dollars are directed to high risk groups, the greater the long-term cost savings to the health care system."

Matlin, Stephen and Nancy Spence, 2000, "The gender aspects of the HIV/AIDS pandemic," A paper written for the Expert Group Meeting on "The HIV/AIDS Pandemic and its Gender Implications," 13-17 Nov 2000, Windhoek, Namibia. http://www.un.org/womenwatch/daw/csw/hivaids/matlinspence.html

The authors of this paper look at specific issues in relation to HIV/AIDS and gender and point out problems in these areas that are often overlooked but need to be addressed. These issues involve those of mother and child; education; youth; the labour market; health services; the law; and situations of conflict. They then discuss gender mainstreaming and roles for national women's groups.

In countries where the prevalence of HIV/AIDS is high, the disease is seriously stressing every sector of society. The education sector is particularly vulnerable. Teachers and administrators are becoming infected and dying. Fewer children are being born because of the growing number of young adults infected. Many children born with HIV are not surviving to adulthood. Fewer school-age children are attending school for reasons including inability to pay school fees, needing to care for ill family members, or being needed to help support their families. An education for girls is not considered as important as one for boys.

One area often not mentioned is safety in the schools. The authors suggest aspects that need to be addressed such as safe transport to and from school and safe school environments that avoid sexual exploitation and abuse. The authors suggest positive ways schools can help to prevent transmission, mitigate the impacts, and influence social attitudes and cultural norms. They call on universities and other tertiary institutions to play a major role in developing policy and strategies, and to act as focal points for outreach into the community.

The authors point out that gender must be mainstreamed into every sector. This is not easy. It takes commitment, training and skills in gender-based understanding, analysis and planning. The "systematic and comprehensive effort" needs to involve: "1. Building capacity for training in gender-based analysis for all key professional and workers: requiring developing and producing locally relevant training materials, training of trainers, and allocation of time and resources for training. 2. System-wide processes in each sector that will ensure that programme planning and implementation is rooted in a gender-based approach, with monitoring and evaluation built in. 3. Enhancing capacities for the collection, analysis and use of sex-disaggregated data."

Razavi, Shahrashoub and Carol Miller, 1995, "From WID to GAD: Conceptual shifts in the Women and Development discourse," United Nations Research Institute for Social Development, (UNRISD), Geneva.

http://www.unrisd.org/engindex/publ/list/opb/opb1/toc.htm

This paper provides an introduction to the issues of women and development as they have been conceptualized since the 1970s. The first part of the paper is historical. It looks at the origins of the Women in Development (WID) movement, "selling" WID to development agencies, and the impact of WID. The main emphasis at that time was to influence development agencies to recognize the potential of women's productivity in creating economic growth. Thus, it sought to combine equity with social justice. It was particularly concerned with improving education, employment opportunities, equality in political and social participation, and increased health and welfare services. The dominant feature of this approach, however, was women in isolation. It did identify women's subordination and lack of resources but it did not look at the role of gender relations in restricting women's access in the first place. Also, the emphasis was more on what women could do to "produce" rather than what women need from development.

The second part of the paper examines the current shift in thinking from WID to Gender and Development (GAD.) This shift moves from the purely economic efficiency approach to one recognizing the importance for human and sustainable development. It also recognizes that change for women cannot happen without the cooperation and involvement of men, and that women's issues are interconnected with social, economic, and political issues altogether. This leads to a change from a focus on women-specific projects to mainstreaming women/gender at the program and policy level.

The paper discusses the different ways that researchers and practitioners are using gender. Two frameworks are examined in some depth--the "gender roles framework" and the "social relations analysis." These are then linked to two recent concepts--gender and efficiency at the macro-economic level and empowerment, which is an action-oriented approach.

In conclusion, the authors point out that there has been considerable confusion in states and donor agencies' attempts to mainstream gender. "In some instances, "gender" has been used to side-step a focus on "women" and the radical policy implications of overcoming their disprivilege....the challenge facing planners and policy makers is to operationalize gender. If this challenge is not met, the discursive shift from WID to GAD, which is occurring in many development institutions, will continue to mystify the project of integrating gender into development policies."

Reeves, Hazel & Sally Baden, 2000, "Gender and development: Frequently asked questions," BRIDGE Report 57, Institute of Development Studies, UK. http://www.ids.ac.uk/bridge/reports/re57.pdf

This is a short, clear, easy to read paper offering explanations for 16 frequently asked questions about gender in development, gender analysis and gender mainstreaming by donor agencies. It assumes a basic understanding of the concepts. Questions include: "As a man how is gender relevant to me? I can see how gender is relevant to health, but how is it relevant to economic policy? Haven't we done enough on gender--don't we need to pursue new priorities? How can donors include gender in their work? In order to truly mainstream gender, is significant organizational change required?" In part, the paper points out that there is no strong correlation between high GDP and gender equality. We cannot reduce poverty without addressing the gender inequality of wages, resources, and discrimination in home and work. This is especially true since women and children comprise a large portion of people living in poverty. Gender "isn't a fad but an on-going process of social transformation. This is required to close the persistent

gaps between women and men's life experiences. It does not exclude other development goals but needs to inform them."

Reeves, Hazel and Sally Baden, 2000,"Gender and development: Concepts and definitions," BRIDGE Report 55, Institute of Development Studies, UK. http://www.ids.ac.uk/bridge/reports/re55.pdf.

This paper is a good complement to the one discussed above. It introduces 19 of the most important concepts in the Gender and Development approach in a clear, concise manner and points out their implications for policy and practice. It first presents "quick definitions" in the form of a chart, and then gives more detailed explanations, usually only one page, with suggestions for further reading. Some of the concepts defined include: gender analysis, gender discrimination, gender equality and equity, gender mainstreaming, gender training, national machineries for women, sex and gender, WID/GAD, women's empowerment, and women's human rights.

Smith, Sheila and Desmond Cohen, 2000, "Gender, development and the HIV epidemic," Issues Paper, United Nations Development Programme, New York. http://www.undp.org/hiv/publications/gender/gendere.htm

In spite of policy and programmes designed by public health officials, HIV has spread. Failures of development have created conditions, which allow HIV to thrive. HIV/AIDS must be viewed as a development issue and policies and programmes in the development sector must take the effects of HIV/AIDS on the social, cultural and economic aspects of communities into account. In addition, issues of gender underlie all of these aspects. Nothing can change if the differences between men and women's experience, in all areas, including poverty, access to education, power and responsibility in home and community life, and different legal arrangement for a start, are not taken into account. Issues of gender are central and critical to sustained development.

The effect of the HIV/AIDS epidemic crosses every aspect of life in countries where there is a high incidence and this effect is spreading globally. Life expectancy is reduced, as is the labour force, quantity of exports, and the general economy. Health systems, agriculture, and education are all affected. Unless gender and HIV/AIDS is made integral to policies and programmes, there is not much hope that these will succeed. For example, efforts to increase primary education in Africa must look at the loss of teachers due to AIDS, children's need to work to help alleviate poverty in the family, and how the importance of education for men and women is viewed differently.

In looking at policies that have been beneficial, the authors warn that these cannot always be translated between cultures. There is a need for understanding and reflecting local conditions in policy. They also point out the necessity of empowering women. It should be recognized that women play a critical, but often invisible, role in the social and economic conditions of any culture. Rather than focusing on "vulnerability" which shifts the focus from women's ability to effect changes, programs should highlight women's strengths. Programs to improve women's

access to resources such as education, credit, civil, legal and property rights, health care, and social power are necessary.

UNAIDS, 1999, "Gender and HIV/AIDS: Taking stock of research and programmes," Best Practice Collection, UNAIDS, Geneva.

http://www.unaids.org/publications/documents/human/gender/una99e16.pdf

The framework for this report uses individual and societal vulnerability to HIV/AIDS infection as a basis for looking at the problem. Individual and societal risks both include factors of knowledge (and lack of), attitudes or feelings, and behaviour. Social, economic and political realities of a culture, including issues related to gender which are embedded in the culture, limit the ability of individuals to reduce their risk. If a woman, for example, is not supposed to know much about sex, it hinders the communication with her partner, which is necessary to reduce risk.

The report is divided into two sections which both use this framework. The first reviews public health and sociology research concerning personal and societal risk factors, and points out themes and issues, which have emerged, as well as gaps in our knowledge. Gaps include understanding how gender influence men's knowledge, attitudes and behaviour. The second describes programs which have focused on using gender concerns to reduce the vulnerability to and the impact of HIV/AIDS. It looks at broad themes in individual and societal risks, including programs to improve access to information and development of skills for prevention, and programs to improve women's social and economic status. It concludes by acknowledging the challenge that, at this point, we know more about what needs to be done than about how to do it.

Visvanathan, Nalini, Lynn Duggan, and Laurie Nisonoff (eds.), 1997, <u>The Women, Gender and Development Reader</u>, Zed Books.

After only a few years, this book has become a classic in the field of women and development. Intended to be used by students as an introduction and by development practitioners wanting an intelligent overview, it features leading writers in the field who present an historical, theoretical and global perspective. It outlines established theories, puts them in context of other research, and offers challenges to these theories. As well, it includes case studies from diverse communities in the developing world.

The book is divided into five parts. The first is a series of ten essays looking at key theoretical issues in the "making of the field" including women's roles in economic development, environment, political economy in Africa, patriarchy and gender. The second, "Households and Families," examines, in part, women's informal work, relationships within the family including abusive and dominating ones, and the roots of the African food problem. The next three sections are concerned with women in the global economy, women in social transformation and women organizing for change. Through out the book, ways that structural and economic changes have affected women's lives in less developed areas are discussed.

Vlassoff, Carol and Claudia Garcia Moreno, (article in press, 2002), "Placing gender at the centre of health programming: Challenges and limitations," <u>Social Science and Medicine</u>.

This paper expresses the view that a gender analysis is key to understanding all aspects of health from policy to health care and health status. It looks at why gender has been misunderstood and ignored and discusses five ways that inclusion of a gender analysis can improve health planning and programming. Giving examples from recent research, the authors suggest that gender analysis: 1. Improves detection and treatment of health problems in underreported groups; 2. Improves understanding of the epidemiology of health problems; 3. Elucidates psycho-social dimensions of disease for men and women; 4. Improves relevance of public health services; and increases potential for greater public participation in health. The authors then look at the obstacles and opportunities for placing gender at the centre of health programing and suggest ways to effect change in policy, research, and training of health professionals. Finally, they give practical recommendations for programs and interventions.

Gender-based analysis and mainstreaming

Commonwealth Secretariat and Maritime Centre of Excellence for Women's Health, 2001, "Gender mainstreaming in health and HIV/AIDS. Strategies/Management. A reference manual for governments and other stakeholders," Gender Management System Series, Commonwealth Secretariat, UK.

http://www.thecommonwealth.org/dynamic/documents_asp/ViewACategory.asp?Category_ID=55&PCID=55

The 1995 Commonwealth Plan of Action on Gender and Development identified the creation and strengthening of gender management systems (GMS) as a priority. In response, the Commonwealth Secretariat has developed a series of reference manuals that targets key areas to lead stakeholders through this process. The manuals can be used alone or in tandem with other titles, especially the Gender Management System Handbook, which covers the concepts and framework of the GMS in more detail.

This manual deals with gender mainstreaming in HIV/AIDS strategies and management. It covers an overview of the incidence and risk factors of HIV/AIDS, objectives and mechanisms of the GMS, and a conceptual framework for gender-based analysis and gender mainstreaming. The second section looks at HIV/AIDS in light of gender analysis and discusses issues specifically relating to men, women and young people. Topics, in part, include empowerment, stigma, poverty, and violence.

The manual recognizes that HIV/AIDS is more than a health problem as the disease affects every aspect of life. It relates the need for a multi-sectoral response giving examples of HIV/AIDS issues in agriculture, education, health, labour, and law and justice. Gender-based country case studies and good practices recognize the need for culturally appropriate guidelines. The manifestation of the epidemic is different in every country and must be addressed in its social, economic, political and cultural context. The case studies show that programs that address these contexts in light of gender mainstreaming are more likely to be successful. A gender sensitive checklist to be used as a tool for assessing gender sensitivity in programs and policies and a list of on-line resources are also included.

Maritime Centre of Excellence for Women's Health, 1998, "Lessons from the field: Policy makers and gender-based analysis tools in Canada," A MCEWH Gender and Health Policy Discussion Series Paper, No. 3. MCEWH, Halifax, Nova Scotia, Canada.

In 1998, the Maritime Centre of Excellence for Women's Health conducted a series of interviews with people who had been directly involved with the use of gender analysis tools in developing Canadian public policy. This paper discusses the key findings from those interviews. It also provides a list of gender-related questions to be used as tools in developing and analyzing policy, and an overview of gender-based analysis related activities in Canada.

Obstacles to influencing policy are reported as the first "key finding." Attitudes that don't recognize the importance of gender in all areas of life or are openly hostile to the concept create the first barrier. The lack of resources such as time, money, and adequate data are another difficulty. The third type of barrier is the need for skill and training in order to apply GBA principles. Having tools that are practical, easy to use and understand, and relate to the specific situations of target groups are very important. Also, a means to ensure that gender analysis is incorporated into policy is necessary. This needs direction that is centralized on a high-level as well as ways to include public attention. The last area of consideration includes a discussion of the importance of government and non-government collaborations to ensure the common objective of advancing women's equality. The paper concludes that there is a "wealth of experience and expertise relating to the development and usage of gender-bases analysis tools and principles from which to learn and chart future directions."

Gender profiles

Baylies, Carolyn L. and Janet M. Bujra, 2000, <u>AIDS, Sexuality and Gender in Africa:</u> Collective Strategies and Struggles in Tanzania and Zambia, Routledge, London.

This exceptional book offers a clear understanding of gender relations and the AIDS epidemic in Africa and explores possibilities to address and overturn its causes. It combines the broader, theoretical picture with specific human examples and is one of the best books available on gender and HIV in development. Two hypotheses form the framework for the research. The first is that gendered power relations as they exist in Africa must be taken into account for the success of any intervention. Strategies must address underlying causes. The second is that existing strengths, particularly those of women, should be recognized and used in those interventions. Men must recognize the dangers of inequality and be responsible as well. The research, conducted in towns and villages in Tanzania and Zambia, puts the situation within an historical and cultural context and looks at what has been done successfully through collective activities. Women in Africa have always organized themselves and banded together. The authors note that "examples of women's mutuality, creativity, subversiveness and challenge to men's authority are legion."

Any attempt to control AIDS, at this point, must recognize the all-pervasiveness of the epidemic and work within a perspective that is broader than just dealing with specific health issues. Interventions "need to be embedded in a broader struggle for solutions to people's straightened circumstances, to take on board poverty through income generation projects, ignorance through literacy campaigns, social injustice through political organization, religious

bigotry through bridge building between different faiths and so on." The authors deal with specific difficulties and challenges of this approach. But they also point out positive examples that give fresh insight on "how, while meeting immediate objectives and supporting members, interventions can expose those aspects of gender relations which drive the epidemic and can contribute toward their transformation."

Gender training, methods and manuals

Baume, Elaine, Mercedes Juarez, Hilary Standing, 2001, "Gender and health equity resource guide," Gender and Health Equity Network, a partner of the Health and Social Change Programme at BRIDGE Report, Institute of Development Studies, UK. http://www.ids.ac.uk/bridge/Reports/Geneq.pdf

This is a very comprehensive and useful guide aimed to help policy makers, health practitioners, NGOs, and others working in the field bring gender awareness into their work. It is especially concerned with "policy implementation through flexible planning and management methodologies, accountability structures and participatory approaches." It lists and summarizes a vast array of practical tools and resources that are easily accessible in print or electronically through the Internet and plans to update these periodically. It gives an overview of gender sensitive programmes and projects that have been tried at local and national levels as well as results, lessons learned, and continuing challenges in promoting gender and health equity.

The guide is organized into five areas: gender mainstreaming and organizational change; implementing rights and accountability through networks and advocacy; tools to enhance and implement gender equity; lifespan perspective in gender and health; and specific issues in gender and health equity, including HIV and AIDS. Each area introduces the concepts involved and discusses how gender equity might be achieved. Included are case studies that focus on the developing world with examples of practices that have been useful.

Brooke, P., 1996, <u>Traditional Media for Gender Communications</u>, PACT Publications, New York.

This is a training manual for community facilitators to help them work with families to resolve conflict and stimulate dialogue on gender issues. It is unusual in that it includes the use of traditional drama, songs and dances to help communities diagnose and mobilize for action. It encourages facilitators to adapt the activities in the manual to the specific needs of the community.

Royal Tropical Institute (KIT), 1995, "Facing the challenges of HIV, AIDS, STDs: A gender-based response: Background information, educational tools, resources," KIT, Amsterdam, Southern Africa AIDS Information Dissemination Service (SAFAIDS,) Harare, http://www.kit.nl/information_services/html/gender_pack.asp

One of the most widely distributed and useful resources available, this guide consists of a 52-page book written in plain language and easy-to-photocopy instructional activity cards. Its

objectives are to increase general awareness of the impact that gender has on the HIV/AIDS epidemic, to advocate for the use of this approach, and to provide practical ideas of how this approach can be included into programs and policy at all levels. Personal stories are used to show the effect of gender inequality on female and male risk and coping. The activity cards give examples of how to work with groups in areas such as recognizing stereotypes, discussing sensitive issues in relationships, decision-making in relationships between boys and girls, and mapping and problem-drawing at the community level. Some of the activities described that move beyond the conceptual level are sensitive listening, drama, role playing, using stories to explore gender, and drawing.

UNIFEM, 2000, "Gender, HIV and human rights: A training manual," United Nations Development Fund for Women. www.undp.org/unifem/public/hivtraining

This manual provides a "hands-on" approach for trainers working with groups to increase awareness of gender on HIV/AIDS and human rights and to effect policy. It draws on over ten years experience in the field, analyzing and synthesizing lessons learned into a gender framework. Both qualitative and quantitative information is utilized. The "Forward" proposes questions for consideration: "Would the world have a serious AIDS epidemic today if gender inequalities were less pronounced? If more women had greater control of matters related to their reproductive and sexual health? If they enjoyed greater access to economic opportunities and resources so that they would not need to resort to exploitative occupations? If more men were willing to assume responsibility for preventing HIV transmission and for caring for family members who are HIV-positive?" These questions are explored throughout.

The manual is divided into four sections. The first comprises an overview of the HIV/AIDS epidemic as it relates to gender and human rights. The second and third sections outline actual training modules that can be used in various ways. They can be used 'as is' or parts can be used individually or in different sequences, depending on the trainer's objectives. The first is a one-day training module, "Gender Concerns in HIV and Development." The second module covers a two-day program, "Gender and HIV/AIDS: A Human Rights Approach." Descriptions of both modules include sessions looking at various aspects of the topics and include methods, training aids and notes for the trainer. The last section discusses insights from people who have used the modules in different countries. The manual makes a special effort to be culturally neutral and universally applicable.

HIV/AIDS

General information

Canadian International Development Agency, 2000, "Not just another health issue: The impact of HIV/AIDS on development," CIDA, Ottawa http://www.acdicida.gc.ca/cida ind.nsf/b2a5f300880e7192852567450078b4cb/83179058f8cd 194e852568fc00552618?OpenDocument

This is a succinct, 3 page report of the trends in development that have been observed in Africa that expand the HIV/AIDS epidemic from the health sphere into all area of life. It warns that there are indications that similar trends will affect Asia, Latin America, Europe and North America as well. Useful as a clear overview, in a few paragraphs it highlights the key impacts in the following sectors: demographic, labour market, economic, food security, and social systems including health care, education, and community life. The report says that response must mobilize "all sectors of society: businesses, unions, religious groups, schools, community leaders, service organizations, women's groups, human rights groups, and all government ministries....From the global to the local level, a community-based response now characterizes the battle against HIV/AIDS, as the people of the world transcend geographic, ethnic, religious, social and economic boundaries to fight a virus that knows no borders and gives no quarter."

Gender Orientation on Development (GOOD), 2000, "HIV/AIDS. Grasping the reality of its gender dimension," Annual Conference Report, 11-13 Sept 2000, Oslo, Norway, APRODEV, Gender Orientation on Development, Brussels. www.aprodev.net/files/HIV-AIDS.pdf

This is a report of a conference held in 2000 by GOOD, which is part of APRODEV, an association of ecumenical development and humanitarian aid agencies in Europe. The conference began by recognizing that strategies which promote ABC--Abstinence, Be faithful, use Condoms, have failed partly because they have not taken into account underlying concepts of masculinity, high risk, and violent practices of sexuality. The mandate, then, was to approach the HIV/AIDS crisis with a gender analysis and to make concrete recommendations for gender-sensitive responses that might have more success. The paper reports keynote speeches, working group discussions and workshops conducted toward these ends. Four workshops were held focusing on different aspects of the gender dimension of HIV/AIDS: health, poverty and vulnerability; gender-based violence; cultural perceptions of body and sexuality; and empowerment of women living with HIV/AIDS.

The recommendations included working with small-scale initiatives at the community level. Existing methods that have had some success in behaviour change were recognized. These included peer group education, including men as well as women, body literacy projects, capacity building of local communities and empowerment of women's organizations. They called this approach ABCDE: Advocacy for (gender) equality; attention to Body and sexuality; work with the Community and in Context; Dialogue for development; and Empowerment for sharing of power. Within this context, many specific recommendations were made. One example is that "Development workers must never disregard the impact of symbols and metaphors they use in their work, because these create powerful images that can convey the wrong messages." As an illustration, one AIDS campaign poster showed a ghost in the form of a skeleton. This is the kind of imagery that portrays people as victims. They also suggested paying attention to language. For example, orphans are often strong young people who have power to effect change. But they are usually depicted just as helpless and dying creatures.

Hope, Kempe R. ed., 1999, <u>AIDS and Development in Africa: A Social Science Perspective</u>, Haworth Press, New York.

This book explores the impact of AIDS in Africa as an socio-economic epidemic. It analyzes issues such as women's health, sexual abuse, the law, orphans, the media, return to traditional culture, and the informal economy in their relationship to HIV/AIDS. It does not deal with Africa only as a homogenous whole, as is often the case. Rather, it looks at the diversity through various country case studies and the intervention strategies of the various cultural situations. This goes beyond the analysis of demographics to the human consequences on the individual, family, village, community, and governmental levels.

Mann, Jonathan M., and Daniel J.M. Tarantola, 1996, <u>AIDS in the World II: Global Dimensions</u>, Social Roots, and Responses, Oxford University Press, Oxford.

AIDS in the World, published in 1992, was the first full analysis of the global impact of HIV/AIDS. This new edition updates the previous one but, as the pandemic and responses to it are changing so rapidly, it already is somewhat out of date as well. It was written mainly for the professional community and is included in many classroom settings. Its value is in the comprehensiveness of its overview. A central theme is that "certain features of society are fundamental determinants of the epidemic's natural history," It identifies and explores these themes and includes essays on behavioural and medical research, epidemiology and data, prevention, treatment, and socio-economic impacts. There is one essay that discusses gender roles and relations. It also analysis the efforts being made by governments, intergovernmental institutions and nongovernmental organizations. The conclusion deals with vulnerability and human rights.

Smith, Raymond A. (Ed.), 2001, <u>Encyclopedia of AIDS: A Social, Political, Cultural, and Scientific Record of the HIV Epidemic</u>, Penguin Putnam Publishers.

This is a monumental work of 782 pages with entries from around 175 scholars from more than 12 countries on 6 continents. In the past two decades tens of thousands of works have covered the medical, social, economic, political, and cultural aspects of HIV and AIDS. This volume seeks to "systematically organize, synthesize and contextualize this enormous body of information for a general readership." It covers all major aspects of the global epidemic from 1981 (and before) when AIDS was first recognized to 1996 when the class of antiviral medications called protease inhibitors was discovered. This paperback edition includes, as well, a comprehensive update through 2000. The encyclopedia proceeds from the premise that AIDS has been a personal hardship for millions of people and, in addition, "has proven to be a social challenge, a cultural catharsis, a political quagmire and a scientific puzzle. Perhaps more than any other threat to the public health in modern times, the AIDS epidemic has entangled not only individuals but also families and friends, cultures and communities, cities and nations throughout the world. It has cut across race and ethnicity, class and education, age and religion, gender and sexual orientation, challenging the compassion and ingenuity of humankind at every turn."

The book is intended as a general reference work for general readers as well as for specialists wanting to look at areas outside their own field. It does not cover specific medical or legal issues. More than 300 topics are arranged alphabetically, while an Overview section allows the reader to look at particular themes to get a broad picture. Eight major topics covered by the

encyclopedia are basic science and epidemiology, transmission and prevention, pathology and treatment, impacted populations, policy and law, politics and activism, culture and society, and the global epidemic. Each area has an introduction and an essay that highlights a broad topic of importance to that particular area.

Watstein, Sarah Barbara with Karen Chandler, 1998, <u>AIDS Dictionary</u>, Facts on File, New York.

This is a basic reference book of approximately 4000 definitions that are connected with HIV/AIDS. It is written in clear, concise language without judgement. Some entries are only a few lines while others are 3 pages. The topics cover all biological and medical terms, health care, emotional and psychological effects, prevention, ethical, legal, financial, public policy and political issues. The appendix contains a list of frequently used abbreviations, a statistical table of global HIV cases and deaths, selected resources, and a bibliography.

World Bank Policy Research Report, 1997, <u>Confronting AIDS: Public Priorities in a Global Epidemic</u>, Oxford University Press, New York.

http://europa.eu.int/comm/development/aids/limelette/html/limcontents.htm

The objective of this Policy Research Report from the World Bank is to inform and motivate political leaders to confront and deal with the HIV/AIDS epidemic. It is not intended as a "how-to guide" for implementing specific programs. Rather, it gives an analytical framework for prioritizing government involvement, and suggests a broad strategy that can be adapted to the needs and resources of individual countries. The report states that "governments have a mandate to endorse and subsidize risk-reduction preventive interventions, especially among those most likely to contract and spread HIV." Governments should act to prevent new infections and to mitigate infections that do occur.

The report uses the public economic model to explain that there is a strong economic reason why governments must be actively involved in the crisis and can not leave it to the private sector. This model assesses the allocation of scarce resources based on cost effectiveness and efficiency. It recommends some policies as more effective than others. The most effective way to stop spread of the epidemic, it says, it to change risky behaviour in persons with the most partners and with the lowest levels of protective behaviour such as condom use. It also recommends improving the education and employment opportunities for women and implementing policies that "guarantee basic inheritance, property, and child custody rights; and to outlaw and severely punish slavery, rape, wife abuse, and child prostitution. Finally, policies that reduce poverty will ease the economic constraints faced by the poor in paying for essential HIV prevention services, such as STD treatment and condoms."

In looking for the most cost-effective approaches that will also benefit society in other areas, it recommends that reproductive health and HIV/AIDS education be given in schools. In terms of medicine, it states that antiretroviral therapy (ART) is too costly and too demanding of clinical services to be helpful. It suggests, instead, that "community-initiated care provided at home, while often shifting costs from the national taxpayer to the local community, also greatly reduces the cost of care and thereby offers hope of affordably improving the quality of the last

years of life of people with AIDS." It does recommend antiretroviral therapy for reducing mother-to-child transmission as more cost-effective per 'quality-adjusted life year' than is ART for adults. Governments also "should ensure that HIV-infected patients benefit from the same access to care as other patients with comparable illnesses and a similar ability to pay....they should pay the same percentage of their health care cost out of their own pockets as would patients with other diseases." Programs that should be subsidized by governments include providing HIV information about alternative treatments, treating STDs, start-up programs insuring blood safety and AIDS care, and ensuring health access for the poor.

History

Hooper, Edward, 1999, <u>The River: A Journey to the Source of HIV and AIDS</u>, Little Brown & Co.

This meticulously researched book, based on over ten years work, 600 interviews and more than 4000 written sources, looks for the origin of AIDS. The general consensus among scientists is that HIV was transferred to a human from a chimpanzee (simian immunodeficiency virus--SIV), probably in central Africa. No one knows how this happened but one theory is that the virus was occasionally transferred from chimpanzee to human from bites or scratches and turned into an epidemic when roads and urbanization changed migration and sexual patterns. Hooper, however, proposes another theory, which has become extremely controversial. He contends that oral polio vaccine (OPV) was made in the United States from contaminated chimpanzee kidneys and used in mass vaccination campaigns in central Africa in the 1950s. The first HIV was reported in blood taken from a man in central Africa in 1959 (contrary to reports of a British seaman dying from it previous to that.) The book is a detective story making a case for the OPV theory. As a general history of the early days of the AIDS epidemic, it contains a wealth of historical information.

Setel, Philip & Milton Lewis (eds.) 1999, <u>Histories of Sexually Transmitted Diseases and HIV/AIDS in Sub-Saharan Africa</u>, Greenwood Publishing Group, Inc.

Looking at the history of HIV/AIDS and sexually transmitted diseases (STD) in Africa can help understand and prevent their escalation in the future. Each chapter in this book, written from a social science perspective, deals with a particular country. Case studies include Ghana, Cote d'Ivoire, Senegal, Uganda, Tanzania, Malawi, Zambia, Zimbabwe, and South Africa. There is a long history of STD epidemics in Africa, which has parallels to the HIV/AIDS epidemic. Transmission patterns, poverty, vulnerability of women, poor access to medical services, and geographic mobility all contributed to the spread of STDs in the past. The book explores the impact of colonialism, rapid culture change, gender, stigma and the practice of biomedicine in Africa.

Africa

Barnett, Tony, Piers Blaikie, 1992, <u>AIDS in Africa: Its Present and Future Impact,</u> Guilford Press, NY.

The result of 18 months of field research in Uganda, this book provides good general information about HIV/AIDS in Africa. Although it was published in 1992, it is still considered important as one of the first books to deal with AIDS as a development and social problem. The authors note that at the time of publication "Hardly any researchers had studied the socioeconomic structures determining either 'upstream' vulnerability - the risk of being infected - or 'downstream vulnerability - the risks associated with poor or no treatment and the impact upon the household in its economically productive as well as its social aspects." Main areas examined include how households cope with AIDS and the impact on orphans and on farming systems. It also looks at relations between men and women and between rich and poor, access to food and medical care, and the ability of countries to provide necessary services. The book has been criticized by social scientists, who now insist on more stringent research methods and reporting, but it focuses attention on socioeconomic issues that are even more relevant today and it raises important questions that still are not adequately answered.

Mahlangu-Ngcobo, Mankekolo, 2001, <u>AIDS in Africa: An African and Prophetic</u> Perspective, Gateway Press.

The author, a former anti-apartheid activist who now lives in the U.S., challenges "politically correct" western attitudes towards AIDS in Africa. She states, "One can not be politically correct about a disease that is killing people." She explores issues in African society that westerners cannot begin to understand such as polygamy, traditional healers, and the situation of orphans. In order to understand AIDS in Africa one must be culturally sensitive and consider each country's context and history. She also looks at the role and function of communities, governments and NGOs to see how they can work together for the most benefit.

Marcus, Rachel, 1993, "Gender and HIV/AIDS in sub-Saharan Africa: The cases of Uganda and Malawi," Report prepared for Centre for Development Studies, University College Swansea, BRIDGE Report 13. Institute of Development Studies, UK. http://www.ids.ac.uk/bridge/Reports/re47c.pdf

This report was one of the first to look at the gender aspects of HIV/AIDS in sub-Saharan Africa with an emphasis on Uganda and Malawi. It is still completely relevant. The author asks how AIDS affects men and women differently and how gender power dynamics affect prevention strategies. She provides an overview of the social epidemiology with emphasis on major transmission routes, gender disparities and geographical variation in HIV/AIDS prevalence. She also discusses gender, poverty and vulnerability; prevention and control strategies that were being used in Uganda and Malawi; and gender issues in caring for people with AIDS including orphans. Women are more vulnerable to the disease and have more responsibility for caring for adults and children with AIDS. These facts must be taken into account in any prevention and treatment plan. Messages in prevention campaigns that focus on

fidelity, sexual abstinence, and condom use do not take women's lack of control over these issues into account.

The author concludes with recommendations on sensitizing prevention and care programs to gender considerations. Some of her recommendations include: strengthening women's nongovernmental organizations; making female-controlled condoms available and addressing masculine stereotypes, which hinder condom use; expanding gender-sensitive prevention strategies to the entire population; putting more effort into influencing male responsibility and sexual behaviour; improving efforts in rural communities; and examining gender bias in receiving and giving medical care and services.

"Report on the 13th International AIDS Conference, Durban, 9-14 July 2000, Summary report of najor issues, conclusions and recommendations." Department of Health, Government of South Africa.

http://www.polity.org.za/govdocs/reports/healthrep/2000/13conf00.htm

This is the first time the International AIDS Conference was held in Africa and the first time that it had a decidedly African (or developing world) content and a strong African contingent--4000 participants out of 12,300. It was also the first time that a "Rights, Politics, Commitment and Action" track was added to the mostly biomedical, scientific content. The other tracks were: basic science; clinical science; epidemiology, prevention and public health; and social science, which included care and disease management, psychosocial effects of living with HIV/AIDS, and the economics of AIDS. The major themes of the conference were prevention, treatment, vaccines, mother-to-child transmission, TB and HIV, pathogenesis and diagnostics, and care and support. Mainstreaming gender into HIV/AIDS programs was one of eleven major themes in the new human rights track.

Webb, Douglas, 1997, HIV and AIDS in Africa, Pluto Press, London and Chicago.

Using "structuration theory" as a method of examining the impact of HIV/AIDS, Webb points out that the disease must be understood in terms of the particular culture of those affected, the political economy of the affected country, and the individual. Thus, he combines a macro and micro approach. He also is concerned with the geographical influence of place on understanding and suggests that a generalization across space is not useful. After an introduction of basic information about HIV and the methodology used in the study, he looks at the inadequate responses of southern African governments on the macro level. He suggests that this mirrors the populations' concern with immediate issues of war, food, and money as priorities. He then considers individual behaviour rooted in a changing culture. Teenage pregnancy, which he says partially indicates lack of parental control and sex education, and the use of prostitution as a means of economic support are two examples of the changing motivations for sexual behaviour.

Using five field sites in his research, Webb examines the community responses to AIDS. He found the levels of knowledge relatively high but attitudes toward people with AIDS to be extremely negative. Either people with HIV/AIDS should be killed (since they are potential killers,) or isolated (especially prostitutes,) or cared for. The latter category was most prominent in communities with strong social connections. The suffering of an individual for the good of the greater community was seen by the community as a valid rationale for isolation.

In the final chapter, Webb examines HIV/AIDS prevention programs and suggests that, until they can be made a priority in communities, the programs won't have much effect. He says that HIV/AIDS won't become a priority until poverty and other health problems are addressed, or until the disease is rampant in the community. Some programs that have been relatively successful have characteristics in common. These programs include ones with social and environmental contexts rather than ones that just focus on behaviour. Treating STDs, providing condoms, peer education, patient-partner follow-up and targeting specific groups all have had some positive results.

PART II

Cultural contexts, Behaviours and Beliefs

Culture

BRIDGE (Briefings on development and gender), 2002, "Culture," <u>Development and gender in brief: A quarterly update from BRIDGE, Raising gender awareness among policy-makers and practitioners,</u> Issue 10, Institute of Development Studiess, UK. http://www.ids.ac.uk/bridge/dgb10.html

This brief is a series of three short articles that bring out questions dealing with racism and "colonialism" that must be addressed. The first considers the criticism that people working in Gender and Development are imposing their values on other cultures. In dealing with this judgement, it gives examples that point out ideas of what is 'normal' often are created by structures of power imbalances, whether in the family, local community or global. Once this is recognized, it is necessary to see if what we do deepens or challenges this imbalance and to take action against practices which are oppressive.

The second article looks at the criticism from some 'Third World women' who charge that 'white' women portray them as "victim without agency, oppressed by family, culture and religion," thus failing to see the diversity and contexts of these women's experiences. Critiques such as this should cause those working in gender and development to "examine the assumptions about gender, race and sexuality that they and their organizations are making, and to see whether these strengthen or weaken notions of culture and ethnic superiority."

The third article looks at the CEDAW treaty and resistances to it by the Arab World, as well as by the United States and the Vatican. It points out how arguments about defending traditional cultures can be used against gender equality.

Setel, Philip, 1999, <u>A Plague of Paradoxes: AIDS, Culture, and Demography in Northern Tanzania</u>, The University of Chicago Press, Chicago.

This book is, at once, lyrical, historical, anthropological, scholarly, and very human. It incorporates personal experiences of women and men within a time of paradoxes where cultural traditions are colliding with forces of change. The aim of the book is "to unravel the

contradictions in contemporary sexual and reproductive life in Kilimanjaro and to demonstrate how AIDS has been experienced in this context."

The author spent 1 1/2 years in the Kilimanjaro region of Tanzania doing field research and draws extensively on his observations, as well as on AIDS literature, scholarly and historical references. He argues that "AIDS has been a plague of paradoxes, of concentric catastrophes, of disordered relations of power from the interpersonal to the international, the productive to the reproductive, the societal to the sexual." The book reflects both on the enormous impact AIDS has had on Tanzania as well as on what can be done to change the situation.

Female genital mutilation

Brandy, Margaret, Dec 1999, "Female genital mutilation: Complications and risk of HIV transmission," <u>AIDS Patient Care and STDs</u>, Vol. 13:12, 709-716.

Female Genital Mutilation, in its different forms, is practiced throughout the world but mainly in Africa and parts of the Middle East. It is estimated that over 100 million girls have been mutilated in this way and another 2 million are mutilated each year. This article mentions the social and religious reasons for this such as raising the social status of the family and the ability to demand a high dowry when the girl is married. Mainly it focuses on the medical and physical implications. It discusses the different types of female genital mutilation and the common medical complications. These include life-long health problems such as hemorrhage, infection, dyspareunia, genital ulcers, and gynecological and obstetrical complications. The article discusses the role that female genital mutilation plays as a risk factor in HIV infection and transmission. Factors include the use of the same unsteralized equipment on many girls, increased need for blood transfusions due to hemorrhage, childbirth or vaginal tearing during intercourse. Contact with blood during intercourse may also be a factor. Efforts by many countries to stop the practice through legal means have failed. In the Sudan, for example, it is illegal yet over 90% of girls have been subjected to it. It calls on health-care providers to increase public awareness and work toward its eradication.

Gender Communication and Socialization

Schoofs, Mark, 1999, "AIDS. The agony of Africa. Part five: Death and the second sex," Village Voice, December 1-7, 1999, New York, www.thebody.com/schoofs/africa5.html

In this eloquent article which first appeared in <u>The Village Voice</u>, Mark Schoofs paints a graphic, distressing picture of the difficulties many women in Africa face. Using stories of actual situations, he describes how completely women are subordinate to their husbands. The fact that their experience is much more extreme than the experiences of western women has implications for HIV prevention. One can not simply import programs that have worked in other cultural contexts. Personal identity is deeply embedded in social roles and traditional sexual practices, making change very difficult. There are "loud calls to reject Western gender roles, which are said to emasculate men."

Africa has thousands of cultures but common elements run through them. In many cultures, women are "purchased" with a dowry when they marry and are considered the property

of the husband and his family. Sex is a man's right and women, if they want to escape social stigma and destitution (not to mention prostitution) must subordinate their sexual safety to men's pleasure. Condom use with one's wife is not acceptable, having multiple partners is. A study from Zimbabwe found that husbands had infected over 50% of women who had STDs. That percentage probably is much higher.

. It is not the libido itself that is the problem but the culture in which it is embedded. Economic and social forces that subordinate women nurture the spread of AIDS. In 1999, Zimbabwe's Supreme Court ruled that women have no more status or rights in the family than a "junior male." In some societies, when a woman is widowed (as many have been,) she is inherited by one of the husband's brothers or cousins. If her husband died of AIDS, she might pass this on to her "guardian." If she objects to being inherited, (perhaps, for example, if she is beaten,) she is chased away, her poverty is assured, and she brings ill fortune on the entire clan. She is not allowed to take anything with her. Women need much more than AIDS awareness to help stop the HIV spread. A common consensus among women is that they "would rather die of AIDS tomorrow than die of hunger today."

Varga, C.A., 1997, "Sexual decision-making and negotiation in the midst of AIDS: Youth in KwaZulu-Natal, South Africa," <u>Health Transition Review</u>, Vol. 7, Suppl 3, 45-67.

This paper looks at sexual behaviour, attitudes and choices of black South African youth and the extent these choices are influenced by the risk of AIDS. It is concerned not only with implementing behaviour change but also recognizes the broader gender and socio-cultural pressures that must be addressed in prevention efforts. The research reports finding from individual interviews conducted asking questions on knowledge of HIV/AIDS prevention, transmission and consequences, and whether HIV issues were discussed with their sexual partners. Communication was found to be poor, men's preferences were dominant, and AIDS was rarely taken into consideration. The paper discusses various socio-cultural attitudes and contexts that might help explain this behaviour. It also provides a good literature review and points out gaps in the research.

Male circumcision

CIRP, Circumcision Information and Resource Pages, nd, "Circumcision and HIV infection," CIRP. www.cirp.org/library/disease/HIV/

A debate has been raging for over 10 years about whether or not circumcision affects the risk of HIV infection. This article systematically looks at over 50 studies and concludes that no connection between the two has been proven. Severe flaws are pointed out in the few studies that report circumcision as a risk factor.

Roles and responsibilities

Oheneba-Sakyi, Yaw, 1999, <u>Female Autonomy</u>, <u>Family Decision Making</u>, <u>and Demographic Behavior in Africa</u>, Edwin Mellen Press, Lewiston, New York.

This book is an in-depth study of women's reproductive behaviour, status, and the family in Ghana. The research was conducted as the Ghana Female Autonomy Micro Study, which was commissioned to gather information about spousal relations and the extent to which changes in the position of women affect demographic change in Ghana. It looks at women's roles within the family as well as their roles in political, economic, and legal areas. It also brings in men and looks at their attitudes and behaviours in reproductive decision making. The author of the preface to the book, Dr. Ann E. Biddlecom, suggests that, "The concepts, methodology, and main findings constitute useful tools for teachers and researchers in the social sciences. Likewise, organizations involved with practical implications of population research will find discussions in this volume of relevance and interest."

Sexual stereotypes

Henry, Kathleen, May 1996, "Straight talk for youth: Ugandan girls and boys learning to escape gender stereotypes," <u>AIDScaptions</u>, Vol. II: 3. ftp://lists.inet.co.th/pub/sea-aids/gend/gend8.txt

This very brief article reports on the efforts of a Ugandan newspaper to address sexual stereotypes. A monthly tabloid called "Straight Talk" is inserted into 40,000 newspapers and 30,000 copies are sent to NGOs and secondary schools. The tabloid provides information about sex, relationships, HIV/AIDS, and other sexually transmitted diseases. The purpose is to encourage dialogue between boys and girls and parents and children about these topics. Much of the content comes in the form of letters, articles, and interviews with readers. Teenagers have been outspoken about their attitudes and behaviours in the tabloid. Difficult issues are addressed such as condom use, sexual activity and abuse. "Straight Talk" avoids preaching. It offers tips on sexual negotiation with a light touch and encourages both boys and girls not to give in to peer pressure. Comics, contests, surveys and quizzes encourage participation. The newspaper has been extremely well received and seems to be having a positive affect on youth behaviour. Clubs have formed in schools to discuss the issues and NGOs working with youth use it in their AIDS prevention activities.

Social/Psychological aspects

Kabane-Langford, Ntsiki and David Scondras, June 2001, "HIV/AIDS in Africa: A social time bomb," Peacework, http://www.afsc.org/pwork/0106/010606.htm

This brief article describes, from the authors' personal observations in Malawi, the intense suffering that African society is enduring with very little help in the way of doctors, medicine, food, or even care. Young, healthy, productive people in the society are stricken; the number of orphans is increasing creating a segment of society growing up without social supports; and professionals, including teachers, are dying. It points out that the stigma of AIDS is

so strong that people do not speak of it. Often the cause of death is said to be "pneumonia." Although African countries are trying to work with the problems of AIDS, they have so many other problems including war, famine, debt, poverty, and governmental restructuring that AIDS often is not a high priority. The reaction from the wealthier countries has been, for the most part, one of indifference. The authors quote a <u>Washington Post</u> editorial, "It is this indifference, echoed to varying degrees in capitals throughout the world, that is the real scandal of the international system." They suggest that one percent of the U.S. tax rebates would be enough to help stop the epidemic.

Stigma

Brown, Lisanne, Lea Trujillo and Kate Macintyre, 2001, "Interventions to reduce HIV/AIDS stigma: What have we learned?" Horizons Program, Tulane University and The Population Council, Inc. http://www.popcouncil.org/pdfs/horizons/litrywstigdisc.pdf

This paper describes the concept and impact of stigma on HIV/AIDS care and prevention. Through a literature review, it assesses programs in the developed and developing countries that have tried to decrease the stigma of HIV/AIDS and other diseases. Information-based programs, contact with affected groups, acquisition of coping skills, and counseling were the main types of programs reported. Many of the interventions used in developing countries were community, rather than individual, based. The results of some studies showed that stigma can be reduced, however, few of the studies reviewed measured changes in attitudes and behaviours over time.

Traditional beliefs

UNAIDS, 2000, "Collaboration with traditional healers in HIV/AIDS prevention and care in sub-Saharan Africa. A literature review," Best Practice Collection, UNAIDS, Geneva. http://www.unaids.org/publications/documents/care/general/JC299-TradHeal-E.pdf

Traditional healers are well known in the communities where they work and approximately 80% of the African population rely on them for their health care needs. The healers come from many different cultures and belief systems but most use a combination of herbalism and spiritualism. Traditional healers have been treating STDs for generations and "often ascribe these to transgressions of taboos related to birth, pregnancy, marriage and death...Traditional beliefs about the prevention of STDs or HIV/AIDS follow the logic of transmission and causation, and include limiting the number of sexual partners, wearing protective charms or tattoos, having 'strong blood', using condoms to reduce the risk of 'pollution', or undergoing a 'traditional vaccination' consisting of introducing herbs in skin incisions."

This report reviews initiatives that used collaborations between traditional healers and biomedical practitioners. The report is divided into four sections. The first gives a brief update on AIDS in Africa and gives background information on traditional healing including its strengths and weaknesses in connection with biomedicine. The second uses examples from 9 African countries of collaboration in HIV/AIDS prevention and care. The third section uses criteria from UNAIDS Best Practices to evaluate the collaborative projects. This criterion

includes "effective and ethical interventions that are efficient, sustainable, and relevant to HIV prevention in the resource-constrained settings of sub-Saharan Africa." The final section offers suggestions for further research on collaboration between health sectors.

Violence against women

Gordon, P and K. Crehan, 1998, "Dying of sadness: Gender, sexual violence and the HIV epidemic," United Nations Development Program, (UNDP), New York. http://www.undp.org/seped/publications/dyingofsadness.pdf.

This paper presents a broad overview of the definitions and scale of sexual violence as it relates to the HIV epidemic. Basically sexual violence "describes the deliberate use of sex as a weapon to demonstrate power over, and to inflict pain and humiliation upon, another human being." Threats and humiliation as well as physical violence are included in this definition. The scale of sexual violence against women is vast. Global evidence suggests that one in five women have been physically or sexually abused at some point in their lives. The paper states that "sexual violence is a gendered phenomenon: its nature and extent reflect pre-existing social, cultural and economic disparities between men and women." It's causes, manifestations and consequences are complex and multifaceted.

Sexual violence is often predictable and preventive measures can be undertaken. These need to be local, as well as national and international. The paper reviews prevention efforts on all of these levels including areas such as law enforcement, conflict situations, work with NGOs, and human rights. In the short term, there is need for support services for victims and punishment for perpetrators. In the long term, the gendered and sexual natures of the violence must be addressed in their social contexts. The violence must be addressed at the level of culture and community rather than as an individual problem.

Differential Impacts on Individuals

Adolescents

Nduati, Ruth and Wambui Kiai, 2000, "Communicating with adolescents about AIDS. Experience from eastern and southern Africa," International Development Research Centre (IDRC), Ottawa.

http://www.idrc.ca/acb/showdetl.cfm?&DID=6&Product ID=496&CATID=15

This paper reviews some of the HIV/AIDS prevention programs aimed toward youth in Malawi, Zambia, Uganda and Kenya. It begins by looking at the current state of the HIV/AIDS epidemic in the region and how youth especially are being affected. It examines the social context of adolescent's lives, family structure, status of adolescent sexuality, knowledge and misconceptions about HIV/AIDS and perception of personal risk.

The report then describes specific programs that have been tried and discusses their difficulties and successes. The activities are in three broad categories: mass media initiatives; behavioural modifications; and an integration of the two. It recommends that youth need both

information and skills such as "assertiveness, communication with peers, parents and other adults, rational decision making and a coping mechanism in the face of HIV/AIDS." It also includes a guide to be used in evaluating HIV/AIDS prevention programs. The authors report that this "is a story of innovation, creativity, determination and partnership between adults and youth, communities and governments, countries, aid agencies and NGOs." They continue, "We hope to convey the excitement we experienced and the tremendous hope that exists for the future of youth in the continent. It is our hope that readers will be motivated and recognize that there is a lot that can be achieved even with minimal resources."

Children and Orphans

Guest, Emma, 2001, <u>Children of AIDS. Africa's Orphan Crisis</u>, The University of Natal Press, South Africa.

Ninety-five percent of the world's 13 million children whose parents have died of HIV/AIDS live in Africa. Some of these children have HIV/AIDS themselves. Many of them live on the streets or are being raised by a slightly older sibling or an elderly, impoverished grandparent. The social consequences of millions of children growing up with stigma, poverty, psychological trauma, malnutrition, lack of parental love, and exclusion from schools is enormous. Emma Guest writes in a heart-wrenching, journalistic style to express the personal stories of these orphans. She uses first-hand accounts to show what life is like for the children as well as the caretakers and others facing this disease in the midst of utter poverty and sorrow. Guest explores the socio-economic context of the crisis and shows how governments, NGOs and extended families are responding and what others can do to help.

Men

UNAIDS, 2000, "Men and AIDS--a gendered approach. AIDS: Men make a difference. 2000 World AIDS Campaign," Joint United Nations Programme on HIV/AIDS (UNAIDS), Geneva. http://gbgmumc.org/programs/wad00/wacmene.stm

In 1999, the 21st Special Session of the UN General Assembly focused on the role of gender equality and equity in efforts to prevent HIV/AIDS. It recognized that men must be seen as part of the solution. This article offers a broad look at the context of men and AIDS. It acknowledges the diversity of men and the caution necessary in making generalizations; however, studies have shown that some generalizations are useful. The article covers a wide range of topics including: men's vulnerability to HIV/AIDS and their role in its transmission; the importance of focusing on men and the impact on women; the roots of masculinity and necessity of reaching adolescent boys; violence; and men's health needs. It suggests stronger support to men in preventing HIV spread and encouragement to men to care for orphans and sick family members. It also suggests that harmful concepts of masculinity, risk, and sexuality be challenged.

Just trying to change behaviours in not enough. Cultural beliefs and social norms influence actions of both men and women. The article states that "it is necessary to recognize the

power of existing gender relations, which affect both women and men, and the fact that collective as well as individual effort is needed to achieve greater equity and a proper balance of responsibility for AIDS prevention and care." It concludes with 9 points for action under the headings of gender awareness, sexual communication and negotiation, violence and sexual violence, and support and care.

Prostitution

Renaud, Michelle L., 1997, <u>Women at the Crossroads: A Prostitute Community's Response to AIDS in Urban Senegal</u>, Routledge, New York.

This book is both a personal narrative of the authors' life as a white American woman living in Senegal and a report of her research with a community of prostitutes in Kaolack, a city with the country's highest rate of infection. The prostitutes are shown as wanting to protect their children and themselves from abject poverty and have no other viable skills to support themselves. They have little to no formal education and are often divorced or widowed. They have other roles as wives, mothers, daughters and Muslims and most hide their work to avoid being shunned by their families. The author looks at their lives in the context of their religion. Senegal is 90% Muslim. Some of the prostitutes thought that it was God's will if people got AIDS, and prayed daily to be spared. They believed that if their religion was strong enough they would not be infected.

Prostitution is legal in Senegal if the women register with the police and have bimonthly screening examinations. If they are found to have a STD, they are not allowed to work until they get a negative test. If they continue to do so, they can be arrested. Even with the threat of losing income and with the knowledge of how to protect themselves, many women still do not insist on condom use with their boyfriends or husbands because it would created distrust in the relationship.

The author admits her bias when assessing the AIDS clinic. The prostitutes felt powerless and mentally and physically controlled by the staff. Instead of just criticizing the clinic, however, she tried to make recommendations that would help it meet the local needs. She discusses the ethical considerations of being a researcher in that situation and the reciprocity between her and the women.

Trafficking

Global Alliance Against Traffic in Women (GAATW), 2001, <u>Human Rights and Trafficking in Persons: A Handbook</u>, GAATW. http://www.inet.co.th/org/gaatw/

This handbook approaches the problem of trafficking in women from the human rights perspective and offers strategies, useful on local, regional, and international levels, to deal with the problem. Deception and coercion define trafficking. Women (and some men) are deceived into going to an unfamiliar community, often overseas, for employment and a more comfortable life. They are then held against their will, forced to work in prostitution, and often raped and tortured. A number of case studies are used as illustrations.

The handbook examines the causes and consequences of trafficking, looks at the ways governmental policy often exacerbates the situation, and recommends policy changes. Various approaches to the situation include a moralistic approach, crime control approach, migration and immigration approach, and the labour approach. For example, the moralistic approach usually involves prostitution. Rather than imprisoning trafficked people and enacting more anti-prostitution laws, focus could be on empowering these women by increasing education and employment skills.

Finally, the handbook looks at strategies NGOs could take. These include services for victims, information and education campaigns, heightened research and documentation, and advocacy.

Widows

Owen, Margaret, 1996, A World of Widows, Zed Books.

Widows in the developing countries are seriously discriminated against. Margaret Owen, who is a lawyer concerned with human rights and a widow herself, explores the legal, social, economic, and cultural status of these women. The results of war, AIDS, polygamy, and child-marriage has increased the numbers of widows, especially young widows, in almost all-developing countries. In one African country it is estimated that 67 per cent of all adult women are widows. Laws and customs that relate to widows take different forms in their respective cultures. Many customs and laws offer no protection to widows in terms of inheritance rights, land ownership, custody of children, or security. In many parts of the world, a man's relatives take all of his possessions after he dies and "chase the wife away." Sometimes they blame her for her husband's death. She must fend for herself in a condition of bleak poverty and often finds prostitution the only viable alternative. In other cases, she may be forced to marry a relative and basically serve as a slave.

Some countries do have protection laws, but women are either unaware of them or have no power to enforce them. Owen points out that the status of widows must be seen in the context of patriarchal customs and institutions. Law reform, social support, and the empowerment of widows are all crucial means of change. Widows have begun to organize into groups in many countries to empower themselves. National widows' associations are beginning to establish branches in villages and city slums to work with governments and communities to bring about better lives for these women and their children.

Women

Long, Lynellyn D. and E. Maxine Ankrah (eds.), 1997, <u>Women's Experiences with HIV/AIDS:</u> An International Perspective, Columbia University Press, New York.

The tie that links contributions from 34 prominent researchers in this book is gender inequities in the prevention and treatment of HIV/AIDS. It states," Prevention and Treatment programs designed to curb the spread of sexually transmitted diseases, including HIV (human immunodeficiency virus), among women have not sufficiently addressed the complex web of

cultural, economic, and structural constraints that hinder the ability of women, worldwide, to protect themselves from HIV/AIDS." The book presents information about these constraints that should be interesting for the lay reader as well as the professional. Perspectives of the personal lived-experiences of women from many countries are represented. Essays point out how prevention of, or vulnerability to, HIV/AIDS can be affected by social traditions and beliefs. As well, there are essays written from the perspective of health care professionals.

The book is divided into four parts. The first describes personal experiences of living with HIV/AIDS. The second examines the socio-economic impact, and the third looks at issues and concerns such as STDs as catalysts of HIV/AIDS, breast-feeding, children, and support systems. The fourth part discusses ethics, prevention including microbicides, and other dilemmas. An epilogue looks at future policy needs.

Wallman, Sandra, (ed.), 1996, <u>Kampala Women Getting By: Wellbeing in the Time of AIDS</u>, Ohio University Press, Athens, OH.

This book is a series of essays that resulted from a two-year multidisciplinary study of urban Kampala, Uganda. The area is densely populated, without municipal benefits. Its people get by relying on their ingenuity and the informal economy. The stated objective of the study was "to freeze-frame a still changing community to see how it deals with epidemic and other crises now, so that well-intentioned intervention may be designed to enhance local capacity rather than ignoring or surpressing it." Specifically, it discusses the way ordinary women deal with seeking treatment for acutely ill children and for themselves, especially in relation to STD and AIDS.

The book looks at four main problem areas: the lack of economic and jural authority of women at the community and household levels and their responsibility for the management of illness within their household; the vulnerability of children under 5 to illness; endemic STD as the "cause of chronic morbidity, reproductive incapacity and social stress;" and scarcity of formal health resources. Essays cover household well being including the conditions of housing, hygiene, and sanitation, community life, treatment options, home treatment, children's illnesses, and the "private disease." There are interviews with traditional healers as well as with ordinary women who have to decide whether an illness is "serious enough" to seek treatment.

Economic Issues

Globalization and Trade

Altman, Dennis, 2001, Global Sex, University of Chicago Press, Chicago, Ill.

Using a multi-disciplinary approach with material from psychology, sociology, economics, anthropology, and political theory, Altman explores almost every area imaginable concerning human sexuality. AIDS, women's rights, prostitution, abortion, pornography, and sexual behaviours are only a few of the topics he considers. Generally, this is an examination of how the globalization (or homogenization) of culture is changing sexual behaviour worldwide.

He shows how sex and sexuality have moved from the private and personal into the realms of global politics and economics. He asks, "What are the connections between international debt, foreign investment, and capitalism on the one hand, and the alarming rise of prostitution, pornography, and AIDS on the other?" and "Why are sexuality and public health so often discussed in terms of morality, but rarely in terms of political economy?" He argues that values change after contact with outside influences and technologies, especially those imported via media and the Internet from the West, and that economic and cultural forces can influence behaviour and emotions.

Altman sees the HIV/AIDS epidemic as both a product and cause of globalization. He says, "AIDS fits the common understanding of 'globalization' in a number of ways, including its epidemiology, the mobilization against its spread, and the dominance of certain discourses in the understandings of the epidemic." National borders mean nothing to this epidemic. There is no national security measure that has managed to stop the flow. Worldwide, the epidemic has changed the way people relate to sex including bringing it out in the open where, maybe for the first time, people are forced to talk about it. On the negative side, fear of AIDS has increased the demand for younger, presumable uninfected, prostitutes. It has an impact on every country and calls on the global community to find solutions.

To illustrate that globalization itself has helped to create the epidemic, Altman uses the example of the World Bank's efforts in Brazil and India where structural adjustment programs weakened national health infrastructures that might have helped prevent the spread of HIV. Increased national debt, which decreases money available for infrastructure, privatization and user fees for health care, inequitable access to health services, rapid urbanization, and environmental degradation all contribute to the epidemic. The book is dense, complex and insightful. It offers a lot of information and a lot to think about.

Health Care

Castro-Leal, F. J. Dayton, L. Demery and K. Mehra, 2000, "Public spending on health care in Africa: Do the poor benefit?" <u>Bulletin of the World Health Organization</u>, Vol. 78:1, 66-74. http://www.who.int/bulletin/pdf/2000/issue1/bu0201.pdf

Coming from the economic point of view that public subsidy should create "human capital development" and thus must benefit the poor, this bulletin from the World Health Organization reviews the 'benefit incidence' of government spending. This approach examines how the benefits of public money are distributed across populations by combining the costs of public services with incidence of their use. Seven African countries are studied in this report to determine the benefit incidence of health services. Inequality was greater in some countries than in others but, generally, health spending was not well targeted to the poor. The richest 20% of the population received an amount far in excess than the poorest 20%. The governments allocated over half of their health budget to hospitals (in South Africa, it was 89%,) which the poor generally do not use. The poor rarely use primary care facilities either for a number of reasons. The facilities are often located far from their homes, as much as two hours or more. They cannot afford to lose pay by taking the time for medical care, and they can not afford the fees involved in cost recovery schemes. Women, especially, in the poorest sectors rarely use health facilities.

Reallocation of funds so that the poor could benefit must include addressing the reasons that prevent the poor from using the services.

Poverty

Farmer, Paul, Margaret Connors and Janie Simmons (eds), 1997, <u>Women, Poverty, and AIDS</u>: Sex, Drugs, and Structural Violence, Common Courage Press.

Poverty, which is pervasive and increasing throughout the world, is seen as a major factor in the spread of HIV/AIDS. It is linked to gender and especially to the plight of women who have no resources to help in the way of medicine, health care, child care, economic subsidies, or even human rights. Women and girls are forced, or driven, into a brutal, violent, and often lethal, life of prostitution as the only economic support available to them. The voices of the women portrayed are powerful and real and need to be heard by the international community. The book is divided into three sections. The first, "Rethinking AIDS" looks at sex, drugs, violence, poverty and AIDS in a global context. The second, "Rereading AIDS: Examining claims of causality," examines problems in social science, public health, and clinical medicine as they relate to women, poverty, and AIDS. And the third, "Reconceptualizing care: Pragmatic solidarity," looks at obstacles to care and services which do have a sensitivity towards poverty and the women who are caught in it.

Socio-economic impact

UNAIDS, 2000, "The economic impact of AIDS in Africa. A review of the literature," UNAIDS Background Paper for ADF 2000, http://www.unaids.org/whatsnew/adf/files/eco_impact.pdf

This paper reports key findings from a literature review of the socioeconomic impact of AIDS in Africa. The first step in this process was defining specific indicators of economic impact within six broad areas: the macroeconomic level, the household level, education, health, agriculture and business. The macroeconomic impact looks at the effect of HIV/AIDS on the society's total income (GDP). The household impact shows effects on the smallest economic unit and the ways AIDS changes distribution of wealth. The indicators used in the education area include absenteeism, death of teachers, and children taken out of school. The health indicators cover supply (absenteeism and death of health professionals), demand (the proportion of HIV/AIDS patients and bed occupancy rates), and process (quality of services). It also looks at the proportion of the health budget used for HIV/AIDS treatment. In agriculture the indicators used measure changes in production and labour supply as a result of HIV/AIDS. Business indicators include the increased cost of production relative to profit as well as absenteeism due to death, medical and funeral expenses, pensions, and training and replacement of workers.

Countries were grouped according to adult HIV prevalence rates. When the prevalence is small, the most impact is felt at the household and health sector levels. When prevalence is higher than 5%, effects are felt throughout the economy and have a serious impact on economic growth. The review points out that data has not been systematically collected but, as research

grows, data is starting to become more standardized. As of 2000, there were no studies found on the economic impact at the community level. There were enormous gaps in the literature in all areas, especially health and education. This makes planning responses more difficult. The report recommends refining and standardizing indicators and identifying the major factors that influence the epidemic impact.

Education

AIDS Education

Hyde, K.A.L., 1999, "HIV/AIDS and FAWE: Challenges and opportunities," Forum for African Women Educationalists (FAWE), Nairobi.

This paper highlights the need for those working in the field of education in Africa to recognize the impact that HIV/AIDS is having on girls and how that undermines advances in educational equality. As of 1999, 50% of people infected in sub-Saharan Africa were under the age of 25 and of those, more than half were girls. The paper elaborates women's vulnerability to HIV/AIDS, biologically, socially, and economically. It gives important reasons for sex education in the schools including HIV prevention and the lack of basic biological reproductive knowledge among adolescents. It also offers strategies to NGOs working in gender and education. Among them are encouraging research and data collection, developing and disseminating model curriculum of sex and HIV/AIDS education, and mobilizing governments and other stakeholders toward policy change. The appendix includes key facts about HIV/AIDS, answers to commonly asked questions, and information about projects, services, activities and resources by and for women in Africa.

Children and Adolescents

Bendera, S., 1999, "Promoting education for girls in Tanzania," In: C. Heward and S. Bunwaree (eds.), <u>Gender, Education and Development: Beyond Access to Empowerment,</u> Zed Books, London.

This essay looks at the social and economic factors in the education of girls in Tanzania and at government and NGO interventions. It suggests that structural adjustment programs and the economic crisis in general are having a negative effect on gender equality in primary education. Specifically, many parents are not able to afford the school fees and those that are choose to send male children. A number of Tanzanian institutions are trying to work with these problems. The Ministry of Education and Culture has initiated a gender unit to coordinate and monitor gender issues in school attendance. Female academics at the University of Dar es Salaam have spoken out about the issue and have supported participation of girls in science and mathematics. The necessity to educate girls is presented as good for the economy since educated girls are more likely to enter the labour force.

Gender and Development

Swainson, Nicola, 2000, "Knowledge and power: The design and implementation of gender policies in education in Malawi, Tanzania and Zimbabwe," <u>International Journal of Educational Development</u>, Vol. 20, 49-64.

Attempts have been made since the early 1990s to address gender issues in education and progress has been made but it has been slow and filled with obstacles. Cutting social sector budgets lowers the priority of gender issues, which are often not well understood by mostly male policy-makers. The paper recognizes the assistance of international donor agencies but has a number of criticisms of these efforts as well as those of the government. These include unnecessary bureaucratic delay, lack of communication between donors and government, lack of coordination, and lack of focus on higher level education where gender equality is most pronounced. Swainson also criticizes donor agencies for paying more attention to their own agendas rather than focusing on community needs and for having a fragmented approach. She recommendations a number of interventions including that ministries and NGOs should collaborate and introduce gender-sensitive indicators linked to clear objectives and that they should improve evaluation and reduce duplication of efforts.

Health

Access to care, home care

BRIDGE (Briefings on development and gender), 1998, "Health and well-being," Development and gender in brief: A quarterly update from BRIDGE, Raising gender awareness among policy-makers and practitioners, Issue 7, Institute of Development Studies, UK. http://www.ids.ac.uk/bridge/dgb7.html

The international women's health movement has helped shift an emphasis in sexual and reproductive health from population control to a gender-aware and rights-based approach. Gender issues affect every area of health care from stigma and bias, to access to care and service availability. They are directly related to the consequences of gender inequality and power relations. There are many blind spots. Encouraging condom use by itself does not relate to the underlying structure of gender relations and may cause more problems for women. Approaches that address male identity and encourage male responsibility have gone further to tackle the deeper issues. The article mentions a few small- scale initiatives that could be "scaled up." The Women's Health Project in South Africa seeks to raise gender awareness within the health care sector by using in-service gender training. ActionHealth in Nigeria explores the sexual health needs of adolescents using comic strips and role-play. The successful Stepping Stones training program, started in 1995, has been distributed to over 1000 organizations in more than 90 countries. A peer group program designed to take place over 3 months, it addresses "the psychological well-being of men and women in relationship to each other, rather than just their physical and material needs." It incorporates discussion on gender roles, HIV/AIDS, sexuality, and social and psychological needs as well as participatory learning using video, role-plays, and drawing exercises. It also supports trainers and helps them adapt the program to their local needs.

Breastfeeding

White, Edith, 1999, <u>Breastfeeding and HIV/AIDS: The Research, the Politics, the Women's Responses</u>, McFarland & Co.

When HIV-infected mothers breastfeed their children, the risk of transmitting the virus is very high. This is tragic in countries where lack of access to formulas and uncontaminated water increase the need of infants to receive the nourishment of mothers' milk. Other complications are the fact that often mothers do not know they have the virus and are stigmatized if they get a test, of one is even available. This book focuses on the consequences of breastfeeding on women and children in developing countries. It looks at fourteen years of research, the medical and political questions involved, decisions mothers must make about breastfeeding and the alternatives available. It concludes with issues and recommendations for policy makers.

Drugs

CCISD, 2001, "The opportunities and challenges of introducing anti-retroviral therapy (ART) in resource-poor settings." A consensus statement by organizations delivering AIDS projects for the Canadian International Development Agency (CIDA,) Centre for International Cooperation in Health and Development (CCISD). http://www.cpha.ca/english/intprog/ART/ART Consensus.pdf

This is a report of a meeting held in September 2001 "to elaborate a technical consensus on major issues related to the introduction of anti-retroviral drugs (ART) in resource-poor settings." The report begins by assessing the situation. It describes anti-retroviral therapy, the current status of access to the drugs, and the current political environment. A discussion of drugs to prevent mother-to-child transmission of HIV is included. It then considers the major issues: HIV prevention, social equity, ART delivery, safety issues regarding viral resistance, opportunity costs, and action.

The presentations reveal that the question has changed from "if" ART should be introduced into resource-poor countries to "how". The challenges are great. Apparently, the drugs are readily available in Africa through private and underground sources. However, efforts to reduce their cost have benefited only a few. The drugs must be taken in combinations and in very particular ways and clinics are not equipped to administer them. If the drugs are taken irregularly or for a short period of time, resistance to them develops. The report recommends "the emphasis should be on strengthening the systems that are necessary to regulate and control a potentially harmful technology, rather than on weakening these systems further by dumping drugs into poorly organized public pharmacies and delivery systems."

Female control

Lerner, Sharon, 2001, "Product to protect women from HIV is elusive," in <u>The New York Times</u>, 3 July 2001.

Presently there is no product that a woman can use to protect herself against HIV/AIDS. The female condom has not been popular since it cannot be used without the partner's knowledge, and it is considered awkward and noisy. Hopes for the most promising product dissolved last year when a spermicide, Nonoxynol-p, was found to increase HIV transmission rather than reduce it.

Sixty microbicides for women's use are in development and four of these will be in the last phase of human trials in the next two years. One, Pro-2000, binds with the virus and disrupts it but this product might also be a contraceptive. Another changes the acidity in the vagina, and the third blocks entry of HIV and bacteria into cells. The fourth, Carraguard, uses the same seaweed that is used to thicken ice cream, to coat the vaginal walls. This one is expected to allow conception.

One of the difficulties in developing microbicides is the lack of interest by pharmaceutical companies because inexpensive microbicides are not lucrative. NGOs are looking for donors and have found some funding from The Rockefeller foundation and the Gates Foundation, which has pledged \$25 million.

Health care systems

Turshen, Meredith, 1999, <u>Privatizing Health Services in Africa</u>, Rutgers University Press, New Brunswick, NJ.

As conditions of loans, the International Monetary Fund and the World Bank have forced African countries to dismantle their public health services. Instead, private markets in heath care are encouraged. These will not reach the millions of poor and rural Africans who are suffering from diseases that can be prevented such as TB and malaria as well as HIV/AIDS. Turshen states that the World Bank, as the largest donor agency in the world, has superseded the United Nations' World Health Organization "as the leading international formulator of health-care policy." She feels that the qualities of compassion and humanity have been replaced by demand for economic efficiency. "For all their rhetoric, the international financial institutions have shown that their overriding interests are monetary and that their objective is the growth of capitalism worldwide. They seek to extend the power of money by introducing financial criteria into the operation of all public services and by deregulating labour markets...In their view, social security regulations do not raise well-being and reduce exploitation but rather raise the cost of labor and reduce labor demand."

Turshen notes that the World Health Organization has emphasized the importance of the role of the state and the Third World has decades of successful health care experience. "Behind the World Bank's untested model stands only the belief that the private sector is innately efficient. The bank doesn't tailor policies for individual countries with different levels of development. Given the frightfully high rates of mortality and morbidity in Africa and the past record of World Bank policy failures, the large-scale experiments in privatization now being undertaken cannot be justified. Too many lives are at stake." Turshen also examines the implications of privatization for gender equality throughout the book. She provides a case study of Zimbabwe with additional references to Malawi, Mozambique and Zambia.

Male contraceptive use

MacPhail, C. and C. Campbenn, June 2001, "I think condoms are good but, aai, I hate those things': Condom use among adolescents and young people in a southern African township," <u>Social Science and Medicine</u>, Vol. 52:11, 1613-1627.

This research uses qualitative analyses to explore the social factors that hinder condom use among young people. 44 young women and men, ages 13-25, took part in the focus group. There were six main reasons for not using condoms: lack of perceived risk; peer norms; condom availability; adult attitudes to condoms and sex; gendered power relations; and the economic context of adolescent sexuality. Most of the young people realized that they were going along with norms that placed their lives at risk; and they criticized these norms. However, few of them were willing to change their behaviour. The report concludes that the fact that sexual norms are criticized can provide a starting point for peer education programs.

Parent-to-child transmission

Preble, Elizabeth A. and Ellen G. Piwoz, 2001, "Prevention of mother-to-child transmission of HIV in Africa. Practical guidance for programs," Support for Analysis and Research in Africa (SARA) Project, Academy for Educational Development, Washington, D.C. www.aed.org/publications/healthpublications/mtctjuly17.pdf

Mother-to-child transmission (MTCT) of HIV, also known as parent-to-child transmission (which removes the blame from the mother,) vertical, or perinatal transmission, is escalating in Africa. Its prevention is crucial to the health and survival of children. This paper summarizes what is known about MTCT and offers practical guidance to programs that are "safe, affordable, feasible, culturally acceptable, sustainable, and effective in a variety of African settings." All of these prevention programs rely on strengthening the health services that are available to implement them.

The main interventions described in this paper include: Comprehensive mother and child health (MCH)(antenatal, postnatal, and child health) services; voluntary, confidential counseling and testing (VCT) services; counseling and support about safe infant feeding practices; optimal obstetrical practices; short-course antiretroviral (ARV) therapy for HIV-infected pregnant women; and family planning counseling and services that are linked to VCT services. These interventions are most effective when used in combination and they vary in terms of cost and ease of delivery. The involvement of men in the support of women is also important.

The paper also includes operational issues with recommendations to government, nongovernmental and international organizations for policy, planning, and implementation. These include developing strategies, strengthening health care systems, preparing communities for these programs, and supporting operational research.

Prevention and Control

Gupta, Geeta Rao, May, 996, "Opinion: Gender and HIV/AIDS: Transforming prevention programs, <u>AIDScaptions</u>, Vol. II: No. 3.

www.fhi.org/en/aids/aidscap/aidspub/serial/captions/v2-3/cp232.html

In a brief opinion paper, Dr. Gupta highlights the necessity of including gender issues in HIV/AIDS prevention programs and offers a few ways this can be implemented. Gender relations is seen as the root of all vulnerability, but prevention programs have failed to challenge the deep-rooted contexts of behaviour. She says that this is partly because of assumptions that social roles do not change. She challenges this and other assumptions with examples and says that "Bringing about such change requires multiple, mutually reinforcing interventions and a focus that goes beyond one behavioral act. But we have to believe it can be done. We can push the envelope on social norms that discriminate and compromise the rights of individuals. Together, we can begin to question the definitions of masculinity and femininity--definitions that now threaten the well-being of communities."

Dr. Gupta then asks, "What can AIDS programs do to tackle the gender issues that stand in the way of effective prevention?" She suggests that first we must modify existing programs to make sure that they are gender sensitive, which requires that we know what women need and that programs reflect that need. Basic information, accessibility to health care that is convenient to women and female controlled prevention methods are important. We also should make sure that gender stereotypes are not reinforced. She suggests, however, that economic resources and social supports are larger contextual issues that get closer to the root of women's vulnerability to AIDS.

It is necessary for HIV/AIDS programs to expand from their narrow focus to deal with these issues. This requires "a strong conviction that economic empowerment is essential for sustained, effective prevention." Programs that have done this successfully have linked with other interventions already in place such as "credit programs, agricultural extension services for women farmers, women's cooperatives or savings schemes. Linking up means providing AIDS information and services through those channels rather than setting up parallel, vertical programs just for HIV/AIDS." An example is the Zambian National AIDS Program that is working with women's groups to help women fish traders form a cooperative and get interest free loans. AIDS service organizations and program experts also should work toward improving women's access to education and productive resources.